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Introduction
Arabian Centres’ long track record of providing 
world-class organized retail space combined 
with its extensive geographic reach and 
distinctive leisure and entertainment offerings 
to provide unmatched exposure to Saudi 
Arabia’s dynamic retail and commercial real 
estate sectors. 



Mission Vision

Remain the leading owner, developer and 
operator of shopping centres through Saudi 
Arabia while generating sustainable value 

for shareholders and providing service 
excellence to both tenants and visitors.

Create lifestyle destinations that 
enhance the quality of life of citizens 

and become the strategic partner 
of tenants looking to expand their 

footprint across the Kingdom.

Introduction  //  At a Glance

At a Glance
Arabian Centres Company is a leading developer of lifestyle 
destinations in Saudi Arabia, holding a portfolio of 21 shopping 
centres built and operated according to international standards and 
with a footprint covering 60% of the Kingdom’s population. 

Arabian Centres Company (ACC) is Saudi Arabia’s 
leading owner and operator of shopping centres. 
ACC owns, operates and manages a portfolio 
of 21 shopping centres and complexes located 
strategically throughout 11 of the largest cities 
in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. With a total 
GLA of nearly 1.2 million sqm, the Company’s 
shopping centres provide Saudi shoppers with 
their preferred point of access to the full range 
of international, regional and local retail brands. 
ACC’s premium tenant mix allows it to offer a 
shopping experience of the highest quality, with 
brands such as Zara, Debenhams, H&M, Virgin 
Megastores, Panda and IKEA all making their 
homes at ACC destinations.

Since its establishment in 2005, ACC has effec-
tively leveraged the shopping centres’ growing 
popularity as integrated leisure destinations. The 
Company’s shopping centres offer a wide array 
of entertainment concepts, as well as calibrated 
selections of mid- and high-end dining and bev-
erage options. Along with a retail offering that 
blends comprehensiveness and exclusivity, the 
large-scale provision of such ‘lifestyle’ options 
affords ACC exposure to a wide cross-section 
of Saudi Arabia’s young and growing consumer 
base. More than 110 million visits were made to 
the Company’s shopping centres in FY2020, a tes-
tament to its successful adoption of the ‘lifestyle 
destination’ paradigm. +1,100

Brands

SQM1.2MN

GLA in FY2020

+4,100
Leased Units

21
World-Class Lifestyle Destinations

110.7MN

Visitors in FY2020

At year-end FY2020, ACC enjoyed a market share of 16%, more 
than double the share of its nearest competitor. In the Riyadh 
and Jeddah Metropolitan areas, home to 60% of the Kingdom’s 
population, ACC held market shares of 15% and 27%, respectively. 
Unmatched scale and local positioning make ACC’s facilities the 
destinations of choice for retailers seeking to penetrate or expand 
their presence in the Saudi market.1

SAR 642.6’N

Net Profit in FY2020, -20.1%

SAR 2.2BN

Revenues in FY2020, +1.0%

1 Source: JLL
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Introduction  //  Chairman’s Message

Chairman’s Message

It is with great pleasure that I present to you Arabian Centres’ Annual 
Report for the year ended 31 March 2020. Embarking on our second 
year as a publicly listed company, the Board of Directors are satisfied 
that the Company has made great and important strides towards its 
strategic objective of becoming an integrated lifestyle platform and 
a key player in the transformation envisioned by Vision 2030 in the 
areas of leisure and entertainment. Despite the challenges posed by 
the COVID-19 pandemic during the final two weeks of FY2020 and the 
beginning of the new fiscal year, ACC’s strong financial and operational 
results reinforce our confidence in the Company’s unique value propo-
sition, its continued ability to meet its strategic objectives and create 
value for shareholders in a sustainable manner.

Besides the financial and operational milestones outlined in this 
Report, Arabian Centres has further deepened its commitment to 
instituting the highest standards of corporate governance. As of 31 
March 2020, four of our eight Board members were independent, in 
compliance with Capital Market Authority requirements. The year saw 
the establishment of a Corporate Governance Committee to act as the 
Board of Directors’ primary resource on governance. Its members have 
been tasked with supporting the Board in developing and adopting 
global best practice in governance standards, frameworks and policies.

Meanwhile, FY2020 saw Arabian Centres take important steps in fulfill-
ing its commitments to the communities that host its lifestyle centres. 
We continued to expand initiatives designed to reduce our carbon foot-
print, maximize the efficient use of renewable and recyclable energy 
sources, optimize the use of construction materials and improve 
waste management and disposal policies and structures. On the social 

“ Arabian Centres is wholeheartedly 
committed to excellence in the areas 
of Environment, Sustainability and 
Governance.”

front, the Company cooperated with a variety of 
institutions to provide career opportunities to the 
next generation of Saudis, ranging from profes-
sional experience programs to specialized summer 
training and entrepreneurship contests. Safe in the 
knowledge that a responsible business can also be 
a profitable one, Arabian Centres is wholeheartedly 
committed to excellence in the areas of Environ-
ment, Sustainability and Governance.

Looking forward, we believe that the strength of a 
business is indicated not simply by how it performs 
in times of stability, but also by its ability to weather 
crises and to leverage new realities in accelerating 
transformation. This realization is fully built into 
Arabian Centres’ strategic vision. The Company will 
leverage the competitive strengths that differenti-
ate its lifestyle offerings to take full advantage as 
possible as the COVID-19 crisis changes the Saudi 
and global business landscapes. ACC will augment 
its long-term strategies of geographic expansion, 
space and yield optimization and integrate the 
lifestyle experience with a concerted push to 
establish a profitable digital presence. As the pan-
demic drives greater consumer reliance on digital 
channels and communication, Arabian Centres 
will expedite the rollout of a digital platform that 
further increases visitor engagement and provides 
the Company and its tenants with unique insights. 

Arabian Centres will be fully prepared for the 
digital transformation envisioned by Vision 2030 
and currently sweeping the global economy and 
is designing its digital platform to ensure capture 
of critical consumer data that informs real-time 
analysis of customer demand. We expect that the 
platform will allow the Company to keep its GLA 
levels high by providing customers with pick-up, 
delivery and local return services — capabilities 
unmatched by any of ACC’s competitors.

In these difficult times for the Kingdom and the 
world, I would like to recapitulate Arabian Centres’ 
wholehearted support for the government of Saudi 
Arabia’s rapid and decisive efforts to halt the spread 
of COVID-19. We put ourselves at the service of the 
Ministry of Health and stand ready to cooperate fully 
and do all within our power to help the government 
meet its objectives. Our thoughts are with those 
on the front lines of the fight against the virus and 
with those who have suffered from it. Finally, recent 
events have only confirmed the centrality of people 
to any enterprise. Safeguarding the health and safety 
of our valued employees, as well as of the millions 
of visitors they serve each year, has been and will 
continue to be Arabian Centres’ overriding priority. 

Mr. Fawaz Abdulaziz Al Hokair
Chairman of the Board of Directors

Mr. Fawaz Abdulaziz 
Al Hokair 

Chairman of the Board of 
Directors
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FY2020 Highlights
FY2020 was a milestone year for Arabian Centres. The Company 
profitably delivered on its growth strategy while taking its largest 
steps yet on the path to becoming an integrated lifestyle platform, 
continuing to invest in expanding its geographic footprint and 
gaining a significant margin of financial flexibility. 

Arabian Centres staked its claim to be a key player in the development of leisure, 
entertainment and tourism planned under Vision 2030.

Arabian Centres successfully completes a refinancing of USD 1.9 billion, includ-
ing a 4 times oversubscribed USD 500 million sukuk. 

Growth continued to be driven by successful discount policies, with additional 
boosts from expanding GLA and the rollout of cinemas.

ACC continued to differentiate its portfolio by introducing 
innovative lifestyle destinations.

Building an Integrated Lifestyle Platform

An Optimized Capital Structure

Sound Financial Performance

Investing in Our Portfolio

Cinema Rollout
ACC initiated the comprehensive 
rollout of cinema theaters across 
its portfolio, with one of the Saudi 
specialized companies now oper-
ating cineplexes at four of ACC’s 
locations in Riyadh, Jeddah and 
Dammam.

Robust Footfall 
Growth
Despite COVID-related 
closures in the final two 
weeks, footfall rose c. 2% 
y-o-y to hit 110.7 million 
visitors for the year.

Vision-2030 
Optimized Offering
ACC continued to 
optimize the mix of retail, 
F&B and leisure offerings 
at its destinations. 

Digital Platform
The Company expedited 
the development of a 
unique digital platform 
to increase visitor 
engagement by providing 
pickup, delivery and local 
return services.

Rapid GLA Growth
With the further inauguration 
of Nakheel Dammam in FY2020, 
ACC’s total GLA climbed c. 12% 
y-o-y to reach 1.2 million sqm.

Increased Resilience
ACC faced the COVID-19 
crisis with significantly 
enhanced liquidity, holding 
more than SAR 1 billion in 
cash and cash equivalents.

SAR 1,438.4 mn
Gross Profit in FY2020, up by 3.2% y-o-y, with a GPM of 65.5%. 

SAR 2,197.3 mn
Revenues in FY2020, up 1% y-o-y.

SAR 642.6 mn
Net Profit in FY2020, down 20% y-o-y, with NPM of 29.2%. 

Commitment to Innovation
strengthened its position in the capital 
Riyadh with the introduction of U-Walk, 
providing a unique outdoors shopping and 
leisure experience in a prime location.

Financial Room for Maneuver
Unsecured debt now stands at 30% of 
ACC’s capital structure versus 100% 
secured prior to the transaction, with 
ample covenant headroom and aver-
age debt maturity climbing to c. 6.4 
years from 4.5.

Near-Term Pipeline
With SAR 256.6 million in CAPEX 
outlays for FY2020, ACC’s near-term 
pipeline is projected to bring c. 197,000 
sqm in additional GLA.

A Rising Profile
Arabian Centres has significantly 
broadened its relationships with 
international and regional banks 
and increased its standing with 
potential investors.

SAR 1,625.5 mn
EBITDA in FY2020, up 10% y-o-y, with an EBITDA margin of 74.0%.

 Net Rental Revenue ................91%

 Utilities & Other Revenue ....... 6%

 Media Sales ................................ 3%

Revenue by Type
(FY2020)

10 - Arabian Centres - Annual Report FY2020 Annual Report FY2020 - Arabian Centres - 11 



Introduction  //  Managing Director’s Message

Managing Director’s Message

As with businesses and economies around the world, Arabian Cen-
tres and Saudi Arabia are today adjusting to radically altered cir-
cumstances. Across the globe, the COVID-19 pandemic has caused 
significant economic disruptions and necessitated restrictions on 
public-facing commercial activities in the interest of public safety. 
Saudi Arabia has not been spared the effects of this unprecedented 
challenge, and the government has taken rapid and decisive meas-
ures to slow and ultimately stop the spread of the virus within the 
Kingdom. Conscious of our duty towards the millions of citizens 
and residents who visit our locations each year, Arabian Centres 
has fully backed the decisive actions being taken by the Saudi au-
thorities to contain the spread of the disease. 

Such containment efforts have included the imposition of a 
Kingdom-wide lockdown and the closure of Arabian Centres’ 21 
portfolio destinations for an extended period leading up to the 
holy month of Ramadan, when measures began to be relaxed 
and our lifestyle centres outside of Makkah were permitted to 
partially reopen. 

The period of closures negatively impacted results at ACC and 
at the Company’s tenants, of whom only providers of essential 
goods and services were allowed to operate for an extended 
period. Meanwhile, the rapid decline in footfall, brought about 

Eng. Salman 
Abdulaziz Al Hokair 

Vice Chairman & 
Managing Director 

“ Despite the disruption brought about by 
COVID-19, particularly during the final 
quarter of FY2020, management is more 
confident than ever in the Company’s 
foundations.”

by the containment measures, has necessitat-
ed the renegotiation of lease terms between 
the Company and its landlords, as well as 
the provision by the Company of a rent relief 
package to its nonessential tenants. Being the 
Kingdom’s premier provider of organized re-
tail space, Arabian Centres fully recognizes the 
Company’s responsibilities to the wider retail 
industry, which forms a key pillar of the gov-
ernment’s strategy for national economic di-
versification under Vision 2030.

Arabian Centres faced the most severe weeks of 
the crisis with exemplary resilience. Thanks to a 
timely refinancing in late 2019, ACC approached 
the crisis with an optimized capital structure and 
with highly favorable debt terms. Besides this, the 
Company had access to ample liquidity through-
out the period and continued to meet all its ob-
ligations in a timely manner, while managing to 
make significant cost savings on the back of re-
duced operations. However, the Company’s prior-
ity since the beginning of the COVID-19 outbreak 
in Saudi Arabia has been to ensure the health and 
safety of our employees. We have supported em-

ployees asked to work from home with the best 
technology and have worked to ensure the safety 
of third-party service providers at our shopping 
centres by fully implementing the guidelines of-
fered by the Saudi Ministry of Health. 

Our cooperation with the Ministry of Health has 
only deepened since the partial reopening of our 
centres, where we have introduced comprehen-
sive measures including mandatory tempera-
ture checks, face masks and hand sanitization at 
centre entrances, as well as additional physical 
distancing requirements. All our centres have 
introduced thermal tunnels and deep-cleaning 
sanitization schedules. Arabian Centres is doing 
its utmost to hasten the day when families and 
friends can again gather to make unforgettable 
memories at its locations.

Despite the disruption brought about by the cri-
sis, particularly during the final quarter of FY2020, 
management is more confident than ever in the 
Company’s foundations. These foundations were 
significantly reinforced during FY2020. The year 
was undoubtedly a landmark one for Arabian 
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Centres. It saw us inaugurate our first cinema theatres, key growth 
avenues for the Company as more and more come online and gen-
erate incremental footfall. In a sign of our commitment to the King-
dom’s efforts to promote cultural and entertainment activities un-
der Vision 2030, ACC has entered a strategic partnership with one 
of the Saudi specialized companies in the field of operating cinema 
theatres, to inaugurate complexes throughout the entirety of its 
portfolio over the medium term. Meanwhile, the Company con-
tinued to further differentiate its portfolio through the continuous 
introduction of innovative lifestyle destinations such as U-Walk in 
Riyadh. Providing a unique outdoors shopping and leisure experi-
ence and situated in a prime location near to the capital’s growing 
ecosystem of outdoor attractions, U-Walk promises to redefine the 
Saudi shopper’s mall experience. Arabian Centres further inaugu-
rated Nakheel Mall Dammam during the year, deepening the Com-
pany’s exposure to the Kingdom’s key geographies and drawing 
more visitors. 

The Company recorded revenues of SAR 2,197.3 million in FY2020, 
up from SAR 2,176.4 million one year previously. Footfall rose 
compared to the previous year, recording 110.7 million in FY2020 
against 108.7 million in FY2019, while like-for-like occupancy rates 
decreased slightly to 93.1% from 93.4% the previous year as we real-
located space to cineplexes throughout our portfolio. Arabian Cen-
tres’ bottom line came in at SAR 642.6 million for the year, down 
from SAR 804.1 million in FY2019 on the back of an impairment 
loss on accounts receivable sustained during the final quarter as 
well as a write-off of one-time transaction costs, in addition to the 

inflation of last year’s bottom line by the reversal of a zakat provi-
sion. Arabian Centres’ net profit margin contracted by 7.7 percent-
age points to settle at 29.2% for FY2020.

It is worth emphasizing that management is as confident as ever 
in Arabian Centres’ value proposition and the Company’s ability to 
generate sustainable value for its stakeholders over the long run. We 
are working diligently to ensure that the Company emerges from 
the current circumstances stronger and leaner than before, with en-
hanced abilities to service customer and tenant demand. Our confi-
dence in ACC’s ability to achieve this stems not simply from the qual-
ity of its differentiated portfolio, which will continue to expand to 
more Saudi communities in the years ahead, but primarily from the 
skill and dedication of the Company’s employees. The importance 
of their health, safety and fulfillment has been brought into sharp 
focus by recent events. They will continue to take center stage as the 
Company and the Kingdom return to normalcy.

Eng. Salman Abdulaziz Al Hokair 
Vice Chairman and Managing Director 

Introduction  //  Managing Director’s Message
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Overview  
of ACC
Arabian Centres is the go-to partner for local and 
international retail brands seeking to expand or 
deepen their footprints in the Saudi market



Overview of ACC  //  Our Market

Our Market
Saudi Arabia is the largest economy in the GCC and MENA region. Its 
young population, underserved retail market and dynamic program 
of reforms provide for a strong growth opportunity as the Kingdom 
modernizes the sector. 

Robust Fundamentals
According to World Bank Figures, Saudi Arabia 
registered a nominal GDP of USD 749 billion in 2019, 
making it the world’s eighteenth largest economy.1 
The Kingdom’s economic heft is underpinned by 
a population of 34 million, the largest in the GCC. 
Nearly 60% of Saudi nationals are below the age 
of 30, while approximately 40% are 18 or younger.2  
Saudi Arabia’s youthful population, which contin-
ued to grow at a rapid annual rate of 1.68% in 2019, 
provides a valuable economic resource for domestic 
and international businesses. A large and growing 
working-age cohort supplies the Kingdom with a 
steady flow of entrants to the labor force, which 
grew by approximately 3% in 2019, while supporting 
strong household consumption, which accounts for 
more than 40% of Saudi GDP.3  Additionally, nearly 
all of Saudi Arabia’s overwhelmingly urban popula-
tion enjoys access to smartphones and the internet, 
forming a solid platform for the dissemination of 
data-driven business models.

Saudi Arabia’s General Authority for Statistics 
estimates that the Kingdom’s GDP grew at a rate 
of 0.3% for 2019, with growth driven by an upward 
trend in real non-oil GDP as oil production remains 
subdued. December 2019 saw headline inflation 
record a positive reading for the first time in a year, 
with Saudi Arabia’s private and government non-
oil sectors receiving significant boosts from the 
execution of megaprojects and the introduction of 
a private sector stimulus package.4  Saudi Arabia 

continued to deliver on its Vision 2030 goals in 2019, 
with the Kingdom placing among the top ten global 
improvers in the Ease of Doing Business 2020 Report 
and completing the initial public offering of Aramco. 
Meanwhile, Tadawul’s listing on benchmark Emerg-
ing Market Stock Indices during the year brought a 
significant increase in portfolio investments.

An Underpenetrated Retail Space 
Saudi Arabia is the GCC’s largest retail market, 
accounting for 65.9% of retail sales in the region 
for 2017, nearly double the share represented by 
the United Arab Emirates (23.8%), its closest peer. 
According to a Euromonitor study, sales by the 
Kingdom’s retail sector are expected to grow from 
USD 106 billion for 2019 to USD 119 billion by 2023.5  
Despite its relative size, Saudi Arabia’s retail market 
remains largely underpenetrated, with significant 
room for growth and lucrative opportunities for the 
creation of further value in the sector. A high share of 
Saudi retail activity remains unorganized and is car-
ried out beyond the reach of modern retail facilities. 
As of year-end 2019, Saudi Arabia had 0.4 sqm of mall-
based retail space per capita in the four major cities. 
This is much lower than the international benchmark 
of 1.1 sqm per capita, identified by the International 
Council of Shopping Centres (ICSC). This macro-level 
profile leaves significant untapped potential for qual-
ity modern retail spaces, yielding prospects for rapid 
and sustainable long-term growth.

In the past two years the Saudi retail market has 
staged a strong recovery following a slump in 2016 
and 2017, induced by the introduction of value-added 
tax (VAT) and an increase in expatriate dependent 
residency fees. Consumer purchasing power has 
improved significantly since then, boosted by the 
government’s Saudization policies and the entrance 
of females into the labor force in greater numbers. 
Longer-term growth continues to be sustained by 
the Kingdom’s highly favorable cultural dynamics. 
As in its GCC and other MENA peers, Saudi Arabian 
consumers show a cultural predisposition towards 
shopping as a key leisure activity, particularly in 
family settings, and there exists a strong culture of 
gift-giving. Meanwhile, the arid climate supports a 

high level of demand for air-conditioned mall envi-
ronments as leisure destinations. 

In the short term, it is expected that performance 
in the retail sector will be affected by a weaken-
ing of the economy’s non-oil sectors, reflecting a 
decrease in aggregate demand as the COVID-19 
pandemic continues to disrupt commercial activ-
ity. Meanwhile, the COVID-19 crisis has brought 
about a significant reduction in global oil demand 
and a consequent general decline in hydrocarbon 
prices, further buffeting Saudi Arabia’s economy 
in the short term. The medium-term effects of the 
COVID-19 pandemic on the Saudi retail space 
will depend on how rapidly and efficiently supply 

1 The World Bank, Saudi Arabia’s Economic Update – April (2020).
2 General Authority for Statistics, Statistical Yearbook of 2017 (Riyadh: GAS, 2018).
3 https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/geos/sa.html 
4 KPMG, Saudi Brief: Key Economic Indicators (2020). 
5 Euromonitor, Country Report: Retail in Said Arabia (2018).
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chains can regain full capacity with minimum 
price dislocation, allowing the market’s strong 
fundamentals and the dynamism offered by 
Vision 2030 to reassert guiding hands over its 
growth trajectory.

Saudi Arabia is better positioned than peer 
markets to withstand the effects of the COVID-19 
crisis on retail and shopping centre activity and 
to adapt to the longer-term changes likely to be 
brought about by pandemic-related risks. Unlike 
its fellow GCC economies, mall footfall and visi-
tor demand in Saudi Arabia is driven largely by 

locals and residents as opposed to tourists. This 
low dependence on tourism and the consequent 
stickiness in demand compared to regional peers 
should facilitate a more rapid recovery. Multiple 
surveys during the lockdown indicate that Saudi 
consumers remain optimistic about the King-
dom’s economy following the COVID-19 crisis, 
exhibiting less pressure to reduce expenditures 
than seen elsewhere.6 Finally, should the crisis 
drive a transition to greater dependence on 
online retail, Arabian Centres stands prepared to 
expedite the rollout of its online and omnichan-
nel retail platforms.

6  McKinsey & Company, Survey: Saudi consumer sentiment during the coronavirus crisis – April 2020. https://www.mckinsey.com/business-functions/
marketing-and-sales/our-insights/survey-saudi-consumer-sentiment-during-the-coronavirus-crisis

Favorable Macro-economic 
Drivers

 c.1.7% in 2019

Strong Population 
Growth

Cultural predisposition 
towards shopping as 
a key leisure activity 
as well as for family 

outings
60% < 30 yrs in 2018

A Young 
Population

Strong gift-giving 
culture

 c.3% in 2019 (e)

Steadily Increasing 
Workforce

Hot climate supports a 
high level of demand 

for indoor, air-con-
ditioned mall envi-

ronments as a leisure 
destination

Favorable Demographic 
& Lifestyle Trends

Vision 2030
Since 2016, Saudi Arabia has implemented a com-
prehensive reform package aimed at reducing the 
Kingdom’s dependence on oil, diversifying its econ-
omy and developing the country’s service sector, 
with large investments made in infrastructure, 
tourism, recreation, health and education. These 
broad-based reforms have been instituted under the 
Vision 2030 Program introduced by His Royal High-
ness Prince Mohammed bin Salman bin Abdulaziz, 
the Crown Prince of Saudi Arabia. 

Besides reducing the economy’s reliance on oil 
revenues and instituting sustainable development 
practices, Vision 2030 aims to leverage the energy 

and talents of the Kingdom’s youthful population to 
enrich Saudis’ quality of life. With the establishment 
of a dedicated General Entertainment Authority, 
significant investments have been made in the King-
dom’s leisure and entertainment sectors in an effort 
to develop the Kingdom into a global entertainment 
destination and enhance the global ranking of Saudi 
cities. A related objective is to boost domestic and 
international tourism in the Kingdom, tapping into 
this underdeveloped sector by fostering more bal-
anced and sustainable demand. 

The Program envisions continuous improvements to 
the Kingdom’s public transportation infrastructure 
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to enhance mobility, with similar investments being 
made in Saudi Arabia’s IT capabilities with an eye 
to developing the Kingdom into a regional and 
international IT hub. A budget of USD 426 billion 
has been allocated to infrastructure development 
under Vision 2030. Meanwhile, the government has 
made far-reaching efforts to further the social and 
economic empowerment of females. The granting of 
driver’s licenses to females has significantly boosted 
mobility and increased female labor force participa-
tion, which the government aims to raise to 30% by 
2030 from its current level of 22%, a development 
which is expected to boost total discretionary expen-
ditures by 7% per annum.

Vision 2030 has already yielded tangible benefits to 
Saudi Arabia’s retail sector, particularly the orga-
nized segments with a heavy presence in modern 

shopping centres. Investments in leisure and 
entertainment, and particularly the introduction 
of cineplex chains, have proven to be significant 
generators of incremental footfall at shopping 
centres. The proximity of shopping centres to the 
Kingdom’s budding complex of leisure facilities 
has had a similar effect. These developments are 
allowing the Kingdom’s retail sector to retain a 
greater share of retail spending, which otherwise 
would have been disposed by Saudi tourists 
travelling abroad. Meanwhile, Saudization and 
policies aimed at enhancing female mobility are 
expected to enhance aggregate purchasing power 
while enabling the Saudi retail sector’s target 
demographic, a trend supported by the Kingdom’s 
investments in public transport infrastructure. 
The latter development is expected to further 
boost footfall at shopping centres, particularly 
those readily accessible to newly built metro and 
bus stations. Meanwhile, as domestic and inter-
national tourist flows intensify, the Saudi retail 
sector will aim to capture a greater share of tourist 
retail expenditure.

Competitive Advantage
It is worth mentioning that Arabian Centres Com-
pany has the largest market share of the overall 
Gross Leasable Area “GLA” in the shopping centres 
in Saudi Arabia.

Key Focus Areas of

Reforms

VISI N 2030

Entertainment / leisure 
including cinemas as 
incremental footfall 

generators

Recapture retail 
spending outside of the 

Kingdom

Enriching Quality of Life

Women Enablement

Boosting Tourism

Infrastructure

Enablement of large 
part of target catchment

Boost in total 
purchasing power

Increasing domestic 
and international tourist 

flows 
in Saudi Arabia

Improved accessibility 
/ mobility leading to 

higher footfall

Expected Impacts 
for Retail / ACC

Promote Saudi Arabia’s 
entertainment industry 

Enhance Saudi Arabian 
cities’ positioning among 

top cities

Government 
drive to increase 
women mobility

Increase the participation of women in 
the workforce from 22% to 30% by 2030 
→ 7% increase per year in discretionary 

spend1

Focus on tapping 
the country’s 

underdeveloped 
tourism industry

Foster more 
balanced and 
sustainable 

demand

Increase the Umrah 
visitors from 8 

million to 30 million 
per year by 2030

Improve public transporta-
tion infrastructure / 

connectivity

Upcoming ~US$426 billion 
infrastructure plan

Source: Vison 2030, Jadwa Investment, Centre for International Communication, Euromonitor 2018, Saudi Railways Organization, Bloomberg, JLL 
Market Study, IMF   
Notes: 1. Additional 770k working women calculated as 8% (30% minus 22%) of current women population in Saudi Arabia between 15-64 years of age. 
US$2.6bn discretionary spend calculated as 38% of the total disposable income of additional working women
Notes: 2  Store-based Sales / Source: JLL Market Study, Euromonitor 2018, IMF
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Overview of ACC  //  Saudi Arabia’s Leading Retail Platform

Our Business Model
Arabian Centres Company is the Kingdom’s largest retail platform, 
with leading positions across Saudi Arabia’s key metropolitan 
geographies. 

The Go-To Shopping Mall Operator
Arabian Centres is the leading owner, developer 
and operator of lifestyle shopping centres in 
Saudi Arabia. Since opening its first mall in 
Riyadh in 2002, the Company has cemented its 
position as the Kingdom’s leading retail platform. 
Over 4,100 stores are housed in ACC locations, 
representing 1,100 international and local 
brands. As of 31 December 2019, the Company’s 
portfolio of shopping centres encompassed all of 
Saudi Arabia’s key urban markets, covering the 
Kingdom’s 10 largest cities and approximately 
60% of Saudi Arabia’s population. ACC operates 
21 lifestyle shopping centres with a total GLA of 
1.2 million sqm, a year-on-year increase of 12%. 
Arabian Centres offers visitors an unmatched 
array of leading retail brands, including Zara, 
Debenhams, Coach, H&M, Virgin Megastores, 
Panda and IKEA.

The Company is the go-to partner for local and 
international retail brands seeking to expand 
or deepen their footprints in the Saudi market. 
Besides the Company’s ability to leverage scale 
effects, ACC’s leading position stems from the 
consistently high quality offered to customers vis-
iting its locations, with a portfolio characterized 
by unique and appealing building designs, central 
locations and ease of access to target demograph-
ics, a welcoming environment and superior levels 
of service. Visitor journeys are further enhanced 
by optimized dining, entertainment and leisure 

offerings, as well as the ongoing introduction of 
cineplexes across ACC’s portfolio. The Company 
expects to have introduced cinemas at 15 of its 21 
locations over the medium-term.

Arabian Centres leverages its expertise and capa-
bilities in the mall development space to introduce 
innovative and unique lifestyle centre concepts 
with differentiated designs and brand offerings, 
further driving footfall. Among other offerings, in 
FY2020 ACC launched U-Walk in Riyadh. U-Walk 
is the first outdoor mall concept to cater to Saudi 
consumers, combining a unique spatial configu-
ration and tenant mix to provide families with a 
unique shopping and dining experience.  

Development and Delivery Sector
ACC’s Development and Delivery Sector (D&D) 
leverages its in-house capabilities and longstand-
ing partnerships with global firms to design and 
plan the Company’s innovative shopping centre 
offerings. Nearly two decades of experience in 
design and development have given Arabian Cen-
tres an unmatched ability to rapidly and efficiently 
move projects from design to development. D&D 
is responsible for monitoring and supervising 
construction work at the Company’s shopping 
centres, which is typically executed by ACC’s 
sister company, FARE, a specialized commercial 
real estate development and construction com-
pany. ACC also enjoys a longstanding strategic 

partnership with ECHO Architecture, which offers 
the full range of architecture and interior design 
services. The D&D unit is headed by ACC’s Chief 
Development Officer.

Strong Tenant Partnerships
Arabian Centres offers its tenants multiple loca-
tions, high footfall, combined pricing across 
various shopping centres and proximity to other 
leading retail brands. The quality of ACC’s portfo-
lio has driven the development of long-term, stra-
tegic relationships with tenants. This competitive 
edge allows the Company to negotiate favorable 
rents and other tenancy terms, as evidenced by 
positive progression in the Company’s weighted 
average discount rate across internal and external 
tenants and its weighted average lease term. Ara-
bian Centres consistently maintains like-for-like 
occupancy rates at levels above 90% and positive 
leasing spreads, while rapidly and efficiently com-
pleting lease renewals at profitable terms.

ACC leverages its profitable tenant relationships 
as it works to expand its project portfolio, and its 
strategic partnerships with key account tenants 
allow the Company to successfully pre-lease a 
significant portion of new shopping centres prior 
to their official launch. The Company typically 
pre-leases approximately 50% of GLA three to 
six months prior to the official launch of pipeline 
assets, allowing such shopping centres to achieve 
an average first-year occupancy of 70% to 75% 
and mitigating certain risks associated with the 
introduction of new developments. Relative to 
the wider market, Arabian Centres achieves the 
quickest occupancy ramp-up of new develops, 
rapidly driving footfall.

Leasing Sector
Arabian Centres’ Leasing Sector is responsible for 
ensuring that each of the Company’s retail units 
is leased as promptly and profitably as possible 
while maintaining certain lease quality standards.  
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Its operations are at the heart of ACC’s business. 
The Department works to maintain a target occu-
pancy rate set by Company management, imple-
ments various marketing and promotion efforts 
to attract new tenants where needed, ensures 
prompt and consistent collection and consistently 
inspects the Company’s properties while respond-
ing to tenant queries and requests. Headed by 
ACC’s Chief Commercial Officer and Chief Leasing 
Officer, the Department constantly reevaluates 
practices and outlays to engender further effi-
ciencies, identifying optimal arrangements with 
third-party service providers and ensuring that 
expenditures remain within budget.

An Integrated Retail Platform
The Company derives significant synergistic ben-
efits from its relationship with other organiza-
tions in the Al Hokair ecosystem. From a demand 
perspective, ACC benefits substantially from 
its relationship with Al Hokair Fashion Retail, a 
publicly listed company and a leading franchise 
retailer with approximately 1,600 retail units in 
13 countries. As of year-end FY2020, Al Hokair 
Fashion Retail had 760 retail units across ACC’s 
21 shopping centres, accounting for 21.7% of the 
Company’s total occupied GLA. Al Hokair Fash-
ion Retail typically pre-leases between 20-25% 
of the GLA at each new pipeline asset launched 
by Arabian Centres, locking in demand and serv-
ing as a major attraction for other prospective 
tenants while enhancing footfall. Key Al Hokair 
Fashion Retail brands operating in the ACC 
portfolio include Zara, Massimo Dutti, Aldo, Gap, 
New Yorker and Banana Republic, among other 
leading brands. 

The food and beverage franchises held by Al 
Hokair Fashion Retail, in addition to those under 
the Food and Entertainment Company, provide 
Arabian Centres with a differentiated ability 
to create integrated shopping, entertainment 
and dining experiences at its locations. ACC 
has further differentiated its offering through 
an agreement with one of the Saudi specialized 
companies in the field of operating cinema the-
atres, to roll out cinema theatres throughout the 
Company’s portfolio over the medium-term. 

Arabian Centres also enjoys access to a reli-
able construction partner in FARE, another Al 
Hokair company. A specialist mall design and 
construction company, FARE has developed and 
constructed 16 of ACC’s 21 shopping centres. As 
of year-end FY2020, ACC has contracted FARE 
to develop eight new sites, two of which are cur-
rently under development and six of which are 
slated for future development.

Operations Sector
The Operations Department is responsible for 
the onsite operational management of every 
shopping centre in ACC’s portfolio. To ensure the 
smooth running of each asset, the department 
coordinates all teams on-site (internal and third 
party) in tackling all related issues. It monitors 
the roll-out of marketing action plans, the execu-
tion of events and activities within each shopping 
centre and the activation of specialty leasing. 
Operations also leads the introduction and exit 
of all tenants who take a lease at ACC’s shopping 
centres while collecting all individual tenant 
rental dues on a regular basis.  Ultimately, the 

+4,100
Retail stores in FY2020

Operations team are responsible for the safety of 
all visitors and tenants. Compliance with health 
and safety rules and regulations is maintained 
24/7. Customer service is provided throughout 
our shopping centres to meet all visitor needs. 
As a team, Operations builds positive and long-
lasting relations with ACC’s tenants and external 
stakeholders, including local authorities, to pro-
mote and develop each shopping centre within a 
given community.

Our Portfolio
ACC’s shopping mall portfolio includes Super-
Regional (GLA ≥ 74,000 sqm), Regional (37,000 
≤ GLA < 74,000 sqm) Community shopping 
centres (GLA < 37,000 sqm), where each devel-
opment is uniquely positioned in terms of 
location, size, design and retail offering. ACC 
maintains a broad and varied retail unit mix 
within its shopping centres, optimizing for 
each mall’s target demographic.

As of FY2020, Arabian Centres maintains its lead-
ing market position across Saudi Arabia’s major 
urban geographies. Its combined GLA of 1.2 mil-
lion sqm leaves ACC as the largest shopping mall 
owner-operator in the Kingdom by area.

The Company works to optimize the proportion 
of its shopping centres held on freehold and 
leasehold lands. Of ACC’s 21 shopping centres, 12 
operate on leased lands while 9 operate on lands 
owned by the Company. With regards to the lands 
held by the Company in lease, ACC maintains an 
ongoing dialogue with the landlords with a view 
to extending or renewing leases on terms favor-
able to the Company. Management engages in 
active negotiations with landlords and typically 
commences leasehold extension negotiations by 
enough and long time prior to expiry of a lease. 
Lease renewal agreements are structured so that 
the enhanced revenue streams from long-term 
leases offset the effects of any rental rate increase.

Overview of ACC  //  Saudi Arabia’s Leading Retail Platform

1.2 MN

GLA in FY2020, +12%
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Riyadh
Nakheel Mall (Regional)

Nakheel Mall Regional

Year Opened 2014

GLA (FY2020), SQM 56,218

GLA (FY2019), SQM 56,166

BUA, SQM 98,000

Occupancy (FY2020) 91.7%

% of Revenue (FY2020) 9.0%

% of Revenue (FY2019) 8.7%

Lease Expiry July 2034

Diversified portfolio strategically positioned in large catchment areas

Eastern Province

Jubail

Dammam

Hail

Medinah

Jeddah

Makkah

Qassim

Riyadh

Taif

Hofuf

Dhahran

Jouri Mall

Other CitiesTop 4 Cities

Nakheel Plaza

Salma Mall

Sahara 
Plaza

Salaam 
Mall

Tala  
Mall

Khurais 
Mall

Nakheel 
Mall

Hamra 
Mall

U-Walk

Makkah Mall

Mall of Dhahran

Nakheel Mall (Dammam)

Jubail Mall

Ahsa Mall  (Hofuf)

Aziz Mall

Mall of Arabia

Noor Mall

Haifa Mall

Salaam Mall

Yasmin Mall

28% Market share
11% Market share

17% Market share
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Riyadh
Hamra Mall (Regional)

Overview of ACC  //  Saudi Arabia’s Leading Retail Platform

Hamra Mall Regional

Year Opened 2016

GLA (FY2020), SQM 55,598

GLA (FY2019), SQM 56,515

BUA, SQM 77,969

Occupancy (FY2020) 93.6%

% of Revenue (FY2020) 5.5%

% of Revenue (FY2019) 5.2%

Lease Expiry Freehold

Riyadh
Salaam Mall (Regional)

Salaam Mall Regional

Year Opened 2005

GLA (FY2020), SQM 48,423

GLA (FY2019), SQM 50,043

BUA, SQM 67,421

Occupancy (FY2020) 97.5%

% of Revenue (FY2020) 3.2%

% of Revenue (FY2019) 3.2%

Lease Expiry Freehold

30 - Arabian Centres - Annual Report FY2020 Annual Report FY2020 - Arabian Centres - 31 



Overview of ACC  //  Saudi Arabia’s Leading Retail Platform

Riyadh
Khurais Mall (Regional)

Khurais Mall Regional

Year Opened 2004

GLA (FY2020), SQM 41,618

GLA (FY2019), SQM 41,618

BUA, SQM 60,230

Occupancy (FY2020) 87.7%

% of Revenue (FY2020) 2.2%

% of Revenue (FY2019) 2.6%

Lease Expiry January 2022

Riyadh
U-Walk (Regional)

U-Walk Regional

Year Opened 2019

GLA (FY2020), SQM 63,679

GLA (FY2019), SQM -

BUA, SQM 68,254

Occupancy (FY2020) 97.0%

% of Revenue (FY2020) 1.4%

% of Revenue (FY2019) -

Lease Expiry July 2046
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Riyadh
Tala Mall (Community)

Tala Mall Community

Year Opened 2014

GLA (FY2020), SQM 22,636

GLA (FY2019), SQM 22,835

BUA, SQM 46,292

Occupancy (FY2020) 85.7%

% of Revenue (FY2020) 1.7%

% of Revenue (FY2019) 1.8%

Lease Expiry April 2029

Riyadh
Sahara Plaza (Community)

Sahara Plaza Community

Year Opened 2002

GLA (FY2020), SQM 14,722

GLA (FY2019), SQM 12,217

BUA, SQM 28,364

Occupancy (FY2020) 100%

% of Revenue (FY2020) 0.3%

% of Revenue (FY2019) 0.0%

Lease Expiry Freehold
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Dammam
Nakheel Mall (Regional)

Nakheel Mall Regional

Year Opened 2019

GLA (FY2020), SQM 62,452

GLA (FY2019), SQM -

BUA, SQM 92,229

Occupancy (FY2020) 82.0%

% of Revenue (FY2020) 1.6%

% of Revenue (FY2019) -

Lease Expiry Freehold

Dhahran
Mall of Dhahran (Super-Regional)

Mall of Dhahran Super-Regional

Year Opened 2005

GLA (FY2020), SQM 159,482

GLA (FY2019), SQM 160,695

BUA, SQM 220,550

Occupancy (FY2020) 95.9%

% of Revenue (FY2020) 15.0%

% of Revenue (FY2019) 15.8%

Lease Expiry February 2025
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Jeddah
Mall of Arabia (Super-Regional)

Mall of Arabia Super-Regional

Year Opened 2008

GLA (FY2020), SQM 113,059

GLA (FY2019), SQM 111,268

BUA, SQM 247,848

Occupancy (FY2020) 94.3%

% of Revenue (FY2020) 12.6%

% of Revenue (FY2019) 12.7%

Lease Expiry Freehold

Jeddah
Salam Mall (Super-Regional)

Salam Mall Super-Regional

Year Opened 2012

GLA (FY2020), SQM 121,642

GLA (FY2019), SQM 121,333

BUA, SQM 212,825

Occupancy (FY2020) 86.3%

% of Revenue (FY2020) 8.5%

% of Revenue (FY2019) 8.6%

Lease Expiry July 2032
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Jeddah
Yasmin Mall (Regional)

Yasmin Mall Regional

Year Opened 2016

GLA (FY2020), SQM 54,716

GLA (FY2019), SQM 54,510

BUA, SQM 101,672

Occupancy (FY2020) 96.5%

% of Revenue (FY2020) 6.5%

% of Revenue (FY2019) 6.1%

Lease Expiry November 2034

Jeddah
Aziz Mall (Regional)

Aziz Mall Regional

Year Opened 2005

GLA (FY2020), SQM 73,237

GLA (FY2019), SQM 72,279

BUA, SQM 93,310

Occupancy (FY2020) 95.6%

% of Revenue (FY2020) 6.2%

% of Revenue (FY2019) 7.1%

Lease Expiry November 2046
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Madinah
Noor Mall (Regional)

Noor Mall Regional

Year Opened 2008

GLA (FY2020), SQM 67,552

GLA (FY2019), SQM 67,047

BUA, SQM 93,917

Occupancy (FY2020) 97.2%

% of Revenue (FY2020) 6.2%

% of Revenue (FY2019) 6.2%

Lease Expiry Freehold

Jeddah
Haifa Mall (Community)

Haifa Mall Community

Year Opened 2011

GLA (FY2020), SQM 33,698

GLA (FY2019), SQM 32,881

BUA, SQM 50,161

Occupancy (FY2020) 81.0%

% of Revenue (FY2020) 2.7%

% of Revenue (FY2019) 3.0%

Lease Expiry April 2032
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Taif
Jouri  Mall (Regional)

Jouri  Mall Regional

Year Opened 2015

GLA (FY2020), SQM 48,077

GLA (FY2019), SQM 48,290

BUA, SQM 92,663

Occupancy (FY2020) 96.8%

% of Revenue (FY2020) 4.9%

% of Revenue (FY2019) 4.7%

Lease Expiry March 2035

Hofuf
Ahsa Mall (Regional)

Ahsa Mall Regional

Year Opened 2010

GLA (FY2020), SQM 49,987

GLA (FY2019), SQM 53,117

BUA, SQM 65,800

Occupancy (FY2020) 65.0%

% of Revenue (FY2020) 1.7%

% of Revenue (FY2019) 2.4%

Lease Expiry Freehold
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Qassim
Nakheel Plaza (Community)

Nakheel Plaza Community

Year Opened 2004

GLA (FY2020), SQM 50,306

GLA (FY2019), SQM 49,317

BUA, SQM 48,985

Occupancy (FY2020) 76.3%

% of Revenue (FY2020) 1.9%

% of Revenue (FY2019) 2.3%

Lease Expiry December 2029

Makkah
Makkah Mall (Regional)

Makkah Mall Regional

Year Opened 2011

GLA (FY2020), SQM 37,473

GLA (FY2019), SQM 37,623

BUA, SQM 56,720

Occupancy (FY2020) 94.8%

% of Revenue (FY2020) 6.9%

% of Revenue (FY2019) 7.2%

Lease Expiry Freehold
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Hail
Salma  Mall (Community)

Salma  Mall Community

Year Opened 2014

GLA (FY2020), SQM 16,959

GLA (FY2019), SQM 16,959

BUA, SQM 22,378

Occupancy (FY2020) 76.1%

% of Revenue (FY2020) 0.7%

% of Revenue (FY2019) 0.8%

Lease Expiry March 2022

Jubail
Jubail Mall (Community)

Jubail Mall Community

Year Opened 2015

GLA (FY2020), SQM 22,679

GLA (FY2019), SQM 21,196

BUA, SQM 37,366

Occupancy (FY2020) 78.6%

% of Revenue (FY2020) 1.4%

% of Revenue (FY2019) 1.4%

Lease Expiry Freehold
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Growth Strategy
To generate sustainable long-term value for its stakeholders, ACC 
pursues a four-pronged value creation strategy calibrated to leverage 
the Company’s competitive advantages while deepening and 
widening its retail footprint.

Key Pillars of ACC’s Growth StrategyArabian Centres’ primary strategic objective is 
to consolidate the Company’s position as Saudi 
Arabia’s go-to retail platform and to maintain its 
dominant position in the shopping centre space 
across Saudi Arabia’s key geographies. The Com-
pany’s financial priority is to expand its top line 
in as profitable a manner as possible. 

While it pursues several means to ensure that 
this objective is met, its main strategies revolve 
around the generation of greater value from its 
existing assets and the expansion of its portfolio 
through the introduction of innovative lifestyle 
destinations that further grow the Company’s 
footprint. To these ends, management has imple-
mented a growth strategy based on four axes: (1) 
space and yield optimization, (2) developing an 
integrated lifestyle experience, (3) expanding the 
Company’s retail footprint, and (4) establishing a 
profitable digital presence.  

Space and Yield Optimization
Although the Company works to rapidly expand 
the geographic reach and penetration of its port-
folio, management recognizes the importance of 
fostering efficiencies and continuously enhanc-
ing yields from ACC’s existing developments. To 
maximize returns from its existing portfolio, the 
Company focuses on active asset management. 
Under a rubric of space and yield optimization, 

the Company works to enhance occupancy and 
efficiency rates, optimize lease rates, optimize its 
category and tenant mix and increase non-GLA 
revenues from media sales, kiosks and other 
services. Arabian Centres also works to curtail 
the growth of its operating costs by negotiating 
favorable terms with third-party service providers.

ACC’s space and yield optimization strategy 
produced significant benefits in FY2020. The 
Company’s weighted average discount rate 
across internal and external tenants stood at 
5.6% (SAR 119.5 million) in FY2020 against 6.8% 
(SAR 149.0 million) in FY2019, demonstrating 
the efficacy of an improvement in the Company’s 
discount policies. Meanwhile, ACC’s weighted 
average lease terms rose to 6.4 years in FY2020 
from 5.2 one year previously, illustrating consis-
tently positive lease spreads and management’s 
proactive approach to asset management, with 
these enhancements coming against a backdrop 
of steady occupancy rates.

Integrating the Lifestyle Experience
Arabian Centres continuously works to upgrade 
the category mix at its portfolio centres to offer an 
integrated experience, with additional dining and 
entertainment offerings as well as the provision 
of convenient and attractive facilities and ser-
vices. ACC has pioneered the concept of ‘lifestyle 

centres’ in Saudi Arabia and adopts several linked 
means for driving visitor footfall and maintaining 
the Company’s shopping centres as the destina-
tion of choice for tenants and visitors.

Management recognizes the important opportu-
nities posed by Saudi Arabia’s growing investment 
in the Kingdom’s leisure and entertainment spaces 

under the Vision 2030 Program. These efforts aim 
to redirect a portion of the USD 20 billion recre-
ation expenditure spent annually by Saudi tourists 
to the domestic leisure industry. Arabian Centres 
is working to place itself at the epicenter of the 
dynamic movement in Saudi Arabia’s leisure and 
entertainment industries, hosting associated rec-
reational events at its locations, locating pipeline 

Continuous additions to GLA; exposure to new 
demographics; near-term pipeline includes 4 
centres + 1 extension

First digital retail platform in Saudi Arabia; digitiza-
tion efforts encompassing smartphone app, social 
media, lyoalty program, tenant portal and digital 
footfall counters

Lifestyle centre concept; leisure and entertainment; 
rolling out cinemas across the portfolio; Vision 2030

Integrating the  
lifestyle experience 

Enhance occupancy and efficiency rates; optimize 
lease rates; optimize category and tenant mix; 
increase non-GLA revenues

Space and yield 
optimization 

Expanding  
our footprint

Establishing a 
digital presence 
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assets in close proximity to entertainment centres 
and rolling out cinemas across the Company’s 
portfolio. Management is confident that such 
measures will materially support Arabian Centres’ 
efforts to generate increasing footfall and ensure 
sustainable growth.

In FY2020, ACC reached an agreement with one 
of the Saudi specialized companies in the field of 
operating cinema theatres, to open multiplexes 
at several ACC locations. ACC launched its first 
cinema theatre at Jeddah’s Mall of Arabia and wel-
comed 1.46 million moviegoers between its launch 
in August 2019 and mid-March 2020, after which 
ACC’s shopping centres had to temporarily shut 
down due to COVID-19. A second smaller cineplex 
at Riyadh’s Al Hamra Mall drew 154,000 visitors 
during its first three months of operation. Arabian 
Centres plans to introduce cineplexes at 19 of its 
21 existing locations by December 2021 and will 
launch cinemas at each of its pipeline locations. 

Meanwhile, with the launch of U-Walk in Riyadh, 
FY2020 saw ACC making progress on its efforts 
to continuously introduce differentiated and 
innovative lifestyle concepts designed to redefine 
the Saudi shopper’s lifestyle experience. Stra-
tegically located near to the fairgrounds of the 
Riyadh Season events, U-Walk is Saudi Arabia’s 
first outdoor shopping centre concept, boasting a 
pleasant outdoor concourse designed to accom-
modate large groups of pedestrians and a variety 
of premium retail offerings in the fashion and F&B 
spaces as well as a cinema theatre.

Expanding Our Footprint
ACC leverages its expertise in the develop-
ment and operation of shopping centres and its 
strategic relationship with FARE Construction, 
a specialized shopping centre developer, to con-
tinuously add to the GLA in its portfolio. Expand-
ing the Company’s centre portfolio widens ACC’s 
retail footprint, providing exposure to untapped 
demographic catchments, with insights from 
the Company’s database on the Kingdom’s urban 
areas informing expansion decisions, helping 
consolidate ACC’s leading position in the Saudi 
retail sections.

Arabian Centres currently aims to continue 
its successful track record of shopping centre 
expansion in the near term through the intro-
duction of two new shopping centres in Jeddah 
and Riyadh (Jeddah Park and Khaleej Mall) and 
a major extension to an existing shopping centre 
(Nakheel Mall in Riyadh). These three projects 
are expected to be operational by FY2021 and 
will bring online an additional 180,000 sqm of 
GLA, deepening ACC’s exposure to two of the 
Kingdom’s key urban markets. 

The Company launched two key projects in its 
near-term pipeline during FY2020, including 
Riyadh’s U-Walk and Nakheel Mall in Dammam, 
both officially opened in Q4-FY20. These loca-
tions have brought online an additional 113,000 
sqm in GLA. Including U-Walk and Nakheel 
Dammam, the completion of projects in ACC’s 
near-term pipeline will bring the Company’s 
total GLA to c.1.4 million sqm by FY2021, up from 
1.1 million as at FY2019. 

ACC is also implementing a medium-term 
project pipeline, which includes five additional 
developments that will add c.358,000 sqm of 
GLA. ACC’s medium-term pipeline carries a total 
development cost of SAR 6.6 billion and a target 
completion date of 2024.

SAR 6.6 BN

Medium-term pipeline  
development cost

Establishing a Digital Presence
ACC will further augment its offering with the 
rollout of its digital platform, which is set to pro-
mote increased visitor engagement and enhance 
the tenants’ experience. The Company has fast-
tracked the introduction of this digital platform 
in an effort to address post-COVID-19 realities, 
allowing ACC’s business model to remain relevant 
by reflecting new consumer trends and preference 
and further improving the customer journey, 
regardless of the channel or device being used.

Arabian Centres’ digitization efforts include the 
rollout of a smartphone app, a tenant portal, 
increased social media engagement and the 
introduction of loyalty programs. Coupled with 
the insights provided by the digital platform, 
these efforts will ensure capture of critical con-
sumer data, allowing the Company to take an 

ever-more data-driven approach to analyzing 
and anticipating changes in customer demand 
and to act accordingly and rapidly.

It is expected that Arabian Centres’ digital 
platform will help maintain high GLA levels by 
keeping inventory within stores, gradually tran-
sitioning the Company’s shopping centres into 
part-fulfillment centres for online purchases. 
This platform will provide customers with pick-
up, delivery and local return services. Moreover, 
the digital channel will generate increases in 
footfall by further enriching the visitor experi-
ence, improving engagement and generating 
additional revenue channels. Such revenues 
will be generated with minimum cost, thanks to 
ACC’s ability to tap into omnichannel streams 
with minimal initial investments or overheads.
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Our People
Arabian Centres’ human resources are a key pillar of the Company’s 
success, with far-reaching efforts made to develop employees’ skills 
and nurture their careers.

Developing Human Capital
Human capital is the main cog in ACC’s opera-
tions. The Company places particular emphasis 
on supporting its employees and continuously 
enhancing their ability to provide top-quality 
service to ACC’s customers and stakeholders. 
Arabian Centres strives to provide its people with 
suitable opportunities for learning and develop-
ment, with an eye to ensuring that they are armed 
with the requisite knowledge, experience and 
capabilities to shape Saudi Arabia’s corporate 
ecosystem and the wider economy.

Empowering Saudis
Arabian Centres has adopted various initiatives 
to assist Saudi nationals in obtaining fulfilling 
employment opportunities, paving their way for 
their professional development and accession to 
high-ranking positions. 

In FY2020, ACC recorded one of the highest rates 
of Saudi employees in a real estate company, as it 
reached the 67% mark by year-end. As such, the 
Company has been classified as platinum grade, 
as per the framework of the Saudi Nationaliza-
tion Scheme (Saudization) policy, which aims 
to reduce the number of unemployed Saudi 
nationals and increase their capabilities to 
assume future leading roles in companies across 
the Kingdom. The Company also created a four-
year growth strategy that fosters expansion and 
economic growth through the creation of job 
opportunities in the Saudi private sector.

A Comprehensive Recruitment Campaign
The year saw ACC participate in several direct 
recruitment programs across many of the King-
dom’s regions, collaborating with some of the 
country’s top educational institutions to provide 
opportunities to their graduates: 
• Institute of Public Administration – 

Riyadh: ACC provided training programs for 
the institute’s students and participated in the 
graduate job day fair, attracting its graduates 
to administrative jobs at the Company.

• Taqat Center: The Company utilized research 
conducted by female beneficiaries of “Hafiz”, a 
national employment program.

• King Abdullah Economic City – Jeddah: 
ACC successfully worked to hire graduates 
from the institution 

• Recruitment Channels Bayt.com and 
LinkedIn: ACC looked to widen its search 
scope and attract male and female researchers 
using digital recruitment networks

• The United Kingdom’s Cultural Mission: 
ACC participated in career fair organized by 
Saudi government conducted in London

• Human Resources Development Fund 
(HRDF) ACC partnered with Saudi govern-
ment to quality, train and employ Saudi 
nationals.

ACC also looked to attract graduates from top-tier 
Saudi universities such as Princess Nourah Uni-
versity, King Saud University, Imam Mohammed 

Bin Saud University, Prince Sultan National 
University, Al Yamamah University and Dar Al 
Uloom University. In recognition of its diligent 
efforts to secure job opportunities and promote 
fair employment for Saudi nationals, ACC has 
received awards from several prestigious public 
entities, including King Abdullah Economic City, 
Princess Nourah University, Glowork and the 
Institute of Public Administration. 

Securing Opportunity
ACC’s General Department of Human Resources 
has devised a comprehensive plan to provide 
Saudi nationals with concrete opportunities to 
further their professional development. This plan 
has allowed the Company to provide more gradu-
ates each year with the means to expand on their 
skills and capabilities, securing a future workforce 
capable of elevating its potential. Leveraging its 

partnerships with a variety of institutions, funds, 
universities and NGOs, in FY2020 the Company 
provided its current and potential employees 
with a wide range of training programs, including 
best-in-class management workshops.

As a result of its diligent efforts in securing job 
opportunities and promoting fair employment 
opportunities for Saudi nationals, ACC received 
awards from several reputable public entities, 
including: 
• King Abdullah Economic City: Certificate of 

Appreciation, Career Fair 2018 
• Princess Nourah University: Certificate of 

Appreciation, Career Fair 2018 
• Glowork: Certificate of Appreciation, Career 

Fair 2018 
• Institute of Public Administration: Certificate 

of Appreciation, Career Fair 2019
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A World-Class Management Team
Arabian Centres enjoys a highly qualified management team with 
decades of experience in the commercial real estate and retail industries.

1 Mr. Faisal Al Jedaie has been appointed as the CEO on the 17th May 2020 replacing Mr. Olivier Nougarou who stepped down while remaining as the 
Strategy Advisor to the CEO and Board of Directors

Eng. Salman Abdulaziz Alhokair
Vice Chairman and Managing Director

Previous 
positions:

Co-founder of Alhokair Fashion Retailer, an ACC sister company and the leading 
franchise retailer in Saudi Arabia and beyond. Eng. Al Hokair also holds executive 
positions and board memberships at multiple companies, with interests across 
various industries such as real estate, investment and technology. 

Qualifications: Bachelor’s degree in Architecture, King Saud University, Saudi Arabia, 1990.

Experience: 
Over 28 years of Business experience in investment management, fashion and real 
estate development. He also sits on several Boards of almost 60 companies and sole 
proprietorships.

Mr. Ghassan Abu Mutier 
Chief Development & Delivery Officer

Previous 
positions:

From 2002 to 2015, Mr. Abu Mutier held the position of Supply Chain Group 
Manager at Fawaz Alhokair Real Estate Company. He had previously held posi-
tions at General Electric and at the Saudi Bin Laden Group.

Qualifications: Bachelor’s degree in Geology and Environmental Sciences, Yarmouk Univer-
sity, Jordan, 1997. 

Experience: Over 23 years of experience in Project Management and Architectural design 
fields.

Mr. Jabri Maali
Chief Financial Officer

Previous 
positions:

He previously served in several financial managerial positions at Nuqul Group, 
BDO and Planet Group, a limited liability company established in the United Arab 
Emirates, which operates in the Hospitality and Tourism sector.

Qualifications: Bachelor’s degree in Economics and Accounting, the Jordanian University, 1992.

Experience: Over 28 years of experience in financial management field.

Mr. Faisal Abdullah Al Jedaie1

Chief Executive Officer

Previous 
positions:

rior to joining Arabian Centres, Mr. Al Jedaie held the Managing Director position 
at Fawaz Abdulaziz Al Hokair & Co. And prior to that, Mr. Al Jedaie held the posi-
tion of Chief Executive Manager at NESK Group, which held the franchises of many 
international brands (such as Mango, Stradivarius and Okaidi). He also held the 
position of General Manger of Al Jedaie Men’s Fabrics Company.

Qualifications: Bachelor’s in business administration from King Saud University, Riyadh, Saudi 
Arabia, in 1994.

Experience: 

Mr. Faisal has a distinguished career with a wide-ranging experience in the field of 
Business Management, spanning over 30 years in the field of Retail and Fashion. Mr. 
Al Jedaie is the Chairman of Thobe Al Aseel Company and Al Jedaie Fabrics Co., and 
he also sits on other boards like Fawaz Abdulaziz Al Hokair & Co., and Al Mubark 
Real Estate Fund managed by Arab National Bank.

Mr. Turki Saleh Al Zahrani
Chief Support Services Officer

Previous 
positions:

Mr. Al Zahrani joined the Company in 2009 as its Director of Human Resources. 
He has held several human resources positions in the past including Direc-
tor of Human Resources at Geant Saudi Limited, a limited liability company 
established in the KSA and operating in trade sector, and Head of Human 
Resources and Administration at Al Othaim Holding Company, a closed joint 
stock company established in the KSA and operating in the commercial, real 
estate and industrial sector.

Qualifications: Bachelor’s degree in Business Administration, King Abdulaziz University, 
Saudi Arabia

Experience: Over 15 years of experience in Human Resources and Administrative Manage-
ment fields.
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2 Mr. Mubarak Al Enazi has been appointed to this position in June 2020, replacing Mr. Jamil Karmoul who stepped down entirely from ACC 3 Mr. Khalid Al Janahi has been appointed to this position in June 2020, replacing Mr. Mohamed Balbaa who stepped down entirely from ACC

Mr. Francois Kanaan
Chief Digital and Marketing Officer

Previous 
positions:

He most recently served as VP Marketing and Communications at Meraas Holding in 
Dubai and previously held the post of Deputy Director of Marketing and Communica-
tions at Aldar Properties in Abu Dhabi. He honed his corporate communications skills 
while working in blue-chip communications firms such as JWT and DDB Worldwide.

Qualifications: Bachelor’s degree in Business Administration from Universite La Sagesse, Beirut, Leba-
non, 1992

Experience: 

Over 25 years of experience in corporate marketing and a demonstrated track record of 
expertise in working with mega public-private real estate developments. His background 
includes work in corporate communications, digital transformation, brand develop-
ment and destinations marketing.

Mr. Mubarak Enzai2

Operations Sector Director

Previous 
positions:

Prior to appointing him as the Operations Sector Director, Mr. Mubark held the 
position of Tenant Relations Manager in Arabian Centres Company. He also held 
many other positions previously in the Company, such as Central Regional Man-
ager, Business Unit Manger (Annakheel Mall Riyadh), Quality Assurance Manager.

Qualifications:
Bachelor’s in literature from King Saud University, Riyadh, in 2000. Diploma in 
Business Communication from Berlitz in 2012. And an Advanced PMP Certification 
obtained in 2019.

Experience: Over 18 years of experience in Leasing and Operations, as he started his career with 
Al Hokair Group in 2002.

Mr. Khaled Al Janahi3

Leasing Sector Director

Previous 
positions:

Mr. Al Janahi held several positions in Real Estate Development and Financial 
advisory fields. Prior to joining Arabian Centres Co. he held the position as 
Leasing Director at SHUROOQ (Investment and Development Authority of 
Sharjah), and prior to that he was employed by MERAAS Dubai as Manager of 
Retail Leasing, also he worked as Consultant in the Financial Advisory in Ernst 
& Young Bahrain.

Qualifications: Master’s in Business Administration from University of Incarnate Word in 
2011, and Bachelor’s in Business Finance from University of Texas in 2010.

Experience: Over 8 years of experience in Retail Leasing, Real Estate Development and 
Financial Advisory.

Mr. Naji Fayad 
Internal Audit Director

Previous 
positions:

Prior to joining ACC, Mr. Fayad spent a decade at Arabia Insurance Company, a 
Lebanon-based joint-stock company where he served in many positions including 
Director of Internal Audit, Chief Financial Officer and acting Chief Risk Officer. Mr. 
Fayad was also Audit Director at Deloitte and Touche, Canada.

Qualifications:

Master’s degree in Business Administration from the American University of Beirut; 
Postgraduate degree in Public Accounting from McGill University, Canada; he’s also 
a Chartered Accountant (CA), a Certified Internal Auditor, a Certified Information 
Systems Auditor and a Certified Risk Management Auditor.

Experience: Over 20 years of experience in Internal Audit, Internal control and compliance 
management.
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4 Mr. Faris Al Gahtani has been appointed to this position in June 2020, replacing Mr. Rayan Al Karawi who stepped down entirely from ACC

Mr. Faisal Al Wazzab
Legal Affairs Director & BoD Secretary

Previous 
positions:

Previously worked at Al Rajhi Bank as Head of Legal Consultancy / AGM for legal affairs 
at the Governance & Legal group, with more than 15 years of experience.

Qualifications:

MBA Candidate, Kelley School of Business, Master of Law (LLM) from Maurer School of 
Law at Indiana University, High diploma in Law from Institute of Public Administration, 
and a Bachelor’s Degree in Shari’a, Islamic Law, from Shari’a School at Imam Muhammed 
IBN Saud Islamic University.

Experience: Over 15 years of legal practice with expertise in Banking and Corporate.

Mr. Adbullah Al Harbi
Information Technology Director

Previous 
positions:

Mr. Al Harbi held many positions in different sectors of Government, ICT, Banking and 
Manufacturing in leading Saudi organizations such as National Information Centre, 
SBM, Alrajhi Bank and Advanced Electronics Company.

Qualifications:

Master of Science in Information Systems Management from De Montfort University 
in UK, a Bachelor of Science in Computer Information Systems from Applied Sciences 
Private University in Jordan, and an Associate Degree in Programming from College of 
Communication and Information in Riyadh.

Experience: 

Over 10 years of experience in IT, Business and Corporate Strategy. He has previous 
experience and strong knowledge in ERP Systems, Business Applications, Project & 
Portfolio Management Systems, Business Relationship Management, Business Analysis 
and IT-Business Strategy

Mr. Faris Al Gahtani4

Head of Investor Relations

Previous 
positions:

Prior to joining Arabian Centres Company, Mr. Al Gahtani held the position of 
Investor Relations Manager in Dur Hospitality Company. And prior to that, Mr. 
Faris held the position of Investor Relations Team Leader at Zain Saudi Arabia. He 
also held couple of positions at KPMG Saudi Arabia over five years, where the last 
position was Senior Financial Analyst.

Qualifications: Bachelor’s in Finance from King Fahad University of Petroleum & Minerals, Dhah-
ran, Saudi Arabia, in 2006.

Experience: Over 13 years of experience in the fields of Investor Relations, Financial Advisory, 
Public Relations, Corporate Governance
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Performance
Arabian Centres’ performance in FY2020 
underscores the resilience of the Company’s 
business model, demonstrates the extent of its 
market leadership and underscores the merits 
of its growth strategy.



Performance  // Management Discussion and Analysis

Management Discussion 
and Analysis

Summary Income Statement (SAR Mn) FY2020 FY2019 % Change
Total Revenue 2,197.30 2,176.40 1.00%
Gross Profit 1,438.40 1,393.90 3.20%
Gross Profit Margin 65.50% 64.00% 1.4 pts
Net Profit 642.6 804.1 -20.10%
Net Profit Margin 29.20% 36.90% -7.7 pts
Key Profitability Metrics
EBITDA 1,625.50 1,480.71 9.80%
EBITDA Margin 74.00% 68.00% 5.9pts
EBITDAR2 1,625.50 1,709.00 -4.90%
EBITDAR Margin 74.00% 78.50% -4.5 pts
FFO3 959.8 1,100.80 -12.80%
FFO margin 43.70% 50.60% -6.9 pts
Key Operational Metrics
Total GLA (Mn sqm) 1.214 1.086 11.80%
Period-End Occupancy Rate LFL 
(across 19 malls only) 93.10% 93.40% -0.3 pts

Average Footfall (Mn) 110.7 108.7 1.80%

1  It should be noted that the annual comparison of EBITDA figures is not like-for-like, as the EBITDA figure for FY2019 is inclusive 
of pre-IFRS rent expense.

2  Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, amortisation and rent. EBITDAR is a measure of profitability which normalizes for 
the effects of the adoption of IFRS16 and the consequent recognition of a depreciation expense on right-of-use assets as opposed to 
a rent expense. 

3  Fund from operations: net profit for the year plus depreciation of investment properties and PP&E minus write-off of investment 
properties, if applicable.

4 It should be noted that the EBITDA figure for FY2019 is inclusive of pre-IFRS rent expense.
5  Fund from operations: net profit for the year plus depreciation of investment properties and PP&E minus write-off of investment 

properties, if applicable. 

COVID-19 Impact
Arabian Centres’ results were materially impacted 
by the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic 
during the period. Shopping centres house a high 
concentration of public-facing institutions and 
activities and are frequently required to cease 
operations when authorities assess an ongoing 
risk to public health. On 16 March 2020, ACC tem-
porarily closed all of its shopping centres in the 
Kingdom in compliance with a government direc-
tive. Pharmacies and supermarkets operating on 

ACC premises were exempted from closing given 
their classification as essential businesses and 
continued to operate throughout the period. At 
this time, the government imposed a nationwide 
curfew and considerable constraints on mobility.

With the exception of Makkah Mall, ACC’s shop-
ping centres began to reopen on a partial basis 
beginning 26 April 2020, when the government 
announced an easing of the nationwide curfew 

for the holy month of Ramadan and permitting 
the resumption of certain commercial activities 
from 09:00 to 17:00. During this period, ACC’s 
shopping centres operated in accordance with 
updated Ministry of Health guidelines regarding 
practice in the areas of public health and safety. 
Comprehensive health and safety measures were 
strictly implemented, including mandatory tem-
perature checks and distribution of face masks 
and hand sanitizer at centre entrances, as well as 
additional social distancing measures enforced 
at retail units and elsewhere. Entertainment 
facilities, cinemas, beauty salons and clinics and 
food and beverage outlets remained closed for 
the duration of this period. The Eid Al-Fitr holiday 
immediately following Ramadan saw the govern-
ment reimpose a 24-hour nationwide curfew from 
23 to 27 May with an eye to preventing large social 
gatherings which might result in the further 
spread of COVID-19.

The Company partially reopened its shopping 
centres on 28 May 2020, with premises operating 
from 06:00 to 15:00 to 30 May. From 31 May to 20 
June, operating hours were extended to 06:00 to 
20:00 and food and beverage units were permit-
ted to receive dine-in orders while following 
precautionary guidelines. Makkah continued to 
face stricter restrictions during the period, while 
Jeddah saw a reinstatement of containment mea-
sures and the suspension of dine-in orders from 6 
June to 20 June on account of an uptick of critical 
cases in the city. 

From 06:00 on 21 June 2020, all curfew measures 
and restrictions on mobility were fully lifted by 
the government across all cities and regions 
of the Kingdom. All commercial activity in the 
Kingdom has been allowed to resume on a nor-
malized basis. From this date, all ACC shopping 
centres began to operate regularly and observe 
normal, pre-COVID working hours while main-
taining comprehensive health and safety mea-
sures at all premises.

Financial and Operational Highlights
• Total revenues climbed 1.0% y-o-y and 

decreased by 2.0% on a like-for-like (LFL) 
basis, booking SAR 2,197.3 million for FY2020. 

• Gross profit recorded SAR 1,438.4 million 
in FY2020, an increase of 3.2% y-o-y, yield-
ing a 1.4 percentage-point improvement in 
the gross profit margin (GPM) to 65.5% for 
the year. 

• EBITDA4 increased by 9.8% y-o-y in FY2020 
to SAR 1,625.5 million, with the EBITDA 
margin expanding by 5.9 percentage points to 
74.0%. 

• EBITDAR declined by 4.9% y-o-y in FY2020, 
recording SAR 1,625.5 million with a 4.5 
percentage-point reduction to the EBITDAR 
margin in FY2020. 

• Net profit decreased by 20.1% y-o-y in 
FY2020, booking SAR 642.6 million for the 
year. ACC’s net profit margin (NPM) con-
tracted by 7.7 percentage points in FY2020, 
recording 29.2%. 
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• Funds from operations (FFO)5 fell by 12.8% 
y-o-y to SAR 959.8 million in FY2020, with 
the FFO margin declining by 6.9 percentage 
points to 43.7%. 

• Total CAPEX outlays on shopping centres in 
ACC’s construction pipeline registered SAR 
256.5 million during FY2020.

• As part of its capital optimization strategy, 
in Q3-FY2020 ACC successfully carried out 
a comprehensive debt refinancing trans-
action comprising (i) a senior unsecured 
Shari’ah compliant Sukuk offering of USD 500 
million (equivalent to SAR 1.9 billion) and (ii) 
senior secured Ijara and Murabaha dual cur-
rency term facilities of USD 1.2 billion (SAR 
4.5 billion) and a senior secured dual cur-
rency revolving Murabaha facility of USD 200 
million (SAR 0.75 billion) with a lengthened 
tenor and improved pricing conditions.

• Net debt6 recorded SAR 5,970.1 million at 
year-end FY2020 (31 March 2020) versus 
6,090.0 million as of 9M-FY2020 (31 Decem-
ber 2020) and SAR 6,283.4 million at year-end 
FY2019 (31 March 2019).

• ACC’s portfolio included 21 shopping cen-
tres at year-end FY2020, with total GLA up 
11.8% y-o-y to 1.2 million sqm.

• Like-for-like period-end occupancy (across 
19 malls only) recorded 93.1% as of 31 March 
2020, down slightly from the rate of 93.4% 
recorded in FY2019 due to the allocation of 
additional space to cinemas during the year. 

• Approximately 110.7 million visitors were 
welcomed during FY2020, up from 108.7 
million during FY2019, displaying ACC’s con-
tinued market dominance.

• ACC renewed 2,044 leases during FY2020, 
representing 98.0% of leases due to expire 
during FY2020.

• COVID-19 relief program – Arabian Centres 
has offered all tenants a waiver on contractual 

base rent and service charges for a period of 
six weeks from 16 March 2020. 

Financial and Operational Review
Revenues
Total revenue for FY2020 came in at SAR 2,197.3 
million, up 1.0% from the SAR 2,176.4 million 
booked in FY2019. In LFL terms, revenues were 
down 2.0% y-o-y. Net rental revenue climbed 1.6% 
y-o-y during the year, booking SAR 2,005.9 million 
in FY2020. Meanwhile, media sales rose by 1.8% 
y-o-y to reach SAR 67.2 million, while utilities and 
other revenue decreased by 8.3% y-o-y to book 
SAR 124.2 million for FY2020. At 91.3%, net rental 
revenue continued to claim the largest share of 
total revenues in FY2020, followed respectively 
by utilities and other revenue and media sales at 
5.7% and 3.1%. Net rental revenue accounted for 
most of ACC’s revenue growth in FY2020, with 
media sales accounting for the remainder.

6 Net debt: financial debts minus cash and cash equivalents.

Throughout the year, ACC reaped the benefits of 
space and yield optimization measures. Improved 
discount policies delivered a weighted average 
discount rate across internal and external ten-
ants of 5.6% (SAR 119.5 million) in FY2020, down 
from 6.8% (SAR 149.0 million) in FY2019. On a 
quarterly basis, however, ACC’s weighted average 
discount rate rose to 11.3% (SAR 59.9 million) 
in Q4-FY2020 from 6.5% (SAR 34.9 million) one 
year previously. This increase was mainly due to 
special discounts offered to tenants following the 
application of a COVID-19 lockdown in the final 
two weeks of Q4-FY2020. 

LFL period-end occupancy rates (across 19 malls 
only) came in at 93.1% at year-end FY2020, down 
from the 93.4% recorded for FY2019. This slight 
decline was driven primarily by the allocation 
of additional space to cinemas during the year. 
Furthermore, an additional 118,000 sqm of GLA 
were inaugurated in FY2020 with the launch 
of U-Walk Riyadh and Nakheel Mall Dammam 
during the second quarter of FY2020. These two 
malls continue to undergo a ramp-up phase in 
leasing, reaching respective pre-letting rates of 

Total Revenue
(SAR Mn)

Occupancy Rates vs. WALT

 WALT (years)      LFL Occupancy (%)

Revenue by Type
(FY2020)

 2,176 

FY2019

FY2019

 2,197 

FY2020

FY2020

97% and 82% at year-end FY2020. ACC renewed 
2,044 lease contracts during FY2020, maintain-
ing a positive lease spread. Almost all leases 
scheduled to expire during FY2020 were renewed 
during FY2020. ACC recorded a weighted average 
lease term (WALT) of 6.4 for FY2020, up from 5.2 
one year previously. For more details, please see 
the Company’s Investor Presentation. 

On 21 May 2020, Arabian Centres announced the 
extension to its tenants of rent relief and support 
packages designed to address the impact from 
COVID-19. ACC has offered all tenants a waiver 
on contractual base rent and service charges for a 
period of six weeks (45 days) from 16 March 2020. 
Tenants whose stores were mandatorily closed by 
government order will also benefit from the rent 
relief program starting from the date of closure 
up to 30 June 2020 or the lifting of closure orders, 
whichever is earlier. Meanwhile, all escalations on 
lease contracts will be suspended for 2020 and 2021.

 Net Rental Revenue ...........................................91%

 Utilities & Other Revenue .................................. 6%

 Media Sales ........................................................... 3%

5.2

93.4%

6.4

93.1%
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EBITDA 
EBITDA for FY2020 recorded SAR 1,625.5 million, 
an increase of 9.8% y-o-y, yielding a 5.9 percent-
age-point expansion in the EBITDA margin to 
74.0%. Enhanced profitability at the EBITDA level 
stems from a sustained improvement in gross 
profitability, itself boosted by the adoption of 
IFRS 16 beginning in Q1-FY2020. Under IFRS 16, 
the Company recorded a depreciation expense on 
right-of-use assets amounting to SAR 159.6 mil-
lion at year-end FY2020, in addition to an interest 
expense on lease liabilities amounting to SAR 
134.5 million. ACC’s EBITDAR, which normalizes 
for the effects of IFRS 16, was down 4.9% y-o-y to 
record SAR 1,625.5 million, reflecting the effects 
of the COVID-19 closures implemented during 
the final two weeks of Q4-FY2020. The EBITDAR 
margin declined by 4.5 percentage points to regis-
ter 74.0% for FY2020.

Depreciation Expense
Depreciation of investment properties booked 
SAR 286.4 million in FY2020, up by 11.5% y-o-y. 
Arabian Centres consolidated two new major 
investment properties beginning in Q2-FY2020, 
with the launch of U-Walk and Nakheel Mall 
Dammam. Depreciation of right-of-use assets 
recorded to SAR 159.6 million for the year, bring-
ing total depreciation charges in FY2020 to SAR 
446.1 million.

Finance Charges
ACC booked finance charges of SAR 351.3 million 
in FY2020, down 20.1% y-o-y against the SAR 439.5 
million recorded at year-end FY2019. This decrease 
reflects one-time transaction costs of SAR 125.2 
million booked during the previous financial year 
following the completion of a refinancing trans-
action where an amount of SAR 59.9 million one-
time transaction costs were written-off during 
FY2020. FY2020 saw Arabian Centres complete its 
inaugural offering of Shari’ah-compliant Sukuk, 
valued at USD 500 million (SAR 1.9 billion) and 
drawing heavy interest from international inves-
tors. The transaction also saw ACC secure USD 1.2 
billion (SAR 4.5 billion) in Ijara/Murabaha term 
facilities and a revolving Murabaha facility of USD 
0.2 billion (SAR 0.75 billion), embedding a length-
ened tenor and improved pricing conditions into 
ACC’s debt structure. Proceeds from the transac-
tion were utilized in refinancing ACC’s SAR 7.2 
billion facility. Arabian Centres benefitted heavily 
from the enhanced credit terms provided by this 
refinancing transaction and has seen a significant 
reduction in secured debt as a proportion of the 
Company’s total debt. This left the Company with 
the financial flexibility required to weather the 
disruptions caused by COVID-19, with the aver-
age maturity of ACC’s debt climbing to 6.5 years 
and no financial obligations coming due over the 
short term. In Q4-FY2020, ACC drew down its SAR 
750 million revolving Murabaha facility as a risk 
management exercise, boosting the Company’s 
liquidity position.

Net Profit
Arabian Centres booked a net profit of SAR 642.6 
million in FY2020, a decrease of 20.1% y-o-y, while 
the net profit margin contracted by 7.7 percent-
age points to record 29.2% for the year. Decreased 
bottom-line profitability reflects an increased 
impairment loss on accounts receivable during 
the year. Impairment loss on accounts receivable 
rose to SAR 119.3 million in FY2020 from SAR 
43.5 million one year previously, with an uptick 
in such impairments seen particularly during the 
final quarter of FY2020. The bottom line was also 
adversely affected by unfavourable base effects, 
stemming from the reversal of a SAR 75.1 mil-
lion zakat provision and a write-off of SAR 125.2 
million in one-time financial charges during the 
third quarter of FY2019. A further SAR 59.9 mil-
lion in one-time financial charges were written off 
during FY2020.

FFO
FFO fell by 12.8% y-o-y to SAR 959.8 million in 
FY2020, with the FFO margin recording 43.7% 
against the 50.6% booked in FY2019. 

EBITDA 
(SAR Mn / margin)

Net Profit 
(SAR Mn / margin)

FFO  
(SAR Mn / margin)

 1,481 

804

 1,101 

68.0%

36.9%

50.6%

 1,626 

643

960

74.0% 29.2%

43.7%

FY2019

FY2019

FY2019

FY2020

FY2020

FY2020

Operating and Pipeline Assets
ACC’s book value of total investment properties, 
representing its investment in 21 operating mall 
developments, malls under construction and raw 
lands for future developments, was SAR 11,356.9 
million at the close of FY2020 on 31 March 2020, 
up from SAR 10,983.8 million as of FY2019. 

Advances paid to contractors, representing 
advances paid by the Company for its projects 
under construction, stood at SAR 614.4 million as 
of 31 March 2020, up from SAR 604.9 million as of 
31 March 2019. 

The Company made total CAPEX outlays of SAR 
256.5 million on new developments in FY2020. 
Near-term pipeline projects have been the pri-
mary focus of ACC’s capex expenditure, with a 
total estimated budget of SAR 1.9 billion allocated 
to such projects, up from SAR 1.8 billion at the 
close of the previous quarter due to an increase in 
the total value of ACC’s contract for Khaleej Mall. 
Having inaugurated U-Walk Riyadh and Nakheel 
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Mall Dammam during the Q2-FY2020, bringing 
online an additional 118,000 sqm in GLA, ACC’s 
near-term pipeline now includes two new malls 
(Khaleej Mall and Jeddah Park) and an extension 
to its existing Nakheel Mall Riyadh. These devel-
opments are projected to add c. 197,000 sqm in 
new GLA in the near term, of which c. 129,000 sqm 
relate to Jeddah Park, a key pillar of ACC’s pipe-
line. Meanwhile, the Company continues to make 
progress with its medium-term project pipeline, 
which includes five additional developments that 
will add c. 358,000 sqm of GLA. ACC’s medium-
term pipeline carries a total development cost 
of SAR 6.6 billion, including land costs relating 
to Mall of Arabia Riyadh and Jawharat Jeddah, of 
which SAR 3.4 billion had been incurred at year-
end FY2020. 

Net Debt
ACC’s total interest-bearing debt recorded SAR 
7,016.0 million as of 31 March 2020, including 
a CPLTD7 of SAR 45.0 million, compared to SAR 
6,741.0 million as of 31 March 2019. The Company 

recorded a Loan-to-Value ratio of 32% as of 31 
March 2020, almost stable at the level recorded 
one year previously. Following ACC’s drawdown 
of its revolving credit facility, cash and cash equiv-
alents on the Company’s balance sheet stood at 
SAR 1,045.7 million as of 31 March 2020, up from 
SAR 457.7 million as of 31 March 2019.

Net debt recorded SAR 5,970.1 million in FY2020, 
down from SAR 6,283.4 million at the close of 
the previous year. Meanwhile, ACC’s net debt to 
EBITDA ratio registered 3.7x for FY2020 against 
4.2X at the close of FY2019. 

Equity
Total shareholders’ equity came in at SAR 5,984.3 
million as of 31 March 2020 against SAR 5,064.8 as 
of 31 March 2019.

ACC’s Board of Directors approved the distribu-
tion of an interim dividend of SAR 0.90 per share, 
or 9.0% of the shares’ par value, totalling SAR 
427.5 million distributed over 475 million shares.

Highlights of Last Five Years’ Financial Statements

FY2018

4.1

FY2018

26%

FY2019

4.2

FY2019

31%

FY2020

3.7

FY2020

32%

Net Debt / EBITDA Loan to Value 

7 Current portion of long-term debt.

Summary Statement of Balance Sheet (As of 31 March)

SAR mn 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
Current Assets 649.8 830.5 992.2 1,450.9 2,079.3
Non-Current Assets 9,618.4 11,075.7 11,482.3 11,914.9 15,882.2
Total Assets 10,925.2 11,906.2 12,474.6 13,365.8 17,961.5
Current Liabilities 1,554.0 1,205.4 1,529.0 1,467.7 1,024.2
Non-Current Liabilities 4,075.2 5,819.0 6,040.6 6,833.4 10,953.0
Total Liabilities 5,629.1 7,024.4 7,569.6 8,301.0 11,977.2
Shareholders’ Equity 4,665.3 4,880.7 4,901.1 5,064.7 5,983.0
Non-Controlling Interests 0.7 1.0 3.9 0.1 1.3
Total Equity 4,666.0 4,881.7 4,905.0 5,064.8 5,984.3
Total Liabilities and 
Equity 10,295.2 11,906.2 12,474.6 13,365.8 17,961.5

Summary Statement of Income (For the year ended on 31 March)

SAR mn 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
Revenue  1,852.2  2,123.8  2,160.5  2,176.4  2,197.3 
Cost of Revenue  (563.0)  (810.8)  (795.4)  (782.5)  (758.9)
GROSS PROFIT  1,289.2  1,313.0  1,365.1  1,393.9  1,438.4 
OPERATING PROFIT  1,127.9  1,135.3  1,104.8  1,176.8  1,132.9 
PROFIT BEFORE 
ZAKAT  1,033.0  977.0  819.1  748.8  662.9 

Zakat  (33.0)  (27.2)  (32.7)  55.3  (20.3)
PROFIT FOR THE 
YEAR  1,000.0  949.8  786.4  804.1  642.6 
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“A fundamental portion of ACC’s ESG efforts lies within its 
commitment to reduce the effects of its operations on the 
environment.”

Performance  //  Sustainability

Sustainability 
In line with the Kingdom’s vision to grow sustainable practices across 
public and private sector operations, ACC continues to increase 
its adherence to environmental, social and governance (ESG) 
practices that will further its development and contribute to national 
advancement and wellbeing. 

Informed, responsible and sustainable 
approaches to business operations have become 
part and parcel of ACC’s strategy for long-term 
business growth. The Company is an advocate of 
the undeniable role that private sector compa-
nies play in boosting sustainability agendas and 
their implementations. It is constantly improving 
operational frameworks across its facilities to 
maintain its provision of high-quality services 
while increasing positive contributions and 
reducing negative impact. The Company is also 
planning to align with the Smart KSA vision and 
inaugurate its digital transformation strategy 
across all of its shopping centres, using global 
standards and best practices of international 
shopping centres as its frame of reference. 

ESG Strategy
Next to addressing environmental concerns that 
usually accompany wide-scale operations, ACC 
remains mindful of its duty towards the Saudi 
community, and heavily invests in the rising gen-
eration of young Saudi nationals. It is committed 
to providing equitable access to well-paying and 
fulfilling employment across its operations, and 
enhancing workplace environments for safe, 
productive and satisfying results. 

Moreover, and as it continues to grow its frame-
works and policies for sustainable business prac-
tices, ACC also maintains a robust governance 
framework by which it directs and supervises 
its operations. The Company relies on its Board 

of Directors and board committees to oversee 
operations, with the welfare of all stakeholders 
in mind, maintain tight internal controls, ensure 
compliance with all relevant laws and regula-
tions and govern the Company through risks and 
against corruption. 

Through its combined efforts and dedication to 
improvements, ACC looks to lead by example 
in the way of innovative sustainable progress. It 
will continue to expand on its efforts and push 
for increasingly positive results on operational, 
environmental and social fronts. 

Environment
A fundamental portion of ACC’s ESG efforts lies 
within its commitment to reduce the effects of 
its operations on the environment. Its efforts 
culminated in FY2020 as it continued to uphold 
and expand on initiatives that help it reduce its 
carbon footprint, maximize the efficient use 
of renewable and recyclable energy sources, 
optimize the use of raw construction materials, 
improve its waste management and disposal 
policies and structures, among others. As it 
continues to expand its efforts in ESG compli-
ance, ACC will parallelly improve its policies 
to increase its mitigation of health and safety 
concerns using global best practices and by way 
of specialized consultants. The Company will 
also launch a comprehensive recycling program 
across all of its shopping centres and businesses, 
further boosting its efforts in reducing its waste, 

and will continue exploring strategies by which 
it can reduce its negative impact on surrounding 
communities.

Recycling Rainwater
ACC took an innovative approach to utilizing 
natural resources and installed a utility network 
for rainwater gathering, which feeds into a cen-
tralized collection tank. The system has largely 
minimized municipal water use across all of the 
Company’s present shopping centres, and is uti-
lized for irrigation and cooling purposes across 
premises. Meanwhile, condensate water is cen-
trally collected by air conditioning equipment 
and utilized for domestic uses and irrigation.

Wastewater Management
To optimize its wastewater management sys-
tems and optimize the use of recyclable waste 
materials, ACC is inaugurating a two-pipe waste 
management system at its Mall of Arabia pipeline 
project. The system segregates into a soil-water 
through soil pipe (SP) type and a wastewater 
through waste pipe (WP) type, ensuring that 
wastewater/grey water collected through the 
WP is effectively gathered in a centralized tank to 

undergo treatment that will produce non-pota-
ble water fit for use as irrigation water, flushing 
water and other industrial uses.

Energy Efficiency
ACC’s ACC’s strategy to improve energy use 
across its operations is multi-pronged. The 
Company has installed Building Management 
Systems (BMS) across its entire portfolio of shop-
ping centres to efficiently monitor its power and 
lighting systems, heating, ventilation and air 
conditioning (HVAC) systems, plumbing and fire-
fighting networks and its state-of-the-art security 
systems. This has allowed the Company the 
capacity to decrease its power use and increase 
the efficient allocation of energy resources. 
Additionally, the Company’s installation of wide-
ranging low u-value skylights across its shopping 
centres has decreased heat penetrating through 
their structures, thereby decreasing the need for 
excess cooling and preserving more energy. In 
further adoption of alternative, renewable energy 
sources, ACC will also be installing photovoltaic 
solar panels across all upcoming pipeline proj-
ects for power storage purposes, acting as an 
emergency reserve in case of contingencies.  
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Air Quality
Paying thorough attention to the air quality 
within its shopping centres and the gases it 
omits through its ventilation systems remains 
among ACC’s top priorities. Next to executing 
infrastructure and building designs that take 
regulation-compliant ventilation into accounts, 
the Company mandates the installation of ecol-
ogy air filtration systems as a standard practice 
across all its food and beverages business units. 
As such, it is considered compliant with the 
Environmental Protection Agency (EPA)’s index 
for air quality standards, which aims to reduce 
harmful pollutants and protect public health.

Construction Standards
As it continues to grow its operations, ACC has 
increased its efforts in using environmentally 
friendly construction materials that largely 
decrease the potential of contamination. Build-
ing materials selected must score low volatile 
organic compound (VOC) figures, and plumb-
ing materials must be lead-free, in compliance 
with the International Association of Plumbing 
and Mechanical Officials’ (IAPMO) standards 
and regulations.

Social

Investing in Education
Arabian Centres is fully committed to leveraging 
the power of education to help young Saudis 
carve pathways to professional development, ful-
filling employment and healthy living. In FY2020, 
the Company cooperated with a variety of insti-
tutions to provide a range of training programs to 
local youth across its operational footprint:
• A full professional experience program was 

developed to provide Saudi students across 
different communities where ACC operates 
with specialized summer trainings on job 
preparedness 

• A Mall Proof of Concept program was delivered 
to young Saudi entrepreneurs. The program 
offers insight on experimental entrepreneurial 

concepts in shopping centres and dedicates 
platforms and spaces for Saudi startups that 
enable them to present new ideas.

• Collaboration efforts between Al-Eradah 
Society for Talented Special Needs Individuals 
took place as ACC provided spaces inside all 
of its shopping centres to host the society’s 
events and activities.

• In cooperation with the General Authority 
of Sports and Ministry of Health Awareness, 
multiple programs and events were hosted in 
ACC’s shopping centres to promote welfare 
and improved quality of life.

Upcoming Developments
To further capitalize on its accomplishments and 
continue to propel the Kingdom’s youth forward, 
ACC plans to continue investing in human capital 
on the long-term. On a Company-wide scale, ACC 
will set up soft loan programs in cooperation with 
local banks, as well as saving funds for employees 
to increase financial assistance and boost job secu-
rity. It will also build an internal training program 
for the benefit of all its employees and will develop 
a comprehensive professional experience program 
that offers specialized internship opportunities 
to Saudi students at its businesses and shopping 
centres. Moreover, and to empower Saudi females 
aspiring for leadership positions, the Company 
plans on inaugurating the Applied Diploma Pro-
gram for Excellent Leadership (LEED), in coopera-
tion with local and international business admin-
istration universities and colleges in the Kingdom. 

Governance
ACC operates its business under the guidance 
of its Board of Directors (BoD) and specialized 
board committees, who support the Company 
in upholding regulations set by the Saudi Capital 
Market Authority (CMA) and relevant provisions 
of the Saudi Companies’ Law. They also ensure 
that the Company continuously evolves to meet 
standards of international best practices in gov-
ernance, compliance, anti-corruption efforts and 
risk-mitigation strategies and planning.  

ACC’s BoD continues to showcase a stead-
fast commitment to best-in-class corporate 
governance. As such, a corporate governance 
manual was prepared in line with CMA regu-
lations and benchmarked against globally-
recognized governance frameworks and 
practices. The manual was approved by the 
Company’s general assembly and includes the 
following policies, procedures and regulations:
• Board of Directors policies and procedures;
• Board of Directors conflict of interest 

policy;
• Board of Directors committee principles 

and policies;
• Monitoring, assessment, internal and exter-

nal audit and internal control policies;
• General Assembly policies;
• Dividend distribution policy;
• Shareholder communication policies;
• Disclosure and transparency policies;
• Audit Committee charter;
• Nomination and Remuneration Committee 

charter; and
• Corporate social responsibility policy.

Governance Framework
Complementary to its governance manual, 
ACC’s BoD established a framework that 
regulates the various relationships between 
the Board, executive directors, shareholders 
and other stakeholders. It established rules 
and procedures that facilitate decision-making 
processes, with the objective of protecting the 
rights of all stakeholders while championing 
credibility, fairness, competitiveness and trans-
parency. It also encourages upholding policies 
and procedures to maintain arm’s length trans-
actions with related parties. Additionally, and 
most prominently, the framework ensures that 
the Board acts in the best interest of sharehold-
ers while presenting a clear, fair and transparent 
view of the financial and operational condition 
of the Company. In FY2020, compliance mea-
sures to avoid conflicts of interest and compet-
ing interests were also instated. 

FY2020 Developments
ACC saw through a variety of planned governance 
initiatives in FY2020. Two new board members 
joined the ranks of the company’s BoD, bringing 
a wealth of industry and leadership experience 
to its supervisory operations. The Board now 
comprises a majority of non-executive members 
and four independent directors, in compliance 
with CMA regulations. Additionally, the BoD 
established a Corporate Governance Committee 
— comprised of three independent members — 
during the year. It has been tasked with develop-
ing and recommending suitable corporate gov-
ernance guidelines, and proposing amendments 
as needed and in line with changes in national 
and international governance regulations. The 
new Corporate Governance Committee works in 
conjunction with the already existing board com-
mittees, including the Audit Committee and the 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee.

A more detailed overview of ACC’s corporate 
governance frameworks and policies is pro-
vided in the “Governance & Disclosures” sec-
tion from this report. 
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Risks and Mitigates
Arabian Centres faces the conventional set of risks associated 
with the large-scale development and operation of modern retail 
spaces. The Company’s strategy fully accounts for the presence 
of such risks and is calibrated to mitigate them as the business 
continues to expand. Below is a list of some of the major risks 
facing the Company. 

COVID-19 and its impact on the business: In 
light of the current precautionary and preventive 
measures undertaken by the authorities in the 
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia to prevent the spread 
of COVID-19 and given the inability to determine 
or know the duration of these precautionary 
and preventive measures, it is difficult for ACC 
to determine the size and extent of the financial 
impact at this stage.

ACC assures that its financial soundness indica-
tors are strong and able to stand the current eco-
nomic challenges. In addition, the Royal decrees 
and the Government initiatives to support the 
private sector will limit the economic and finan-
cial impact resulting from the precautionary and 
preventive measures taken to limit the spread of 
COVID-19.

In compliance with the last instructions from 
the authorities, ACC’s shopping centres have 
resumed operations according to the announced 
working hours while complying with the required 
precautionary and preventive measures.

Impact of visitor traffic and spending on the 
Company’s business: ACC’s revenues depend 
on rental income from tenants, whose ability 
to pay rent, and in some cases the level of the 
rent they pay, depends on their sales to visitors. 
Accordingly, the Company’s malls are subject to 
the inherent risks relating to the retail sector. 
Retail sales are subject to rapid and occasionally 

unpredictable changes in the behavior of visitors 
to the Company’s malls, which may be influenced 
by general economic conditions including levels 
of income, general confidence in the economy 
and changes in consumer preferences and demo-
graphics.

Arabian Centres’ business strategy includes 
measures for maintaining and driving continu-
ous increases in visitor footfall. These include 
but are not restricted to the rollout of cinema 
complexes across the Company’s portfolio of 
malls, the introduction of innovative lifestyle 
concepts, continuous improvement in the qual-
ity of services offered to visitors and the hosting 
of cultural and entertainment events at ACC 
destinations.

Reliance on Key Account tenants: The Com-
pany’s revenues are dependent on certain Key 
Account tenants. The Company’s Key Account 
tenants are considered strategic partners and are 
generally significant retail groups with large port-
folios of well-known brands, which lease multiple 
retail units across several of the Company’s malls. 
ACC works to mitigate this risk by maintaining 
an optimal mix of internal to external tenants 
and continuously negotiating enhanced lease 
terms with the Company’s tenants.

Impact of delays in rent collection on the 
Company’s working capital: ACC ordinarily 
collects rent in advance of the relevant rental 

period. Rent collected in advance is used by the 
Company to finance its short-term operational 
and working capital requirements. While the 
company administers a strong collections and 
receivables management function, there can be 
no assurance that rental income can be collected 
as and when it falls due. In light of this, Arabian 
Centres maintains strong relationships with 
the Kingdom’s premier financial institutions, 
enabling it to acquire working capital financing at 
competitive rates. The Company also selectively 
taps into global debt capital markets to meet its 
business needs and optimize its capital structure.

Risks associated with the Company’s 
renewal of its existing leases and entry into 
new leases: ACC’s ability to sustain its revenue 
depends in part on its ability to renew tenancy 
agreements with its existing tenants and/or to 
re-lease any vacant spaces to new tenants. To 
mitigate this risk, Arabian Centres maintains a 
highly proactive approach to portfolio manage-
ment. The Company typically pre-leases 50% 
of units at its recently opened malls approxi-
mately three to six months prior to launch, 
giving it clarity and enabling it to maintain a 
positive lease spread.
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Dependence on related party transactions: A 
central feature of the Company’s business model is 
its close, ongoing business relationships with a vari-
ety of related parties. In particular, the Company 
has entered into a large number of contracts with 
related parties for the design and construction of its 
malls, the leasing of commercial spaces to internal 
tenants and the provision of certain maintenance 
services for the operation of its malls. All contracts 
between the Company and related parties follow-
ing the adoption of the Related Party Transactions 
Policy are subject to the parameters of such policy. 
Related party transactions are regulated by relevant 
Saudi laws and regulations relevant to entering 
such transactions.

Operational risks and unexpected interrup-
tions to the Company’s business: ACC’s success 
depends significantly on the continuous, trouble-
free operation of its malls. The operation of the 
Company’s malls is prone to a number of risks, 
including severe weather conditions, physical 
damage to buildings, power failures, breakdowns, 
failure or substandard performance of equip-
ment, the possibility of work stoppages, criminal 
incidents, civil unrest, natural disasters, fires and 
explosions and other potential hazards associated 
with operating the malls.

Arabian Centres continuously develops its ability 
to keep essential functions up and running through 
unforeseen events and to recover with minimum 
downtime. The Company’s Board of Directors work 
to implement world-class business continuity stan-
dards, helping the Company maintain resiliency in 
responding rapidly to interruptions.

Concentration of the Company’s revenues 
among certain of its largest malls: The financial 
performance of the Company depends significantly 
on the financial performance of its major malls 
(being Mall of Arabia – Jeddah, Salaam Mall – 
Jeddah, and Mall of Dhahran). The occurrence of 
any adverse factors in any of these malls, includ-
ing a reduction in footfall, occupancy rates and/

or rental values, an increase in operating costs, or 
the occurrence of incidents beyond the control of 
the Company such as force majeure events, among 
other things, would adversely and materially affect 
the Company’s business, results of operations, 
financial condition and prospects.

Given this risk, the Company leverages its propri-
etary retail database to optimize the balance of 
Super-Regional, Regional and Community offerings 
across its portfolio. The Company’s business strat-
egy involves continuous geographic expansion, 
with several malls and extensions in the near- and 
medium-term project pipelines projected to sig-
nificantly increase ACC’s total GLA and dilute the 
contribution of any one centre to the Company’s 
consolidated top line. 

Risks associated with litigation involving the 
Company: The Company, its directors and/or 
its officers may become involved in lawsuits and 
regulatory actions with several parties including 
tenants, suppliers, employees, competitors, visitors, 
regulatory authorities or owners of lands leased to 
the Company for its operations. The Company may 
also be the claimant in such lawsuits or litigation.

Risks associated with expansion plans: The 
successful implementation of ACC’s expansion 
plans will depend on several factors including, 
most importantly: (1) the availability of sufficient 
financing on acceptable terms, (2) the Company’s 
ability to complete the design and construction 
of new malls on time and on budget, (3) the Com-
pany’s ability to attract tenants to its new malls 
and to achieve the expected occupancy rates and 
rental revenues within the timeframes set out 
in its business plan, (4) the Company’s ability to 
successfully manage its expansion and ongoing 
operations in its new malls, including monitoring 
new operations, controlling costs and maintain-
ing effective quality and service control and (5) 
favorable economic, regulatory and market condi-
tions including oversupply and/or a reduction in 
demand for retail space.
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Governance & Disclosures

Corporate Governance Report

1. Corporate Governance 
Overview
The key sources of corporate governance for the Company are the corporate governance regulations 
issued by the Capital Market Authority (CMA), certain provisions of the Companies’ Law and corpo-
rate governance best practices in the Kingdom.

The framework under the corporate governance regulations regulates the various relationships 
between the Board, executive directors, shareholders and other stakeholders, by establishing rules 
and procedures to facilitate decision-making processes with the objective of protecting the rights of 
shareholders and other stakeholders, and promoting the values of credibility, fairness and transpar-
ency in the Company’s conduct.

These regulations, which entail the implementation of a clear and transparent disclosure process 
ensure that the Board acts in the best interests of the shareholders, and presents a clear and fair view 
of the financial condition of the Company and the results of its operations. The Company considers 
ongoing compliance with these regulations to be an important factor in its continued success.

Company’s Organizational Structure

Key Corporate Governance Requirements
The key corporate governance requirements that the Company complies and will comply with are set 
out in the CMA Corporate Governance Regulations. These cover the following broad areas:

• General shareholder rights (Articles 4 to 9);
• Rights relating to General Assembly Meetings (Articles 10 to 15);
• The Board of Directors: formation, responsibilities, competencies, procedures and training (Articles 

16 to 41);
• Conflicts of interest (Articles 42 to 49);
• Company committees (Articles 50 to 72); and
• Internal controls, external auditors, company reports and policies, and various other matters 

(Articles 73 to 98).

Corporate Governance Manual and Internal Policies
The Board of Directors approved the Corporate Governance Manual of the Company on 29/12/1438H 
(corresponding to 20 September 2017).

The Company’s Corporate Governance Manual was made to comply mainly with the CMA and Com-
panies’ Law requirements and includes the following internal policies and charters:
• Board of Directors policies and procedures;
• Board of Directors conflict of interest policy;
• Board of Directors committee principles and policies;
• Monitoring, assessment, internal and external audit and internal control policies;
• General Assembly policies;
• Dividend distribution policy;
• Shareholder communication policies;
• Disclosure and transparency policies;
• Audit Committee charter; 
• Nomination and Remuneration Committee charter; and
• Corporate social responsibility policy.

Corporate Governance Compliance
The Company applies all the provisions contained in the Rules of Corporate Governance issued by the CMA, 
except what is highlighted in the next section below. In particular, a majority of the Company’s Board of 
Directors, which, as of 31 March 2020, consists of eight (8) directors, three (3) of which are non-executive 
members, and the Board has four (4) independent directors, which is more than one third of the Board of 
Directors (Article 16). In addition, the shareholders adopted the cumulative voting method in relation to 
the appointment of directors at the General Assembly meeting held on 03/01/1441H (corresponding to 30 
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September 2019). This method of voting gives each shareholder voting rights equivalent to the number of 
shares he or she holds. Each shareholder has the right to use all of his or her voting rights for one nominee, 
or to divide their voting rights between his or her selected nominees without any duplication of votes. This 
method increases the chances of minority shareholders appointing their representatives to the Board by 
exercising their cumulative voting rights in favor of a single candidate (Article 8).

In addition, in compliance with the Corporate Governance Regulations: 
• The Ordinary General Assembly of the Company formed the Audit Committee, consisting of three 

non-executive members (two of them independent), on 18/03/1439H (corresponding to 6 Decem-
ber 2017). The Board of Directors, at its meeting held on 21 June 2020, approved the renewal of the 
term of the current members of the Audit Committee for the remaining term of the Board, subject 
to General Assembly final approval.

• The Board of Directors formed the Nomination and Remuneration Committee on 29/12/1438H (corre-
sponding to 20 September 2017). The Board of Directors, at its meeting held on 21 June 2020, approved 
the renewal of the term of the current members of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee for the 
remaining term of the Board, subject to General Assembly final approval.

• The Company prepared the Audit Committee charter and the Nomination and Remuneration Commit-
tee charter, which were approved by the Board in its session held on 29/12/1438H (corresponding to 20 
September 2017) and recommended to the Ordinary General Assembly for ratification. 

• The Ordinary General Assembly ratified the committee charters during its session held on 18/03/1439H 
(corresponding to 6 December 2017) (Articles 50 and 54). The minutes of all meetings were prepared, 
reviewed and approved by the Board of Directors (Article 53).

• In accordance with Article 94 of the CMA Corporate Governance Regulations, the board established 
governance rules for the Company in accordance with the provisions of these Regulations in the 
form of a Governance Manual (referred to in a separate section under “Corporate Governance 
Manual and Internal Policies”). 

• As per Article 95 of the CMA Corporate Governance Regulations, the board also formed a Corporate 
Governance Committee, on 19 May 2019 and assigned to it the competencies stipulated in Article (94) of 
these Regulations. The Committee responsibilities include overseeing any matters relating to the imple-
mentation of governance.

• In addition, management has established a number of management committees to oversee certain func-
tions within the Company and assist the Board in ensuring effective supervision and operation of the 
Company’s different departments. The management committees are not formal committees of the Board 
and include the following: (i) Executive Management Committee; (ii) Development Committee; (iii) Asset 
Management Committee; (iv) IT & Technology Committee; and (v) Tendering Committee.

• Furthermore, the Company has put in place measures to comply with provisions that deal with conflicts 
of interest and competing interests (Articles 71, 72 and 73 of the Companies’ Law and Articles 44 and 
46 of the Corporate Governance Regulations). The Company will comply with the requirements of these 
provisions when it seeks the approval of the General Assembly for Related Party Transactions. 

• Pursuant to the Corporate Governance Regulations, each Board Member is prohibited from voting on a 
decision taken by the Board or the General Assembly with respect to transactions and contracts that are 
executed for the company’s account, if he/she has a direct or indirect interest in those transactions or 
contracts (Article 44(b)(1)). The Companies’ Law sets out similar requirements to the effect that a director, 
without prior consent from the ordinary General Assembly, may not have any direct or indirect interest 
in transactions or contracts made for the account of the Company. The director also has an obligation to 
inform the Board of Directors of any personal interest he may have in such transactions or contracts and 

may not participate in voting on resolutions to be adopted in this respect by the Board of Directors or 
shareholder assemblies. The Chairman of the Board of Directors must inform the General Assembly of any 
transactions and contracts in which any director has a direct or indirect personal interest and accompany 
that with a special report from the Company’s external auditor (Article 71).

• In accordance with its Related Party Transactions Policy, the Company has interpreted the requirements 
of the Companies’ Law broadly, such that approval of the General Assembly is required whenever any 
entity in which a Director has a direct or indirect form of ownership enters into a transaction with the 
Company. Likewise, the Company has interpreted the scope of the voting restrictions in both the Com-
panies’ Law and the Corporate Governance Regulations broadly, such that not only is the relevant Board 
Member restricted from voting on the resolution to approve the relevant transaction, but that any share-
holder which is controlled by that director or a relative of that director (such as Abdul Majeed Abdulaziz 
Al Hokair, who is the brother of Fawaz Abdulaziz Al Hokair and Salman Abdulaziz Al Hokair) would also 
be restricted from voting at the relevant General Assembly. The Corporate Governance Regulations also 
provide that if a member of the Board wishes to engage in a business that may compete with the company 
or any of its activities, he or she must notify the Board of the competing businesses and abstain from 
voting on the related decision in the Board meeting and general assemblies. The Chairman of the Board 
must inform the ordinary General Assembly of the competing businesses that the member of the Board 
proposes to be engaged in, and the authorization of the Company’s General Assembly must be obtained 
for the member to engage in the competing business (Article 46). The Companies’ Law sets out similar 
requirements (Article 72).

What provisions have/have not been implemented of the Corporate Governance 
Regulations, with justifications
The Company applies all the provisions contained in the Rules of Corporate Governance issued by the 
CMA, except the provisions below:

Type Article Clause Justification

Mandatory Article 17 Para-
graph b)

The General Assembly shall 
elect the Board Members for 
the term stated in the Com-
pany’s bylaws, provided that 
such term shall not exceed 
three years. Board Members 
may be re-elected, unless 
otherwise provided for in the 
Company’s bylaws.

Under the bylaws, the Board of 
Directors shall be comprised of 
nine (9) directors appointed by 
the General Assembly by means of 
cumulative voting. 

As of 31 March 2020, the Board of 
Directors is comprised of eight (8) 
directors. The Company is actively 
seeking to fill the remaining one 
Board vacancy by canvassing 
potential candidates who are of a 
high calibre and are likely to add 
value to the Board. The Company 
has identified a number of quality 
candidates and anticipates com-
pleting its review and appointment 
process soon. Any decision to 
make further appointments will be 
determined primarily by the antici-
pated contribution the candidates 
will make to the Board.
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Type Article Clause Justification

Guiding Article 32 Para-
graph b)

The Board shall convene no 
less than four meetings per 
year, and no less than one 
meeting every three months.

As per the Company bylaws the 
board should meet two times 
per year minimum. The Board 
met three times during the past 
financial year (2019-2020) but will 
contemplate increasing its meet-
ing frequency in the future.

Guiding Article 39 Training:
The Company shall pay 
adequate attention to the 
training and preparation of 
the Board Members and the 
Executive Management, and 
shall develop the necessary 
programmes.

The Company provides training 
programs for the executive man-
agement and also plans to provide 
training to board members in the 
future noting that current board 
members possess the necessary 
capabilities and expertise.

Guiding Article 41 The Board shall develop, 
based on the proposal of the 
Nomination Committee, the 
necessary mechanisms to 
annually assess the perfor-
mance of the Board, its mem-
bers and committees and the 
Executive Management using 
key performance indicators.

The Board of Directors did not 
develop such mechanisms yet. 
There are plans to develop it in the 
future.

Guiding Article 70 Composition of the Risk 
Management Committee:
The Company’s Board shall, 
by resolution therefrom, form 
a committee to be named 
the “Risk Management Com-
mittee”. The Chairman and 
majority of its members shall 
be Non-Executive Directors. 
The members of that commit-
tee shall possess an adequate 
level of knowledge in risk 
management and finance.

The Board of Directors did not 
see the need to establish a Risk 
Management Committee during 
the year. Instead, the company 
established a Risk Management 
department in May 2019 and hired 
a capable Risk Manager. It should 
be noted that the Audit Commit-
tee is overseeing the Risk Manage-
ment functions in accordance 
with its charter.

Guiding Article 87 Social Responsibility:
The Ordinary General Assem-
bly, based on the Board rec-
ommendation, shall establish 
a policy that guarantees a bal-
ance between its objectives 
and those of the community 
for purposes of developing the 
social and economic condi-
tions of the community.

Arabian Centres has participated 
in many activities during the year 
under the supervision of the exec-
utive management. This article 
will be considered in the future.

Type Article Clause Justification

Guiding Article 88 Social Initiatives:
The Board shall establish 
programs and determine the 
necessary methods for pro-
posing social initiatives by the 
Company.

Currently, executive management 
takes responsibility and will take 
this article into consideration in 
future.

2. Board of Directors
a. Composition of the Board of Directors 
Under the bylaws, the Board of Directors shall be comprised of nine (9) directors appointed by the 
General Assembly by means of cumulative voting. The Companies’ Law, corporate governance regula-
tions, the Company’s bylaws and corporate governance manual determine the duties and responsibili-
ties of the Board of Directors. The term of the first appointed Board of Directors is for a period of five 
(5) years. Subsequently, the term of the Board of Directors will be of three (3) years.

The term of the current Board is five Gregorian years from the date of its formation on 19 June 2017 and 
shall end on 18 June 2022. The Board of Directors as of 31 March 2020 comprised of eight (8) directors 
as depicted in the following table: 

No. Name Position Status Date of 
Appointment*

1 Mr. Fawaz Abdu-
laziz Al Hokair

Chairman of the Board Non-Executive 19 Jun 2017

2 Eng. Salman 
Abdulaziz Al 
Hokair

Vice-Chairman and Manag-
ing Director 

Executive 19 Jun 2017

3 Dr. Abdulrahman 
Abdulaziz Al 
Tuwaijri

Director Independent 19 Jun 2017

4 Eng. Mohamed 
Abdullah Al 
Khorayef

Director Independent 19 Jun 2017

5 Eng. Kamel Badih 
Al Qalam

Director Non-Executive 19 Jun 2017

6 Dr. Bernard 
Higgins

Director Independent 06 Dec 2017

7 Eng. Omar Abdu-
laziz Al Moham-
mady

Director Non-Executive 30 Sep 2019

8 Dr. Omar Hadir Al 
Farisi

Director Independent 30 Sep 2019

9 Vacant Director - -

* This means the appointment by the Shareholders General Assembly.

The current Secretary of the Board of Directors is Mr. Faisal Mohammed Al Wazzab.
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b. Board of Directors Biographies
1) Mr. Fawaz Abdulaziz Al Hokair 
(Chairman of the Board of Directors):

Current 
Executive 
Positions:

General Manager of Fawaz Abdulaziz Alhokair & Partners Holding Co., and the General 
Manager of many other Saudi and non-Saudi companies and establishments (Balad Al 
Riyadah Est.; Fawaz Abdulaziz Alhokair & Partners Real Estate; Al Farida Real Estate Co.; 
Fawaz Abdulaziz Alhokair & Co. Enterprises Co.; FAS Construction Co.; Al Farida Infor-
mation Technology & Communications Co.; Al Bawarij International for Development 
& Real Estate Investment Co.; Fawaz Abdulaziz Alhokair and Sons Holding Co.; Al Farida 
Al Oula Real Estate Est.). He is also the Chairman of FAS Saudi Holding Co., in addition 
to his membership of many other Saudi and non-Saudi companies.

Previous 
Executive 
Positions:

Chairman of the Board of Fawaz Abdulaziz Alhokair and Partners Co.; General 
Manager of Advanced Retail International Co.; General Manager at International 
Fashion Concepts Co.; also he was the General Manager of many other Saudi 
companies that he either owns or established such as Al-Waheedah Equipment 
Co.; Wahba Trading Co.; Eqar Al Arab Global Co.; Eqar Al Watan Co.; Retail Group 
Egypt; Al-Waheedah Equipment General Trading Co.

Academic 
Qualifica-
tions:

• Bachelor’s degree in Economics and Accounting from Loughborough University, 
United Kingdom, in 1989.

• Honorary Doctorate in Economics and Accounting from Loughborough University, 
United Kingdom, in 2008.

Experience: Over 30 years of business experience in investment management, fashion and real 
estate development. He also sits on several other boards and committees.

2) Eng. Salman Abdulaziz Al Hokair
(Vice-Chairman of the Board of Directors, and the “Managing Director”):

Current 
Executive 
Positions:

General Manger of Salman Abdulaziz Alhokair & Sons Holding Co.; General Manager 
of Salman Alhokair Engineering Consulting Firm; General Manager of Kids Space Co.; 
General Manager of FAS Spain Est.; General Manager of Tadarees Najd for Trading Est. 
He also sits on several boards of other Saudi and non-Saudi companies such as Food 
and Entertainment Co.; Fawaz Abdulaziz Alhokair & Partners Holding Co.; Al Farida 
Real Estate Co.; FAS Construction Co.; Fawaz Abdulaziz Alhokair & Partners for Real 
Estate Projects Co.; Al Farida IT & Comms. Co.; FAS Holding for Hotels Co.; Al Bawarij 
International for Development & Real Estate Investment Co.; FAS Real Estate Co.; Billy 
Games Co.; Coffee Centres Trading Co.; Fantastic Bakery Co.

Previous 
Executive 
Positions:

Chairman of the Board of Fawaz Abdulaziz Al Hokair and Partners Co.; General 
Manager of Al-Jeel Clothing Trading Co. He also sat on several boards of other Saudi 
and non-Saudi companies like Al-Waheedah Equipment Co.; Wahba Trading Co.; 
Retail Group Egypt; Advanced Retail International Co.; Al-Waheedah Equipment 
General Trading Co.

Academic 
Qualifica-
tions:

Bachelor’s degree in Architecture from King Saud University, KSA, in 1990.

Experience: Over 28 years of business experience in investment management, fashion and real 
estate development. He also sits on several boards of almost 60 companies and sole 
proprietorships.

3) Dr. Abdulrahman Abdulaziz Al Tuwaijri
(Member of the Board of Directors “Independent”):

Current 
Executive 
Positions:

Owner of Dr. Abdulrahman Al Tuwaijri Economic Consulting Firm.

Previous 
Executive Posi-
tions:

Chairman of the Board of Middle East Financial Investment Co.; Chairman of the 
Board of the Saudi Capital Market Authority (CMA); Member of the Board of Saudi 
Aramco Co.; General Secretary of the Supreme Economic Council; Managing Direc-
tor and the representative of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia in the International Mon-
etary Fund (IMF); Economic Consultant at the Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC); 
Assistant Professor in the Department of Economics at King Saud University.

Academic 
Qualifications:

• Bachelor’s degree in Economics from King Saud University, KSA, in 1978.
• Doctorate in Economics from Iowa State University, United States of America, in 

1985.
Experience: Over 42 years of experience in business and economic consultancy. He also sits on 

several boards of Saudi companies.

4) Eng. Mohamed Abdullah Al Khorayef
(Member of the Board of Directors, and Chairman of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee 

“Independent”)

Current Execu-
tive Positions:

Chief Executive Officer at Al Khorayef Group Company.

Previous Execu-
tive Positions:

Managing Director of Al Khorayef Water and Power Technology Company.

Academic 
Qualifications:

Bachelor’s degree in Industrial Engineering from King Saud University, KSA, in 1988.

Experience: Over 32 years of experience in the field of financial investments, industrial, water and 
energy and petroleum Sector. He also sits on several boards of Saudi companies.

5) Eng. Kamel Badih Al Qalam
(Member of the Board of Directors, and member of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee 

“Non-Executive”):

Current Execu-
tive Positions:

Consultant at Fawaz Abdulaziz Alhokair and Co. Real Estate.

Previous 
Executive Posi-
tions:

Architect at the Federal Highway Administration in the Department of Transporta-
tion, United States.

Academic 
Qualifications:

• Bachelor’s degree in Architecture from the University of North Carolina, United 
States of America, in 1988.

• Master’s degree in Architecture from the University of North Carolina, United States 
of America, in 1990.

Experience: Over 32 years of experience in the field of architectural engineering, real estate develop-
ment and business development. He also sits on several boards of Saudi and non-Saudi 
companies.
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6) Dr. Bernard Higgins
(Member of the Board of Directors, and Chairman of the Audit Committee “Independent”):

Current 
Executive 
Positions:

Executive Chairman of Buccleuch Group; Strategic Adviser to First Minister 
Scotland on the building of the Scottish National Investment Bank; Chairman of 
Scottish Government’s Advisory Group on Economic Recovery post-COVID-19; 
Chairman of the National Galleries of Scotland. Chairman of Sistema Scotland; 
Chairman of Kyckr; Chairman of AAB Wealth (Anderson Anderson & Brown 
Wealth); Chairman of Forster Chase Advisory Limited; Chairman of The Fine Art 
Society (London and Edinburgh); Non-Executive Director at Glasgow Life; Trustee 
of Burrell Renaissance; Visiting Professor at University of Strathclyde; Honorary 
Professor at Edinburgh Business School and Heriot-Watt University; Honorary 
Professor at University of Edinburgh; Honorary Professor at University of Glasgow; 
Doctor of University at University of Glasgow; Court Member of Finance Committee 
at University of Glasgow; Commissioner of Infrastructure Commission of Scotland; 
Trustee of Edinburgh International Culture Summit.

Previous 
Executive 
Positions:

CEO of Tesco Bank and Group Strategy Director at Tesco; Executive Director at 
HBOS; Chairman at Sainsbury Bank; CEO of RBS Retail; Non-Executive Director at 
Citizens Group (USA); Non-Executive Director at RBS Insurance; General Manager 
(Sales) at Standard Life.

Academic 
Qualifica-
tions:

• First Class Honours Degree, Mathematics, University of Glasgow, United Kingdom.
• Fellow of the Faculty of Actuaries at the University of Glasgow, United Kingdom.
• Fellow of the Chartered Institute of Bankers in Scotland, United Kingdom.
• Fellow of the Royal Society of Edinburgh, United Kingdom.
• Doctor of the University, University of Glasgow, United Kingdom.

Experience: Banking, insurance, actuarial studies, investment and university academia.

7) Eng. Omar Al Mohammady
(Member of the Board of Directors “Non-Executive”):

Current Ex-
ecutive Posi-
tions:

Group CEO at Fawaz Al Hokair Group Co.

Previous 
Executive 
Positions:

CEO at Batic Investments & Logistics; Head of Middle East for Dome Capital; 
Member of the Advisory Board of Alchemist Trading; CEO at Goldman Sachs Saudi 
Arabia; Head of KSA Investment Banking at Barclays Capital; Executive Director of 
Private Equity and Direct Investments at MerchantBridge.

Academic 
Qualifications:

Bachelor’s in Chemical Engineering and Economics from Vanderbilt University, 
United States, in 2002.

Experience: Over 18 years of experience in investment banking, consultancy, logistics and oil 
and gas industries.

8) Dr. Omar Al Farisi
(Member of the Board of Directors, and Chairman of Governance Committee “Independent”):

Current 
Executive 
Positions:

Managing Member of Diyala Advisors, LLC, in New York. 

Previous 
Executive 
Positions:

Board Member and Chairman of the Investment Committee of the Savola Group 
Company; Board Member and Chairman of the Risk Committee of Gulf Interna-
tional Bank, B.S.C.; Investment banker with Credit Suisse First Boston in New York; 
Corporate attorney at the law firm of White & Case in New York.

Academic 
Qualifica-
tions:

• Juris Doctorate from Columbia University School of Law, USA.
• Bachelor of Arts in Economics from the University of Notre Dame, USA.

Experience: Banking and finance, law, governance, risk management.

c. Board of Directors Current and Previous Memberships in Other Companies:

No.
Board 
member 
name

Names of the 
companies in 
which the mem-
ber of the Board 
of Directors is a 
director or man-
ager of its current 
board of directors

Inside 
the 
King-
dom/ 
outside 
the 
King-
dom

Legal 
entity 
(listed/ 
unlisted/ 
limited 
liability)

Names of the 
companies 
in which the 
member of 
the Board of 
Directors was 
a director 
or manager 
of its previ-
ous board of 
directors

Inside the 
Kingdom/ 
outside the 
Kingdom

Legal 
Entity 
(listed/ 
un-
listed/ 
limited 
liabil-
ity)

1
Mr. Fawaz 
Abdulaziz Al 
Hokair

FAS Saudi Holding 
Co. Inside Unlisted Akar Al Watan 

Co. Inside LLC

Egyptian Centers 
for Real Estate 
Development.

Outside Unlisted Akar Al Arab 
Int’l Co. Inside LLC

Saudi Medical Co. Inside Unlisted

Al Faridah 
Information 
Technology and 
Communica-
tion

Inside LLC

Marakez for Real 
Estate Investment, 
Egypt.

Outside Unlisted Wahbah 
Trading Co. Inside LLC

Arabian Falcon 
Limited, UK. Outside LLC

FAS for 
Construction 
Co.

Inside LLC

Focus Hospitality, 
UAE. Outside LLC - - -

Al Azizia Panda 
United Co. Inside Unlisted - - -
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No.
Board 
member 
name

Names of the 
companies in 
which the mem-
ber of the Board 
of Directors is a 
director or man-
ager of its current 
board of directors

Inside 
the 
King-
dom/ 
outside 
the 
King-
dom

Legal 
entity 
(listed/ 
unlisted/ 
limited 
liability)

Names of the 
companies 
in which the 
member of 
the Board of 
Directors was 
a director 
or manager 
of its previ-
ous board of 
directors

Inside the 
Kingdom/ 
outside the 
Kingdom

Legal 
Entity 
(listed/ 
un-
listed/ 
limited 
liabil-
ity)

FAS Holding, Italy. Outside Unlisted - - -
FAS Real Estate 
Development, UK Outside LLC - - -

Fawaz Abdulaziz 
Alhokair & Sons 
Holding Co.

Inside LLC - - -

Najmat Al Taqa Co. Inside LLC - - -
Fawaz Alhokair 
& Co Real Estate 
(“FARE”)

Inside LLC - - -

Al-Farida First Real 
Estate Inside LLC - - -

Advanced Interna-
tional Retail Inside LLC - - -

Al-Bawarij Int’l 
for Development 
and Real Estate 
Investment

Inside LLC - - -

2
Mr. Salman 
Abdulaziz Al 
Hokair

FAS Saudi Holding 
Co. Inside Unlisted FAS Hotels 1 Inside LLC

Focus Hospitality 
Co. Outside LLC FAS Hotels 2 Inside LLC

Saudi Medical Co. Inside Unlisted FAS Hotels 4 Inside LLC
Egyptian Centers 
for Real Estate 
Development Co.

Outside Unlisted FAS Hotels 5 Inside LLC

Marakez for Real 
Estate Investment 
Co. 

Outside Unlisted Manzli Co. Inside LLC

Arabian Falcon Co., 
UK. Outside LLC FAS for Hotels 

Holding Inside LLC

FAS Renewable 
Energy Co., Egypt. Outside Unlisted Coffee Centres 

Co. Inside LLC

ECHO Engineering 
Co., UK. Outside LLC

Al Faridah 
Information 
Technology and 
Communica-
tion

Inside LLC

FAS Holding Co., 
Italy. Outside Unlisted Arabic Pies Co. Inside LLC

FAS Real Estate 
Development Co., 
UK.

Outside LLC Ice Cream 
Express Co. Inside LLC

No.
Board 
member 
name

Names of the 
companies in 
which the mem-
ber of the Board 
of Directors is a 
director or man-
ager of its current 
board of directors

Inside 
the 
King-
dom/ 
outside 
the 
King-
dom

Legal 
entity 
(listed/ 
unlisted/ 
limited 
liability)

Names of the 
companies 
in which the 
member of 
the Board of 
Directors was 
a director 
or manager 
of its previ-
ous board of 
directors

Inside the 
Kingdom/ 
outside the 
Kingdom

Legal 
Entity 
(listed/ 
un-
listed/ 
limited 
liabil-
ity)

J&A International 
Consultants Co., 
UK.

Outside LLC Cake Palace Co. Inside LLC

FAS Energy Co., 
UK. Outside LLC Milk Taste Co. Inside LLC

Tadarees Najad Inside LLC First Pie Co. Inside LLC
Salman Alhokair 
Engineering 
Consulting Office 
(ECHO)

Inside LLC Wonderful 
Bakery Co. Inside LLC

FAS Energy Co. Inside LLC Fashion Retail 
Co. Inside LLC

Home Furniture Inside LLC
FAS for Retail 
and Commer-
cial Investment 
Co.

Inside LLC

Skill Games Co. Inside LLC
Food & 
Entertainment 
Co.

Inside LLC

Farida 2 Real Estate Inside LLC Manar Rental 
Co. Inside LLC

Etqan Company for 
Managing Facilities Inside LLC - - -

Vehicle Centers Inside LLC - - -
FAS Technology Inside LLC - - -
FAS El Miyya Inside LLC - - -
Oyoon El Basateen Inside LLC - - -
FAS Hotels 3 Inside LLC - - -
Erth Rasekh Inside LLC - - -
FAS Energy Inside LLC - - -
Salman Al Hokair 
& Sons Inside LLC - - -

Billy Games Inside LLC - - -
Riyadh Hotels Inside LLC - - -
Kids space Inside LLC - - -
SAAF International Inside LLC - - -
FAS Real Estate Inside LLC - - -
Makarem Interna-
tional Inside LLC - - -

Fawaz Al Hokair 
& Partners for 
Limited Projects

Inside LLC - - -

Al Fareedah Real 
Estate Inside LLC - - -
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No.
Board 
member 
name

Names of the 
companies in 
which the mem-
ber of the Board 
of Directors is a 
director or man-
ager of its current 
board of directors

Inside 
the 
King-
dom/ 
outside 
the 
King-
dom

Legal 
entity 
(listed/ 
unlisted/ 
limited 
liability)

Names of the 
companies 
in which the 
member of 
the Board of 
Directors was 
a director 
or manager 
of its previ-
ous board of 
directors

Inside the 
Kingdom/ 
outside the 
Kingdom

Legal 
Entity 
(listed/ 
un-
listed/ 
limited 
liabil-
ity)

Fawaz Al Hokair & 
Partners Holding Inside LLC - - -

Arkan Salam Real 
Estate Inside LLC - - -

Al Waheedah 
Equipment Inside LLC - - -

Arab Centres Inside LLC - - -
FAS for Construc-
tion Inside LLC - - -

Al Dahran Trading 
Centres Inside LLC - - -

Aziz Trading 
Centres Inside LLC - - -

Al Noor Centres Inside LLC - - -
Yarmouk Centres Inside LLC - - -
Dalica Arabian 
Saudi Co. Inside LLC - - -

Albawarij Intr. 
for Development 
and Real Estate 
Investment

Inside LLC - - -

Sala Entertainment 
Co. Inside LLC - - -

Generation Clothes Inside LLC - - -
Oyoun Al Raed Inside LLC - - -
Erth Mateen Inside LLC - - -
FAS First Invest-
ment and Develop-
ment of Real Estate

Inside LLC - - -

Innovative models Inside LLC - - -
Al Fareedah 2 Real 
Estate Inside LLC - - -

High-end tastes Inside LLC - - -
Fawaz Abdulaziz 
Alhokair and 
Partners for 
Trading.

Inside LLC - - -

Iskan Wa Akthar 
Co. Inside LLC - - -

First Chicken Co. Inside LLC - - -
Al Dammam 
Centre Inside LLC - - -

Al Malaz Centre Inside LLC - - -

No.
Board 
member 
name

Names of the 
companies in 
which the mem-
ber of the Board 
of Directors is a 
director or man-
ager of its current 
board of directors

Inside 
the 
King-
dom/ 
outside 
the 
King-
dom

Legal 
entity 
(listed/ 
unlisted/ 
limited 
liability)

Names of the 
companies 
in which the 
member of 
the Board of 
Directors was 
a director 
or manager 
of its previ-
ous board of 
directors

Inside the 
Kingdom/ 
outside the 
Kingdom

Legal 
Entity 
(listed/ 
un-
listed/ 
limited 
liabil-
ity)

Al Hamra Centre Inside LLC
Al Yasmeen Centre Inside LLC
Fashion Retail Co. Inside LLC

3
Abdulrah-
man 
Abdulaziz Al 
Tuwaijri

Al Hanaf United 
Trading Co. Inside LLC Saudi Aramco Inside Listed

United Mining 
Investment Co. Inside LLC MEFIC Inside Unlisted

4
Eng. 
Mohamed 
Abdullah Al 
Khorayef

Abdullah Ibrahim 
Alkhorayef & Sons 
Co.

Inside Unlisted
Saudi Paper 
Manufacturing 
Company

Inside Listed

Alkhorayef Group 
Co. Inside Unlisted Saudi Steel Pipe 

Company Inside Listed

Alkhorayef Water 
& Power Technolo-
gies Co.

Inside Unlisted - - -

Alkhorayef Com-
mercial Co. Inside LLC - - -

Alkhorayef 
Industries Co. Inside LLC - - -

Alkhorayef 
Petroleum Co. Inside LLC - - -

RAKHA    for   
Agricultural   
investment              & 
Development Co.

Outside Unlisted - - -

Arabian Agri-
cultural Services 
Company

Inside Unlisted - - -

5
Eng. Kamel 
Badih Al 
Qalam

FAS Entertainment 
Co., Canada. Outside LLC

Amlak Interna-
tional for Real 
Estate Financ-
ing Company

Inside LLC 

Egyptian Centers 
for Real Estate 
Development Co., 
Egypt.

Outside Unlisted
FAS Entertain-
ment Co., 
Canada.

Outside LLC

Escan Plus Co. Inside LLC Milanosesto 
S.P.A., Italy Outside LLC

J&A International 
Consultants Co., 
UK.

Outside LLC
J&A Interna-
tional Consul-
tants Co., UK.

Outside LLC
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No.
Board 
member 
name

Names of the 
companies in 
which the mem-
ber of the Board 
of Directors is a 
director or man-
ager of its current 
board of directors

Inside 
the 
King-
dom/ 
outside 
the 
King-
dom

Legal 
entity 
(listed/ 
unlisted/ 
limited 
liability)

Names of the 
companies 
in which the 
member of 
the Board of 
Directors was 
a director 
or manager 
of its previ-
ous board of 
directors

Inside the 
Kingdom/ 
outside the 
Kingdom

Legal 
Entity 
(listed/ 
un-
listed/ 
limited 
liabil-
ity)

Echo Development 
Co., Italy. Outside LLC Echo Develop-

ment Co., Italy. Outside LLC

Echo Architecture 
Co., UK. Outside LLC - - -

FAS Holding Co., 
Italy. Outside Unlisted - - -

Marakez for Real 
Estate Investment 
Co., Egypt.

Outside Unlisted - - -

Ibtikar Renewable 
Energy for Invest-
ment Co.

Inside LLC - - -

Falcon Shopping 
centres Co., Italy. Outside LLC - - -

6 Dr. Bernard 
Higgins

Buccleuch Group 
Co., UK. Outside Unlisted Tesco Bank Outside listed

Kyckr Co., Austra-
lia. Outside Listed - - -

Sistema Scotland  Outside Unlisted - - -
AAB Wealth 
(Anderson 
Anderson & Brown 
Wealth) 

Outside Unlisted - - -

7
Eng. Omar 
Al Moham-
mady

Saudi FAS Holding Inside Unlisted
Batic Invest-
ments & 
Logistics 
Company

Inside Listed

Fawaz Abdulaziz 
Alhokair and 
Company (PJSC)

Inside Listed
Al Reef Sugar 
Refinery Co. 
(JSC)

Inside Unlisted

Citi Bank Group Inside Unlisted
Jazan Energy & 
Development 
Co. (PJSC)

Inside Listed

8 Dr. Omar Al 
Farisi Diyala Advisors Outside LLC Savola Group 

Co. Inside Listed

Gulf Interna-
tional Bank Outside Unlisted

d. Board of Directors Meetings 
Meetings Procedures 
The Board of Directors shall meet twice a year at least, upon an invitation from the Chairman. A Board 
meeting shall be quorate only if attended by a majority of the members.

Board meetings may be held by telephone or any other electronic method allowing all of the attending 
members to hear all other attendees, unless otherwise notified. Board resolutions shall be made by 

a majority of the presented or represented Board Members at the meeting. If votes were equal, the 
opinion adopted by the Chairman of the Board shall be accepted.

The Board may adopt resolutions by circulation to all Board Members, unless one Board Member sub-
mits a written request that a meeting be convened for deliberations. Such resolutions shall be adopted by 
a majority of Board Members, with the resolutions laid before the Board at its first subsequent meeting.

Deliberations and resolutions of the Board shall be recorded in minutes to be signed by the Chair-
man, the Directors present and the Secretary. Such minutes shall be entered in a special register to 
be signed by the Chairman and the Secretary.

Board Meetings Held During the Year 
The Board held three meetings during the financial year 2019-2020 as follows:

No. Name 19 May 2019 30 Sept 2019 22 Dec 2019 Total
1 Mr. Fawaz Abdulaziz Al Hokair Present Present Present 3
2 Eng. Salman Abdulaziz Al Hokair Present Present Present 3
3 Dr. Abdulrahman Abdulaziz Al Tuwaijri Present Present Present 3
4 Eng. Mohamed Abdullah Al Khorayef Present Present Present 3
5 Eng. Kamel Badih Al Qalam Present Present Present 3
6 Dr. Bernard Higgins Present Present Present 3
7 Eng. Omar Abdulaziz Al Mohammady NA* Present Present 2
8 Dr. Omar Hadier Al Farisi NA* Present Present 2
9 Vacant - - - -

* Eng. Omar Al Muhammady and Dr. Omar Al Farisi have been appointed by the Board on 24 May 2019 and been approved by the 

Annual Shareholders General Assembly on 30 Sep 2019.

Directors’ Attendance at Shareholders General Assembly Meetings
Three Shareholders General Assembly meetings were held during the fiscal year ending 31 March 2020. 
Below is the attendance log of the Board of Directors at those meetings:

No. Member Name Meetings Dates Total 
Attendance

AGM EGM* EGM*
30/9/2019 27/10/2019 16/3/2020

1 Mr. Fawaz Abdulaziz Al Hokair Present Present - 2
2 Eng. Salman Abdulaziz Al Hokair Present Present - 2
3 Dr. Abdulrahman Abdulaziz Al 

Tuwaijri
Present - - 1

4 Eng. Mohamed Abdullah Al 
Khorayef

Present - - 1

5 Eng. Kamel Badih Al Qalam Present Present Present 3
6 Dr. Bernard Higgins Present - - 1
7 Eng. Omar Abdulaziz Al Moham-

mady
Present Present Present 3

8 Dr. Omar Hadier Al Farisi Present - - 1

* These two Extraordinary General Meetings related to granting the Board with the authority to issue Sukuk. 
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Major Decisions Taken by the Board During the Year:

# Board 
Decision Date Board Decision

1 8 May 2019 To approve the offering of twenty percent (20%) of the company’s 
shares for public subscription, which shall represent ninety-five mil-
lion (95,000,000) ordinary shares, by:

• Selling thirty million (30,000,000) new ordinary shares through an 
increase of the company’s issued capital through the IPO process; 
and

• Selling sixty-five million (65,000,000) existing shares of the currently 
issued capital and applying the price stabilization mechanism at a 
rate of 3% on total company’s share, after the offering.

2 19 May 2019 Appointing of the following gentlemen as members of the Gover-
nance Committee upon the board meeting held on 19 May 2019 and 
after reviewing the recommendation of the Nomination and Remu-
neration Committee: 1- Omar Hadier Al Farisi. 2- Bernard Higgins. 
3- Najm Alzayed, the Committee considered effective from the date 
of the approval of this decision.

3 19 May 2019 Approving on amendments to the company’s governance manual 
and policies.

4 18 Feb 2020 Approving on the recommendation to issuance of up to USD 1 
billion(or its equivalent in any other relevant currency) in aggregate 
principal amount of Shari’ah complaint sukuk, which may be issued 
from time to time either domestically and/or internationally in any 
currency and in a single or multiple issuances (the Sukuk funding). 
Provided that the number and value of any sukuk to be offered, and 
the timing of any issuance of sukuk pursuant to the sukuk funding, 
will be terminated by the BoD based on market conditions and the 
company’s financial conditions, funding requirements and strategy. 
The sukuk funding remains subject to approvals of the relevant 
authorities in accordance with applicable laws and regulations, to 
the approval of the company’s extraordinary general assembly.

e. Interests of Board Members and their Relatives in Shares or Debt Instruments of 
the Company

No. Board Member

Number 
of Shares 

Beginning 
of Year*

% Owner-
ship Begin-

ning of Year

Number of 
Shares End 

of Year

% Owner-
ship End 

of Year

% Change 
During 

the Year

1 Mr. Fawaz Abdulaziz Al 
Hokair

38,000,000 8.00% 38,000,000 8.00% -

2 Eng. Salman Abdulaziz Al 
Hokair

38,000,000 8.00% 38,000,000 8.00% -

3 Dr. Abdulrahman Abdu-
laziz Al Tuwaijri

- - - - -

4 Eng. Mohamed Abdullah 
Al Khorayef

- - - - -

No. Board Member

Number 
of Shares 

Beginning 
of Year*

% Owner-
ship Begin-

ning of Year

Number of 
Shares End 

of Year

% Owner-
ship End 

of Year

% Change 
During 

the Year

5 Eng. Kamel Badih Al 
Qalam

- - - - -

6 Dr. Bernard Higgins - - - - -
7 Eng. Omar Abdulaziz Al 

Mohammady
- - - - -

8 Dr. Omar Hadier Al Farisi - - - - -

Declarations:
1. There is no interest of the Board Members’ relatives in the shares of the Company. 
2. There is no interest of the Board Members and their relatives in the debt instruments of the Company.

* ACC has been listed on the Saudi Stock Exchange on 22 May 2019.

f. Procedures to Inform BoD with Shareholders’ Suggestions
The Board of Directors shall make available to all its members, especially non-executives, legal docu-
ments, financial reports, follow-up reports, future expansion studies, Board of Directors’ reports as 
well as internal rules, procedures, policies and regulations that enable them to carry out their duties 
adequately, additionally including knowledge of shareholders’ proposals and their observations about 
the Company and its performance.

The Company has established an Investor Relations Department that meets all investors’ requests 
and responds to their inquiries. The department then briefs the Chairman of any recommenda-
tions suggested by the shareholders and submits their comments and suggestions to the Board of 
Directors of the Company. Several means are available and accessible to shareholders, including 
telephone and email correspondence.

3. Board Committees  
The Board of Directors has established the committees to improve the management of the Com-
pany. Each committee is required to adopt a charter which sets out its role, powers, responsibili-
ties and meetings procedures for the purpose of discharging its duties.

The following is a summary of the structure, responsibilities and current members of each per-
manent committee:

a. Audit Committee
The implementation of an effective internal control system is one of the responsibilities assigned 
to the Board of Directors. The main task of the Audit Committee is to verify the adequacy and 
effective implementation of the internal control system, and to make any recommendations to 
the Board of Directors that would improve and develop the system to achieve the Company’s 
objectives. The Committee is also responsible for reviewing risk management policies, the 
annual risk report and risk reduction plans, before presenting the same to the Board of Directors. 
The scope of the Committee’s work shall include all actions that enable it to fulfill its functions, 
including:
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• Oversee the Internal Audit Department.
• Review the internal control, financial and risk management systems of the company.
• Review the internal audit reports and follow up on the implementation of corrective measures 

for the recommendations contained therein.
• Recommend to the Board of Directors to appoint the Director of the internal audit depart-

ment and propose his remuneration.
• Review and evaluate internal audit procedures and make recommendations for the improve-

ment thereof.
• Make a recommendation to the Board of Directors to appoint, dismiss, determine the fees and 

ensure the independence of external auditors.
• Review the audit plan with the external auditors and make any observations thereon.
• Review the auditor’s report and his observations on the financial statements and follow up on 

the actions taken in that respect.
• Review the Company’s interim and annual financial statements before submitting them to the 

Board of Directors.
• Review accounting policies and submit recommendations for improvement to the Board of 

Directors.

Audit Committee Members Profile
The Audit Committee consists of three (3) members appointed by the Board of Directors for a 
period of three (3) years. The Chairman and one of the members are independent. 

The following members of the Audit Committee were appointed during the Ordinary General 
Assembly meeting held on 18/03/1439H (corresponding to 6 December 2017) and the Board of 
Directors, at its meeting held on 21 June 2020, approved the renewal of their committee member-
ship for the remaining term of the Board, subject to General Assembly final approval:

Audit Committee Members

# Name Title
1 Dr. Bernard Higgins Chairman (Independent)
2 Mr. Nadim Mustafa Shabsogh Member
3 Mr. Fahad Ibrahim Al Khorayef Member (Independent)

The following is a brief overview of the members of the Audit Committee:

# Name Education Work Experi-
ence

Current Posi-
tions Previous Positions

1 Dr. Bernard 
Higgins

Please refer to Dr. Higgins’ biography in the “Board of Directors Biographies” 
section above.

2 Mr. Nadim 
Mustafa 
Shabsogh

Bachelor’s 
degree in 
Engineering 
from London 
University, 
United 
Kingdom

Master’s in 
Business 
Administra-
tion from the 
University of 
Nottingham, 
United 
Kingdom

Business 
Investment 
and Advi-
sory services

Managing 
Director at 
Mesk Interna-
tional LLC, a 
limited liability 
company 
established in 
the United Arab 
Emirates

Senior Advisor 
to Fawaz 
Alhokair Group

Managing 
Director at 
Broadview 
Strategic 
Partners JLT, a 
limited liability 
company 
established in 
the United Arab 
Emirates

Executive Director at 
Morgan Stanley Interna-
tional

Senior Managing 
Director at Bear Stearns 
International

Vice President at Credit 
Suisse First Boston

3 Mr. Fahad 
Ibrahim 
Al Khorayef

Bachelor’s 
degree in 
Finance from 
King Saud 
University, 
KSA

Financial 
and Business 
Advisory 
Services

Member of 
the Board of 
Saudi Finance 
Company

Chief Risk Officer at 
Maceen Capital

Chief Risk Officer at 
Saudi Finance Company

Export Finance Manager 
at Al Khorayef Group

Manager at Samba 
Financial Group

Audit Committee Meetings
During the year, the Committee held four meetings. The attendance of the committee members for 
these meetings was as follows:

Meeting Date Dr. Bernard Higgins Mr. Nadim Shabsogh Mr. Fahad Al Khorayef

29 May 2019 Present Present Present
27 August 2019 Present Present Present
24 November 2019 Present Present Present
15 March 2020 Present Present Present

The main tasks accomplished during these meetings were as follows:
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1. 1Reviewing the annual and quarterly financial statements of the company, discuss same with 
external auditors and submit recommendations to the Board of Directors for approval.

2. Improving the corporate governance framework and the internal control system.
3. Overseeing the process of nominating external auditors for appointment by the General Assembly. 
4. Following up the implementation of major internal audit recommendations and risk manage-

ment system.
5. Reviewing and approving the Internal Audit annual plan, internal audit charter and the internal 

audit manual.
6. Monitoring and evaluate internal audit performance.

In addition, the Audit Committee confirms that there is no conflict between the recommendations of 
the Audit Committee and the decisions of the Board of Directors, and the Board accepted the recom-
mendations of the Committee on the appointment of the external auditors of the company.

b. Nomination and Remuneration Committee 
The main function of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee is to identify qualified candidates who 
are eligible for Board Membership. The Committee is also responsible for assisting the Board in establishing 
a proper governance system and drafting the necessary policies and procedures. The Committee’s scope of 
work includes all duties designed to enable it to fulfill its functions, including:

• Identifying qualified candidates and nominating them to the Board of Directors.
• Conducting an annual review of Board Membership requirements, which shall include the candidates’ 

capabilities, experience and availability to fulfill their Board responsibilities.
• Reviewing the structure of the Board and proposing required changes to benefit the Company’s interests.
• Determining the strengths and weaknesses of the Board and proposing required changes to benefit the 

Company’s interests.
• Nominating candidates for the positions of Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director, as well as 

nominating committee members for approval by the Board of Directors or the General Assembly.
• Reviewing the approval policies and procedures for Board Membership prior to their adoption, through 

the General Assembly.
• Monitoring the independence of independent Board members and monitoring any conflicts of interest 

on an annual basis.
• Reviewing the preparatory materials and training courses destined to new Board Members.
• Establishing clear policies regarding the remuneration of managers and senior executives.
• Reviewing and proposing plans for the assumption of key executive functions.
• Reviewing and approving the Company’s overall structure of rewards and privileges, which includes 

employment grades, structure of wages and privileges, as well as rewards and incentives associated with 
performance.

• Approving changes to the remuneration of the Chief Executive Officer and recommending changes to 
the remuneration of the Managing Director, as well as the directors and members of the various board 
committees.

• Approving extraordinary remuneration (signing or performance bonuses) for the Chief Executive Officer 
and senior executives.

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee consists of three (3) members appointed by the Company’s 
Board of Directors for a period of three (3) years. During the year, the Committee held two meetings to which 
all members attended.

The Board shall take the necessary measures to enable the Committee to carry out its functions, including 
informing the Committee, without any restrictions, of all data, information, reports, records, correspon-
dences or other matters which the Committee deems necessary.

The following members were appointed to the Nomination and Remuneration Committee during the Board 
of Directors’ meeting on 25/02/1439H (corresponding to 14 November 2017):

Nomination and Remuneration Committee Members

# Name Title

1 Eng. Mohamed Abdullah Al Khorayef Chairman (Independent)
2 Mr. Nadim Mustafa Shabsogh Member
3 Eng. Kamel Badih Al Qalam Member

The following is a brief overview of the members of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee:

# Name Education Work Expe-
rience

Current 
Positions

Previous 
Positions

1 Eng. Mohamed Abdullah Al Khorayef Please refer to Eng. Al Khorayef ’s biography in the 
“Board of Directors Biographies” section above.

2 Mr. Nadim Mustafa Shabsogh Please refer to Mr. Shabsogh’s biography in the “Audit 
Committee” section above.

3 Eng. Kamel Badih Al Qalam Please refer to Eng. Al Qalam’s biography in the 
“Board of Directors Biographies” section above.

Nomination and Remuneration Meetings
During the year, the Committee held two meetings. The attendance of the committee members for 
these meetings was as follows:

Meeting Date Eng. Mohamed Al 
Khorayef Mr. Nadim Shabsogh Eng. Kamel Al Qalam

19 May 2019 Present Present Present

16 Dec 2019 Present Present Present

c. Governance Committee
The Board of Directors of Arabian Centres has a steadfast commitment to best-in-class corporate 
governance. As part of this commitment, and in accordance with Article 94 of the CMA Corporate 
Governance Regulations, the Board established governance rules for the Company in accordance with 
the provisions of these regulations in the form of a Governance Manual (referred to in a separate sec-
tion under “Corporate Governance Manual and Internal Policies”).
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In addition, and as per Article 95 of these regulations, the Board also formed a Corporate Governance 
Committee, on 19 May 2019 and assigned to it the competencies stipulated in Article 94 of these regu-
lations (the “Governance Committee”).

The Governance Committee’s responsibilities include: 

• Overseeing any matters relating to the implementation of governance.
• Monitoring the implementation of governance rules established by the Board, verifying their 

effectiveness, and recommending amendments to them as necessary pursuant to statutory require-
ments and best practices.

• Reviewing and developing codes of professional conduct representing the Company’s values and 
other internal policies and procedures in order to fulfill the Company’s requirements and in accor-
dance with best practices. 

• Regularly informing the Board of developments in corporate governance and best practices. 
• Providing the Board with its reports and recommendations at least annually. 

Governance Committee Membership
As per its charter, the Committee shall consist of at least three (3) members, a majority of whom should 
be independent board members. 

Currently, the Governance Committee consists of three (3) members. The chairman and one member 
are independent Board members and one member is external. The term of the first appointed Gov-
ernance Committee members shall end on 25 April 2022 to coincide with the current board term. 
Subsequently, the term of the committee members will be for three (3) years.

The following members of the Governance Committee were appointed by the Board of Directors, at its 
meeting held on 19 May 2019:

Governance Committee Members

# Name Title

1 Dr. Omar Al Farisi Chairman (Independent)
2 Dr. Bernard Higgins Member (Independent)
3 Dr. Najem Al Zayd Member (Independent)

The following is a brief biography of the members of the Governance Committee:

# Name Education Work Experience Current Positions Previous Positions

1 Dr. Omar Al 
Farisi

Please refer to Dr. Al Farisi’s biography in the “Board of Directors Biographies” 
section above.

2 Dr. Bernard 
Higgins

Please refer to Dr. Higgins’ biography in the “Board of Directors Biographies” 
section above.

# Name Education Work Experience Current Positions Previous Positions
3 Dr. Najem 

Al Zayd
Doctor of 
Juridical 
Science degree 
from George 
Washington 
University 
Law School, 
Washington, 
D.C.

Master of Laws 
from University 
of Minnesota 
Law School, 
Minneapolis, 
MN.

B.A., Qada’a 
“Islamic Juris-
prudence” from 
Umm Al-Qura 
University, KSA.

Law, Audit, Risk 
Management and 
Governance.

Vice Chairman of 
the Board of Saudi 
Electricity Company, 
KSA.

Board Member and 
the Chairman of Risk, 
and Governance 
Committees of Gulf 
International Bank, 
Bahrain.

Board Member and 
the Chairman of Risk 
Committee of Gulf 
International Bank, 
KSA.

Member, Regulatory 
Policy & Oversight 
Committee of the 
Saudi Stock Exchange 
(TADAWUL), KSA.

Member, Audit & 
Risk Committee, The 
Diriyah Development 
Authority, Saudi 
Arabia.

Vice Chairman of the 
Board, Chairman of 
Risk, and Governance 
Committees in 
Mediterranean & Gulf 
Cooperative Insur-
ance & Reinsurance 
Co., KSA.

Board Member & 
Audit Committee 
member of National 
Privatization Centre, 
KSA.

Chief Governance 
& Legal Officer of Al 
Rajhi Bank, KSA.

BoD Member of 
the Capital Market 
Authority (CMA), 
KSA.

Director & General 
Counsel, Legal Affairs 
Division, the Capital 
Market Authority 
(CMA), KSA.

Governance Committee Meetings
During the year, the Governance Committee held four meetings. The attendance of the committee 
members for these meetings was as follows:

Meeting Date Dr. Omar Al Farisi Dr. Bernard Higgins Dr. Najem Al Zayd

30 September 2019 Present Present Present
24 December 2019 Present Present Present
6 February 2020 Present Present Present
28 March 2020 Present Present Present

The main tasks accomplished during these Governance Committee meetings were as follows:

1. Completing many administrative tasks including electing committee chairperson, appointing a 
secretary and approving a committee charter. 

2. Reviewing the existing governance structure and recommending improvements.
3. Overseeing the process of reviewing the status of corporate governance at ACC by an external 

consultant. 
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4. Reviewing and discussing in detail the governance process over related parties’ transactions 
(RPT) and importance of ensuring compliance with internal governance policies and guidelines 
related thereto. 

5. Sponsoring the implementation of a board governance platform and information system (Con-
vene) to enhance communications and information sharing at board and committees’ levels and 
to optimize board and committee meetings. 

6. Discussing other governance matters including enhancing processes and long-term scheduling 
for board and committee meetings.

4. Board of Directors and Committees Members Remuneration
a. Board Members Remuneration during the Fiscal Year ended on 31 March 2020 
(Saudi Riyal):

Fixed Remuneration

No. Name
Specific 
Amount

Allowance 
for Attend-

ing Board 
Meetings

Total Al-
lowance 

for At-
tending 

Committee 
Meetings

Aggregate 
Amount

First: Independent Directors

1 Dr. Abdulrahman Al Tuwaijri 300,000 50,000 - 350,000

2 Eng. Mohammed Al Khorayef 300,000 50,000 15,000 365,000

3 Dr. Bernard Higgins 300,000 50,000 60,000 410,000

4 Dr. Omar Hadir Al Farisi* - - - -

Total 900,000 150,000 75,000 1,125,000

Second: Non-Executive Directors

1 Mr. Fawaz Abdulaziz Al Hokair 300,000 50,000 - 350,000

2 Eng. Kamel Badih Al Qalam 300,000 50,000 15,000 365,000

3 Eng. Omar Abdulaziz Al Mohammady* - - - -

Total 600,000 100,000 15,000 715,000

Third: Executive Directors

1 Eng. Salman Abdulaziz Al Hokair 300,000 50,000 - 350,000

Total 300,000 50,000 - 350,000

Grand Total 1,800,000 300,000 90,000 2,190,000

Note: The above-mentioned remuneration were related to the fiscal year ended on 31 March 2019 and 
that have been paid during the fiscal year ended on 31 Mar 2020. 

* Eng. Omar Al Muhammady and Dr. Omar Al Farisi have been appointed by the Board on 24 May 2019 
and been approved by the Annual Shareholders General Assembly on 30 Sep 2019.

b. Board Committees Remuneration during the Fiscal Year ended on 31 March 2020 
(Saudi Riyal):

Name

Fixed 
Remuneration 

(Except for 
the Allowance 
for Attending 

Board 
Meetings)

Allowance 
for Attending 

Committee 
Meetings Total

1) Audit Committee 

Dr. Bernard Higgins (Chairman) - 60,000 60,000

Mr. Nadim Shabsogh (Member) 100,000 60,000 160,000

Mr. Fahad Al Khorayef (Member) 100,000 60,000 160,000

Total 200,000 180,000 380,000

2) Nomination and Remuneration Committee 

Eng. Mohammed Al Khorayef (Chairman) - 15,000 15,000

Mr. Nadim Shabsogh (Member) 100,000 15,000 115,000

Eng. Kamel Alqalam (Member) - 15,000 15,000

Total 100,000 45,000 145,000

3) Governance Committee*

Dr. Omar Al Farisi (Chairman) - - -

Dr. Bernard Higgins (Member) - - -

Dr. Najem Al Zayd (Member) - - -

Total - - -

Grand Total 300,000 225,000 525,000

Note: The above-mentioned remuneration was related to the fiscal year ended on 31 March 2019 and 
that have been paid during the fiscal year ended on 31 Mar 2020.

* The Governance Committee was formed by the Board of Directors on 19 May 2019, so their members 
aren’t entitled for any remuneration related to the fiscal year ended on 31 March 2019.

5. Senior Executives
a. Senior Executives Remuneration
Total remuneration paid to the top five senior executives (including the CEO and CFO), of which are 
not board members, was SAR 14.3 million for the year ended 31 March 2020. Such expenses include 
salaries, housing, transportation and other benefits. The below table is a summary of such expenses:
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Top Five Senior 
Executives (including 
the CEO and CFO)

10,711,824 320000 - - 11031824 - - - - - 3279597 - 14311421

Total 10,711,824 320000 - - 11031824 - - - - - 3279597 - 14311421

b. Description of Any Interest of the Senior Executives and their Relatives in Shares 
or Debt Instruments of the Company:

No. Name 

Shares at 
the Begin-

ning of 
Year*

Shares at 
the End of 

Year Change % Change
1 Eng. Salman Abdulaziz Al Hokair

(Vice Chairman and MD)
 38,000,000 38,000,000  -   0.00%

2 Mr. Olivier Nougarou (CEO)** -    -    -    -   
3 Dr. Lionel Ponsard (VP of Finance)** -    -    -    -   
4 Mr. Mohamed Balbaa (Chief Leasing 

Officer)**
-    -    -    -   

5 Mr. Khalid Al Dhubaie (Chief Commercial 
Officer)**

6 Mr. Jamil Karmoul (Chief Operating 
Officer)**

-    -    -    -   

7 Mr. Bruno Wehbe (Chief Portfolio and 
Asset Management Officer)**

-    -    -    -   

8 Mr. Jabri Maali (Chief Financial Officer) -    -    -    -   

9 Mr. Ghassan Abu Mutair (Chief Develop-
ment and Project Management Officer)

-    -    -    -   

10 Mr. Turki Al Zahrani (Chief Support 
Services Officer)

-    -    -    -   

No. Name 

Shares at 
the Begin-

ning of 
Year*

Shares at 
the End of 

Year Change % Change
11 Mr. Francois Kanaan (Chief Digital and 

Marketing Officer)
-    -    -    -   

12 Mr. Rayan Al Karawi (Group Head of 
Investor Relations)**

- 15,434 15,434 100%

13 Mr. Naji Fayad (Director of Internal 
Audit)

-    -    -    -   

14 Mr. Faisal Al Wazzab (Legal Director and 
Board Secretary)

- 2016 2016 100%

15 Mr. Abdullah Al Harbi (IT Director) - - -

Declarations: 
1. There is no interest of the senior executives’ relatives in the shares of the Company.
2. There is no interest of the senior executives and their relatives in the debt instruments of the Com-

pany.

* ACC has been listed on the Saudi Stock Exchange on 22 May 2019.
** These Executives have stepped down from their positions stated above in June 2020, except Mr. Olivier who 
stepped down from his position in May 2020 to be the Strategy Adviser to the new CEO and Board of Directors.

6. Waived Remuneration and Compliance
a. The company did not receive any notification that any of the Company directors, senior executives or 
shareholders have waived any remuneration/dividends.

b. The remuneration shall be paid to the members of the Board of Directors, the members of the board 
committees and senior executives, in accordance with the regulations approved by the Board of Direc-
tors as well as with the provisions of the Company’s bylaws and approved by the General Assembly, as 
well as the remuneration policy based on the recommendation of the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee.

7. Annual Review of Internal Controls Effectiveness 
The internal control system has an important role to play in the success of any organization. Arabian 
Centres is committed to ensuring an effective internal control system to achieve regulatory objectives, 
asset protection, accurate internal and external reporting, risk reduction and adherence to regulatory 
requirements.

The Internal Audit Department carries out its functions according to the audit regulations adopted by the 
Company’s Board of Directors. The Internal Audit Department provides independent objective services 
to assist the Board of Directors, the Audit Committee and the Executive Management in discharging their 
responsibilities. The Internal Audit Department is not subject to any influence by the Executive Manage-
ment and has full powers and unrestricted access to all documents as required by the performance of its 
work. In carrying out its work, the Internal Audit Department adopted a systematic approach to evaluate 
and improve internal control effectiveness to achieve the Company’s objectives and protect its assets. 
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The scope of work of the Internal Audit Department included examining the adequacy and effective-
ness of the internal control system of the Company to verify whether the Company’s internal systems, 
in particular the financial and administrative regulations and policies and the Corporate Governance 
frameworks approved by the Board of Directors, General Assembly and legislative and regulatory con-
trols, ensure the achievement of the objectives of the Company.

The scope of internal audit management included:

• Audit and periodic examination of the majority of the Company’s departments during periodic peri-
ods, giving priority to internal activities and jobs depending on the degree of risk.

• Informing officials in the various departments whose work has been examined of the observations 
revealed during the examination process as well as management recommendations to address these 
observations.

• Evaluation of the procedures provided by executives in different departments to address the obser-
vations and implement the recommendations contained in the audit reports. In case of insufficient 
procedures, the matter was discussed with the executives to ascertain the efficiency and adequacy of 
the measures taken.

The Audit Committee studied and followed up with the implementation of the approved audit plan with 
the Internal Audit Department as well as following up with the implementation of the recommendations 
contained in the internal audit reports. The Company has taken positive steps to strengthen its internal 
control system, maintain the Company’s assets and provide reasonable assurance about the integrity 
of financial reports prepared from accounting records. The internal audit department of the company 
examines the internal control system on an ongoing basis to ensure its efficiency and effectiveness and 
carry out financial and operational reviews to evaluate the company’s business. 

The internal control system for the various work cycles and financial reports of the Company includes 
those policies and procedures which:

• Relate to maintaining records in such a way as to ensure the availability of detailed and accurate infor-
mation and reflect substantially the fact of transactions and disposals in the assets of the company.

• Provide reasonable assurance that the registration of transactions allows the preparation of financial 
statements in accordance with the accepted accounting standards in Saudi Arabia issued by the Saudi 
Organization for Certified Public Accountants.

• Provide reasonable assurance as to the timely prevention or disclosure of unauthorized pur-
chase, use or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material impact on the 
financial statements.

The Audit Committee oversees the Internal Audit work, which periodically reviews the adequacy 
and effectiveness of the internal control system, to provide a continuous assessment of the internal 
control system and its effectiveness. The Committee also reviews the External Auditor’s reports and 
management letter, which might include any lack of internal control noted by the External Audi-
tor as part of its internal controls’ assessment. This comes within the objectives of the Board of 
Directors to obtain reasonable assurance about the soundness of the design and effectiveness of the 
performance of the Company’s internal control system.

Based on the above, the Audit Committee believes that the internal control system within the 
Company is appropriately designed and effectively serves organizational objectives, operational 
efficiency, financial reporting reliability and regulatory compliance. No material deficiency or 
material weakness was found, although some improvements are needed and were communi-
cated to the management, which is actively working on enhancing the controls based on audit 
recommendations. 

It is worth noting that all Audit Committee recommendations are consistent with the decisions of the 
Board of Directors.

8. Subsidiaries and Affiliates 

Name of Subsidiary* Capital 
(SAR)

Nature of 
Business Ownership %

Direct Indirect

Riyadh Centres Company Limited 500,000 Real Estate 95% 5%

Al Bawarij International for Development & Real 
Estate Investment Company 500,000 Real Estate 95% 5%

Al Makarem International for Real Estate Devel-
opment Company 500,000 Real Estate 95% 5%

Oyoun Al Raed Mall Trading 100,000 Real Estate 95% 5%

Oyoun Al Basateen Company for Trading 100,000 Real Estate 95% 5%

Al-Qasseem Company for Entertainment and 
Commercial Projects Owned by Abdulmohsin Al 
Hokair and Company

500,000 Real Estate 50% -

Yarmouk Mall Company Limited 500,000 Real Estate 95% 5%

Al Erth Al Matin Trading Company 100,000 Real Estate 95% 5%

Arkan Salam for Real Estate and Contracting 
Company Limited 1,000,000 Real Estate 95% 5%

Mall of Arabia Company Limited 500,000 Real Estate 95% 5%

Aziz Mall Trading Company Limited 500,000 Real Estate 95% 5%

Dhahran Mall Trading Company Limited 500,000 Real Estate 95% 5%

Al Noor Mall Trading Company Limited 500,000 Real Estate 95% 5%

Al Yasmeen Mall Trading Company 100,000 Real Estate 95% 5%

Al Dammam Mall Trading Company 100,000 Real Estate 95% 5%

Al Malaz Mall Trading Company 100,000 Real Estate 95% 5%

Al Hamra Mall Trading Company 100,000 Real Estate 95% 5%

Al Erth Al Rasekh Trading Company 100,000 Real Estate 95% 5%

* All subsidiaries are limited liability companies incorporated in KSA.
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9. Shares and Debt Instruments Issued by Subsidiaries
In November 2019, ACC successfully completed a Shari’ah compliant Sukuk offering valued at USD 
500 million (SAR 1.9 billion), Ijara/Murabaha term facilities of USD 1.2 billion (SAR 4.5 billion) and a 
revolving Murabaha facility of USD 0.2 billion (SAR 0.75 billion), embedding a lengthened tenor and 
improved pricing conditions into ACC’s debt structure. 

Proceeds from the transaction were utilized in refinancing ACC’s SAR 7.2 billion facility. Enhanced 
credit terms and the reduction in secured debt as a proportion of overall borrowing facilitate the opti-
mization of ACC’s capital structure, while the extended maturity profile better enable the Company to 
pursue operational expansion over the following quarters.

The refinancing transaction included the offering and pricing of a fixed-rate USD 500 million Sukuk 
issuance with a five-year tenor and a coupon rate of 5.375%. The issue represents a milestone capital 
raise for the private sector in Saudi Arabia and was four times oversubscribed, receiving inaugural 
ratings of BB+ from Fitch and Ba1 from Moody’s. 

Additionally, the transaction also included a senior secured Ijara and Murabaha duel currency term 
facilities of USD 1.2 billion (SAR 4.5 billion) and a senior secured dual currency revolving Murabaha 
facility of USD 200 million (SAR 0.75 billion). In combination with the Sukuk proceeds, the new facili-
ties were utilized to refinance ACC’s existing bank facilities, extending the company’s debt maturity 
profile, increasing flexibility to invest in the business and reducing secured debt as a proportion of the 
Company’s overall borrowing. 
 
10. Interests and Contractual Rights for BoD Members, Executives and 
Relatives in Shares and Debt Instruments 
There are no interests, contractual securities or rights issues with the Board Members, senior executives 
and their spouses and minor children on shares or debt instruments of the company or its affiliates 
(other than those mentioned in sections “Board of Directors” and “Senior Executives” in this report).

11. Related Parties Transactions 
Related Party Transactions Policy
The Company relies upon a number of important relationships with various related parties such as 
tenants and suppliers of construction and other services, which are material to conducting business. 
In view of the significance of these relationships and to reflect the conflict of interest provisions con-
tained in the Corporate Governance Regulations and the Companies’ Law, the Company adopted a 
Related Party Transactions Policy on 06/01/1440H (corresponding to 16/09/2018) to ensure that these 
relationships are conducted on an arm’s length basis and on normal commercial terms. The Board 
believes that this policy will not only assist the Company in fully complying with its legal obligations 
with respect to related party transactions, but will promote best practices standards of corporate 
governance and transparency in the way that it conducts its business.

The Related Party Transactions Policy requires that management conduct a review of its list of 
related party relationships on a periodic basis, and that all related party transactions be subject 
to a process of internal review involving management, the Company’s internal audit function, 
the Audit Committee and the Board (with only “non-interested directors” being entitled to vote, 

being directors who do not have an interest in the relevant transaction). This happens before 
being recommended for approval by a majority of the non-interested shareholders at a General 
Assembly of the Company. Non-interested shareholders are those through which no director has 
an interest in the relevant transaction. Pursuant to the Companies’ Law and the Corporate Gover-
nance Regulations, shareholders through which a director has an interest in the relevant related 
party transaction are not permitted to vote on the resolution for the approval of such transaction.

The Related Party Transactions Policy contemplates that the Company will enter into “frame-
work agreements” to govern relationships with certain related parties which are material to 
conducting Company business. The framework agreements are intended to set forth a broad 
framework for the related parties’ relationship, to ensure that transactions entered into between 
the Company and the Related Party are conducted on an arm’s length basis. Framework agree-
ments will not be entered into with related parties, where the related party transactions involved 
are more likely to be less material, low value and/or conducted on an ad hoc basis. Nevertheless, 
all related party transactions, whether conducted pursuant to a framework agreement or not, 
will be subject to the review and approval procedures described above.

Related Party transactions are regulated by relevant Saudi laws and regulations regarding 
the entering into of such transactions. As noted above, on 06/01/1440H (corresponding to 
16/9/2018) the Company’s board approved a policy for dealing with Related Parties.  In addition, 
in the case of FARE, Fawaz AbdelAziz Alhokair & Co. and Food and Entertainment Company, 
being the related parties with which the Company undertakes the most material related parties 
transactions, such transactions are entered into based upon the principles set out in the related 
framework agreement(s) (please see details below).

Framework Agreements with Related Parties
Leasing Framework Agreement with Fawaz Abdelaziz Alhokair & Co.
On 16 December 2018, the Company entered into a framework agreement (“Leasing Framework 
Agreement”) with Fawaz Abdelaziz Alhokair & Co. which sets forth a broad framework for the parties’ 
relationship to ensure that all tenancy leases for stores in the shopping centres entered into between 
the Company and Fawaz Abdelaziz Alhokair & Co. are conducted on an arm’s length basis.

In particular, the Leasing Framework Agreement includes:

• An agreed set of “rent pricing principles” which may be taken into account when determining the 
rent for any store in one of the shopping centres;

• An agreed set of parameters for each key term of the leases entered into, including rent escalation, 
rent free periods and GLA based concessions. These agreed parameters stipulate that certain rent 
discounts may be granted based on the Company’s discount policy; and

• An agreed upon standard lease template which is to be used for new leases entered into, following 
the execution of the Leasing Framework Agreement.

The parties agree to coordinate their marketing efforts for the benefit of each of the Company’s shop-
ping centres, in which Fawaz Abdulaziz Alhokair & Co. is a tenant and the FR brands operating within 
those shopping centres, provided that each party bears its own cost.
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The term of the agreement is seven years from the date of execution and the agreement may be ter-
minated by either party if the other party is in default of a material obligation (which is not remedied 
within 30 days of a receipt of notice concerning the default) or suffers an insolvency event.

Leasing Framework Agreement with Food and Entertainment Company
On 13 December 2018, the Company entered into a framework agreement (“Leasing Framework Agree-
ment”) with Food and Entertainment Company, which sets forth a broad framework for the parties’ 
relationship to ensure that all tenancy leases for stores in the shopping centres entered into between 
the Company and Food and Entertainment Company are conducted on an arm’s length basis.

In particular, the Leasing Framework Agreement includes:

• An agreed set of “rent pricing principles”, which may be taken into account when determining the 
rent for any space in one of the shopping centres;

• An agreed set of parameters for each key term of the leases entered into, including with respect to 
rent escalation, rent-free periods and GLA-based concessions. In particular, these agreed param-
eters stipulate that certain rent discounts may be granted based on the Company’s discount policy; 
and

• An agreed standard lease template to be used for new leases entered into, following the execution 
of the Leasing Framework Agreement.

The parties agree to coordinate their marketing efforts for the benefit of each of the Company’s shop-
ping centres in which Food and Entertainment Company is a tenant, provided that each party bears 
its own cost.

The term of the agreement is seven years from the date of execution and the agreement may be ter-
minated by either party if the other party is in default of a material obligation (which is not remedied 
within 30 days of a receipt of notice concerning the default) or suffers an insolvency event.

Construction Framework Agreement with Fawaz Alhokiar Real Estate Co. (FARE)
On 13 December 2018, the Company entered into a framework agreement (“Construction Framework 
Agreement”) with FARE, which sets forth a broad framework for the parties’ relationship to ensure 
that all construction contracts for the development of new shopping centres entered into between the 
Company and FARE are conducted on an arm’s length basis.

The provisions of the construction framework agreement apply to construction contracts entered into 
following the execution of the agreement (“New Construction Contracts”).

In particular, the Construction Framework Agreement:

• Includes an agreed set of parameters for each key term of the new construction contracts entered 
into, including contractor warranties, contract allocation risk, lump sum pricing, variations to 
scope, liquidated damages and limitations on liability; and

• Provides that the scope of the service under each new construction contract shall be in the form 
of a design and build contract, and that the works shall follow an agreed sequence, which includes 
the appointment of a third party cost consultant to review the contract price to ensure that it is 
consistent with the market benchmark.

From the date of the Construction Framework Agreement, neither party is bound to deal exclusively 
with the other such that the Company may appoint other contractors for the development of new 
shopping centres, and FARE is not restricted from undertaking shopping mall construction projects 
on behalf of other clients.

The term of the agreement is seven years from the date of execution, and the agreement may be ter-
minated by either party if the other party is in default of a material obligation (which is not remedied 
within 30 days of a receipt of notice concerning the default) or suffers an insolvency event.

Summary of Transactions with Related Parties
A summary of the related parties with whom the Company conducts business together with 
a description of the relationship, and a confirmation of whether a framework agreement will be 
entered into, is set out on the following page:

Entity
Nature of Transactions with 
the Company

Aggregate Value 
of Dealings as of 
31 March 2020

Frame-
work 

Agree-
ment

Nature of Related 
Party Relationship

Fawaz 
Abdulaziz 
Alhokair & 
Co.

Fawaz Abdulaziz Alhokair & 
Co. is a “Key Account Tenant” 
in the Company’s shopping 
malls. It has a portfolio of 
premium, international 
fashion brands that play an 
important role in attracting 
other tenants and generating 
consumer traffic.Fawaz 
Abdelaziz Alhokair & Co. 
generally occupies 25% to 30% 
in the Company’s shop-
ping malls, often securing 
tenancies through pre-leasing 
during the development 
phase.

350,914,140 Yes Fawaz Abdulaziz 
Alhokair and Salman 
Abdulaziz Alhokair, 
as directors of the 
Company, are indirect 
controlling sharehold-
ers.

Food and 
Entertain-
ment 
Company 
and its 
Subsidiaries

Food and Entertainment 
Company leases space for 
food courts and numerous 
kiosks across the Company’s 
shopping malls.

20,603,944 Yes Fawaz Abdulaziz 
Alhokair and Salman 
Abdulaziz Alhokair, 
as directors of the 
Company, are indirect 
controlling sharehold-
ers.
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Entity
Nature of Transactions with 
the Company

Aggregate Value 
of Dealings as of 
31 March 2020

Frame-
work 

Agree-
ment

Nature of Related 
Party Relationship

Abdul 
Mohsin 
Al Hokair 
Group for 
Tourism 
and Devel-
opment

Abdul Mohsin Al Hokair 
Group for Tourism and 
Development leases space for 
indoor and outdoor family 
entertainment centres across 
the Company’s shopping 
malls.

26,834,371 No Owned by a relative 
of the controlling 
shareholders.

Billy Games 
Company

Billy Games Company leases 
space for indoor soft play 
entertainment venues across 
the Company’s shopping 
malls.

15,360,265 No Fawaz Abdulaziz 
Alhokair and Salman 
Abdulaziz Alhokair, 
as directors of the 
Company, are indirect 
controlling sharehold-
ers.

Kids Space 
Company

Kids Space Company leases 
space in Mall of Arabia 
(Jeddah) for Kidzania, a 
children’s interactive play 
centre.

2,458,890 No Fawaz Abdulaziz 
Alhokair and Salman 
Abdulaziz Alhokair, 
as directors of the 
Company, are indirect 
controlling sharehold-
ers.

Next 
Generation 
Company 
Limited

Next Generation Company 
Limited leases space for the 
introduction of cinemas to 
the Company’s shopping 
malls.

25,848,736 No Owned by relatives 
of the controlling 
shareholders.

Coffee 
Centres 
Trading Co.

Coffee Centres Trading Co. 
leases space for a food court 
and kiosks in several of the 
Company’s shopping malls.

831,827 No Fawaz Abdulaziz 
Alhokair and Salman 
Abdulaziz Alhokair, 
as directors of the 
Company, are indirect 
controlling sharehold-
ers.

Fawaz 
Alhokair 
Real Estate 
Company

Currently, the Company 
exclusively relies on FARE 
for the construction of its 
shopping malls.

331,905,340 Yes Fawaz Abdulaziz 
Alhokair and Salman 
Abdulaziz Alhokair, 
as directors of the 
Company, are indirect 
controlling sharehold-
ers.

Tadaris 
Al Najd 
Security 
Company 

TNS provides security ser-
vices to all of the Company’s 
shopping malls.

57,278,571 No Salman Abdulaziz 
Alhokair, as a director 
of the Company, is the 
direct sole shareholder.

Entity
Nature of Transactions with 
the Company

Aggregate Value 
of Dealings as of 
31 March 2020

Frame-
work 

Agree-
ment

Nature of Related 
Party Relationship

AZAL 
Company

Azal Company leases 
space for food courts and 
numerous kiosks across the 
Company’s shopping malls.

6,348,816 No Fawaz Abdulaziz 
Alhokair and Salman 
Abdulaziz Alhokair, 
as directors of the 
Company, are indirect 
controlling sharehold-
ers.

Skill 
Innovative 
Games

Skill Innovative Games 
leases space for entertain-
ment venues in Yasmeen 
Mall Jeddah.

4,074,149 No Fawaz Abdulaziz 
Alhokair and Salman 
Abdulaziz Alhokair, 
as directors of the 
Company, are indirect 
controlling sharehold-
ers.

NESK Trad-
ing Project 
Company

NESK Trading Project 
Company is a “Key Account 
Tenant” in the Company 
shopping malls.

77,441,233 No Fawaz Abdulaziz 
Alhokair and Salman 
Abdulaziz Alhokair, 
as directors of the 
Company, are indirect 
controlling sharehold-
ers.

Food Gate 
Co.

Food Gate Co. leases 
space for food courts and 
numerous kiosks across the 
Company’s shopping malls.

15,313,237 No Fawaz Abdulaziz 
Alhokair and Salman 
Abdulaziz Alhokair, 
as directors of the 
Company, are indirect 
controlling sharehold-
ers.

Etqan 
Facilities 
Manage-
ment 
Company

Etqan is the single external 
provider for all facilities 
management services to the 
Company.

36,818,438 No Fawaz Abdulaziz 
Alhokair and Salman 
Abdulaziz Alhokair, 
as directors of the 
Company, are indirect 
controlling sharehold-
ers.

Innovative 
Union Co. 
Ltd.

Innovative Union Co. Ltd. 
leases spaces in several of 
the Company’s shopping 
malls. 

8,861,644 No Fawaz Abdulaziz 
Alhokair and Salman 
Abdulaziz Alhokair, 
as directors of the 
Company, are indirect 
controlling sharehold-
ers.

Fashion 
District 
Trading Co.

Fashion District Trading 
Co. leases spaces in several 
of the Company’s shopping 
malls.

17,279,328 No Owned by relatives 
of the controlling 
shareholders.

Via Media Via Media leases in several 
of the Company’s shopping 
malls.

18,427,930 No Owned by relatives 
of the controlling 
shareholders.
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Entity
Nature of Transactions with 
the Company

Aggregate Value 
of Dealings as of 
31 March 2020

Frame-
work 

Agree-
ment

Nature of Related 
Party Relationship

Nail Palace 
Trading Est.

Nail Palace Trading Est. 
leases spaces in several of 
the Company’s shopping 
malls.

2,447,522 No Owned by relatives 
of the controlling 
shareholders.

Majd 
Business 
Co. Ltd.

Majd Business Co. Ltd. 
leases spaces in several of 
the Company’s shopping 
malls.

1,069,546 No Owned by relatives 
of the controlling 
shareholders.

Ezdihar 
Sports Co.

Ezdihar Sports Co. leases 
space for a fitness centre in 
U-Walk.

4,054,403 No Owned by relatives 
of the controlling 
shareholders.

Saaf Trad-
ing Co.

Saaf Trading Co. leases 
spaces across in several of 
the Company’s shopping 
malls.

136,066 No Owned by relatives 
of the controlling 
shareholders.

FAS 
Technolo-
gist Trading 
Co.

FAS Technologist Trading 
Co. provides I.T. support 
services to the Company.

2,136,265 No Salman Abdulaziz 
Alhokair, as a director 
of the Company, is the 
direct sole shareholder.

In summary, the following transactions took place with related parties (as disclosed in notes to F/S for 
the year ended on 31 March 2020):

Description SAR
Saudi FAS Holding Company - Ultimate Parent Company 
Payment to suppliers on behalf of the Ultimate Parent Company 45,607,280
Initial public offering expenses charged to Ultimate Parent Company 16,192,603
Transfer of Zakat Payable to Ultimate Parent Company (18,345,202)
Fellow subsidiaries and other related parties
Dividend settled through adjusting amount due to related party 7,500,000 
Construction work included in projects under construction 331,905,340 
Rental Revenue, net 598,306,047 
Service Expenses 94,097,009 
Board of Directors remuneration and compensation 3,905,000 

Other than Abdul Mohsin Al Hokair Group for Tourism and Development, Next Generation Company 
Limited, Fashion District Trading Co., Via Media, Nail Palace Trading Est., Majd Business Sports Co., 
Ezdihar Sports Co. and Saaf Trading Co., each of the related parties listed in the table above is an 
entity in which one or more directors (who are also controlling shareholders), have a direct or indirect 
ownership interest. Abdul Mohsen Al Hokair Group for Tourism and Development, Next Generation 
Company Limited, Fashion District Trading Co., Via Media, Nail Palace Trading Est., Majd Business 
Sports Co., Ezdihar Sports Co. and Saaf Trading Co. are entities owned by relatives of the controlling 
shareholders. Accordingly, the Company considers that transactions with these related parties are 
subject to the requirements of Article 71 of the Companies’ Law. 

Summary of Account Balances with Related Parties

Entity Balances as of 31 March 
2020

Saudi FAS Holding Company 5,402,530
FAS Holding Company for Hotels 350,322,579
Fawaz Abdulaziz Alhokair & Co. 32,282,559
Food and Entertainment Company and its Subsidiaries 3,828,663
Abdul Mohsin Al Hokair Group for Tourism and Development 28,211,447
Billy Games Company 8,469,448
Kids Space Company 1,796,225
Next Generation Company Limited 22,631,374
Coffee Centres Trading Co. 7,116
Fawaz Alhokair Real Estate Company 614,438,352
Tadaris Al Najd Security Company 18,868,656
FAS Technologist Trading Co. 179,248
Azal Company 751,962
Echo Design Consultant 1,328,098
Skill Innovative 2,703,953
Nesk Trading Project Company 49,966,141
Food Gate Co. 21,647,155
Etqan Facilities Management Company (3,899,682)
Via Media Co. 15,393,827
Fashion District Co. 12,050,255
Innovative Union Co. Ltd 8,672,483
Ezdihar Sports Co. 3,359,412
Nail Place Trading Est. 2,317,325
Majd Business Co. Ltd. 1,032,501

12. Conflict of Interest
Neither the Company’s bylaws nor any of the Company’s internal regulations and policies grant any 
director or the CEO the power to vote on any contract or proposal in which he has a direct or indirect 
interest, in accordance with Article 71 of the Companies’ Law which states that a Member of the Board 
of Directors should not have any interest, whether directly or indirectly, in the transactions or contracts 
made for the account of the company, except with an authorization from the Ordinary General Assembly.

Pursuant to Article 71 of the Companies’ Law, a member must inform the Board of Directors of any 
interest he may have in the transactions or contracts made for the account of the Company. The 
Chairman of the Board of Directors shall inform the Ordinary General Assembly, when it convenes, 
of the transactions and contracts in which any member has an interest. Such communication shall 
be accompanied by a special report from the auditor. Such declaration must be recorded in the 
minutes of the Board meeting, and the interested member shall not participate in voting on the 
resolution to be adopted in this respect. 
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Based on the foregoing, the directors undertake to comply with the following:

• Complying with the provisions of Articles 71, 72, 73, 74 and 75 of the Companies’ Law and Articles 44 and 
46 of the Corporate Governance Regulations. 

• Refraining from voting on General Assembly resolutions pertaining to contracts entered into with the 
Company where the director has a direct or indirect interest in such contract.

• Avoiding participating in any business that competes with that of the Company, unless such member has 
authorization from the Ordinary General Assembly. 

• All related party transactions will be made on an arm’s length basis in accordance with the terms of the 
Related Party Transactions Policy.

As of the date hereof, none of the members of the Board of Directors, senior executives or current sharehold-
ers are party to any agreement, arrangement or understanding under which they are subject to any non-
compete or similar obligation with respect to the business of the Company.

Given the scope of the voting restrictions applicable to the General Assembly approvals pursuant to Article 
46 of the Corporate Governance Regulations, which the Company has interpreted broadly as noted above, 
no shareholders would be permitted to vote on the relevant resolution at the General Assembly. Accordingly, 
General Assembly approval to approve the participation of directors in competing businesses will be sought 
at the first General Assembly following completion of the IPO.

As of the date hereof, the table below presents information on members in the Company’s Board of Directors 
and sets out their shareholding in, or representation of companies engaged in similar or competing activities.

Directors participating in companies that perform activities similar to or competing with 
those of the Company, through their membership on the Board or participation in the 
capital thereof:

Another Company Re-
lated to a Board Director

Director Title in the 
Related Company

Nature of the Related 
Company’s Business

Does it Compete

Owner Direc-
tor/Man-

ager
Fawaz Abdulaziz Fahad Alhokair
Egyptian Centers for Real 
Estate Development - 
Arab Republic of Egypt

Yes Yes Ownership and 
management of com-
mercial complexes

No - The activities of the 
Egyptian Centers for 
Real Estate Development 
are confined to the Arab 
Republic of Egypt and has 
no activities in the KSA.

Fawaz Abdelaziz Alhokair 
& Co.

Yes No Commerce, owner-
ship and manage-
ment of commercial 
complexes

Yes - the director owns 
6.19% of the capital of 
Fawaz Abdelaziz Alhokair 
& Co., which owns 16.66% 
of the shares of Riyadh 
Gallery Mall in Riyadh.

Another Company Re-
lated to a Board Director

Director Title in the 
Related Company

Nature of the Related 
Company’s Business

Does it Compete

Owner Direc-
tor/Man-

ager
Arabian Centres Com-
pany Jordan

Yes No Ownership and 
management of com-
mercial complexes 

No - Arabian Centres 
Company Jordan has no 
activities in the KSA.

Marakez for Real Estate 
Investment - Arab 
Republic of Egypt

Yes Yes Ownership and 
management of com-
mercial complexes

No - Marakez for Real Estate 
Investment has no activities 
in the KSA.

Salman Abdulaziz Fahad Alhokair
Egyptian Centers for Real 
Estate Development - 
Arab Republic of Egypt

Yes Yes Ownership and 
management of com-
mercial complexes

No - The activities of the 
Egyptian Centers for 
Real Estate Development 
are confined to the Arab 
Republic of Egypt and has 
no activities in the KSA.

Fawaz Abdelaziz Alhokair 
& Co.

Yes No Commerce, owner-
ship and manage-
ment of commercial 
complexes

Yes - whereas the director 
owns 7% of the capital of 
Fawaz Abdelaziz Alhokair & 
Co., which owns 16.66% of 
the shares in Riyadh Gallery 
Mall in Riyadh.

Arabian Centres Com-
pany Jordan

Yes No Ownership and 
management of com-
mercial complexes

No - Arabian Centres 
Company Jordan has no 
activities in the KSA.

Marakez for Real Estate 
Investment - Arab 
Republic of Egypt

Yes Yes Ownership and 
management of com-
mercial complexes

No - Marakez for Real Estate 
Investment has no activities 
in the KSA.

Kamel Badih Al Qalam
Egyptian Centers for Real 
Estate Development - 
Arab Republic of Egypt

No Yes Ownership and 
management of com-
mercial complexes

No - The activities of the 
Egyptian Centers for 
Real Estate Development 
are confined to the Arab 
Republic of Egypt and has 
no activities in the KSA.

Falcon Shopping Centres 
Company – Italy

No Yes Ownership and 
management of com-
mercial complexes

No - The activities of 
Falcon Shopping Centres 
Company are confined to 
Italy and has no activities 
in the KSA.

Marakez for Real Estate 
Investment - Arab 
Republic of Egypt

No Yes Ownership and 
management of com-
mercial complexes

No - Marakez for Real 
Estate Investment has no 
activities in the KSA.
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13. Loans 
In November 2019, the Group entered into a long-term Islamic facility arrangement amounting to 
SR 5,250 million (equivalent to USD 1,400 million), with local and international banks. This facility 
is divided into Murabaha facility up to SR 500 million (maturing in 12 years), Ijara facilities up to SR 
4,000 million (maturing in 8 and 12 years) and Revolving Murabaha up to SR 750 million (maturing in 
3 years). These facilities are fully utilized as of reporting date. However, this new facility has been used 
to settle in full the previous facility completed in April 2018.

Movement in the long-term loans is as follows: 

Item 31 March 2020

(Saudi Riyal)
Balance at the beginning of the year 6,814,144,763
Addition of a new facility 5,368,675,202
Settlement of old facility (6,932,826,693)
Repayment of a new facility -
Less: unamortized transaction costs (61,490,717)
Balance at the end of the year 5,188,502,555
Less: current portion of long-term loans (45,000,000)
Non-current portion of long-term loans 5,143,502,555

14. Outstanding Statutory Payments

Government Party

Actual Payments for the 
Fiscal Year ended on 31 

March
Accruals for the Fiscal Year 

ended on 31 March
2020 2019 2020 2019

Zakat and Value Added Tax (VAT) 123,149,913 98,229,905 84,200,521 110,186,312 
GOSI 9,201,318 7,097,304 999,339 663,953
Passports and visas 352,599 2,193,658 - -
Baldiya 2,946,361 3,192,543 - -
Chamber of Commerce 1,097,966 664,803 - -
Total 136,748,157 111,378,214 85,199,860 110,850,265

 
15. Zakat, Taxes and Fees
Status of Zakat Assessments
Until the year ended on 31 March 2019, the Ultimate Parent Company prepared and submitted 
combined zakat returns for the Ultimate Parent Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries, 
including Arabian Centres Company, to GAZT as per GAZT letter. Accordingly, the combined 
zakat returns for the years 2007 to 2016 were submitted to GAZT. The final assessment order 
for the combined zakat returns for the Ultimate Parent Company and its wholly owned subsid-
iaries for the years 2007 to 2016 were received from GAZT. The Ultimate Parent Company has 
allocated SR 8.8 million as the Group’s share of Zakat liability for the years 2007 to 2016. The 
Group has Zakat provision of SR 83.9 million for the years 2007 to 2016. Accordingly, the Group 

has recorded the impact of final assessment received in the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss for the year ended on 31 March 2019. The Ultimate Parent Company has received provisional 
zakat certificates until the year ended on 31 March 2019.

Movements in Zakat Provision During the Year
The movement in the provision for zakat is as follows:

Item 31 March 2020 31 March 2019
 (Saudi Riyal)  (Saudi Riyal)

Balance at beginning of the year 82,457,716 146,559,970
Excess provision reversed - (75,142,143)
Provision for the year 20,290,170 19,865,318

20,290,170 55,276,825
Transferred to Ultimate Parent Company (18,345,202) (8,825,429)
Paid during the year (5,877,732) -
Balance at end of the year 78,524,952 82,457,716

16. Dividends
Dividends Distribution Policy
After deducting all general expenses and other costs, the Company’s annual net profits shall be allo-
cated as follows:

• 10% of the net profit shall be set aside to form a statutory reserve, and the Ordinary General 
Assembly may discontinue said deductions when the statutory reserve amounts to 30% of the 
Company’s share capital.

• The Ordinary General Assembly may, upon request of the Board of Directors, set aside a per-
centage of the annual net profits to form an additional reserve, to be allocated towards one or 
more specific purposes.

• The Ordinary General Assembly may resolve to set aside other reserves, to the extent that 
doing so serves the interest of the Company or ensures the distribution of as stable a dividend 
as possible to shareholders. Said assembly may also deduct amounts from the net profits 
for the establishment of social institutions for the Company’s employees, or to help existing 
institutions.

• Out of the balance of the net profits, shareholders shall be paid an initial payment amounting 
to 5% of the Company’s paid-up capital.

• Without prejudice to the provisions of Article 21 hereof and Article 76 of the Companies’ Law, 
no more than 5% of the remainder shall be allocated to remunerate the directors, provided 
that the remuneration is commensurate with the respective number of sessions attended by 
each member.

• The remainder shall then be distributed to shareholders as an additional share of profits or 
deferred to the following years as approved by the General Assembly.

• The Board of Directors may resolve to distribute periodic dividends deducted from the annual 
profits specified in paragraph (4) of this article in accordance with the rules governing said 
distribution as issued by the competent authorities.
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Dividends Distribution during the year:

Item Amount
 (Saudi Riyal)

Retained earnings as of 1 April 2019 183,241,759

Add:

Profit for the year ended on 31 March 2020 633,934,247

Minus: 

Transfer to statutory reserve 63,393,425 

Dividends (427,500,000)

Retained earnings as of 31 March 2020 326,282,581 

17. Investments and Reserves Made to the Benefit of Employees
There are no investments or reserves created for the benefit of employees other than those determined 
according to the labor system in the Kingdom.

18. Fines and Penalties
No penalties have been imposed on the Company by the Capital Market Authority during the fiscal 
year 2020 ( financial period from 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020).

19. Shareholders Register Applications
The below table summarizes the number and dates of Shareholders Register applications requested by 
the Company and the reasons for that during the fiscal year ended on 31 March 2020:

No. Date Reason 

1 22-05-2019 Company’s procedures

2 01-06-2019 Company’s procedures

3 01-07-2019 Company’s procedures

4 18-07-2019 Company’s procedures

5 01-09-2019 Company’s procedures

6 30-09-2019 Shareholders General Assembly 

7 27-10-2019 Shareholders General Assembly 

8 01-12-2019 Company’s procedures

9 18-12-2019 Dividend Distribution 

10 01-01-2020 Company’s procedures

11 01-02-2020 Company’s procedures

12 16-03-2020 Shareholders General Assembly 

13 01-03-2020 Company’s procedures

20. Major Shareholders List
Below are the major shareholders list of the Company, and movements during the previous fiscal year 
( from the listing day on 22 May 2019 till 31 March 2020), and a description of any interest in a class of 
voting shares held by persons (other than the Company’s directors, senior executives and their rela-
tives) who have notified the Company of their holdings, together with any change to such interests 
during the last fiscal year:

No. Name

Shares at 
the Begin-
ning of the 

Year*

Ownership 
at the Be-

ginning of 
the Year

Shares at 
the End of 

the Year

Ownership 
at the End 
of the Year

Change % 
Change

1 FAS Real 
Estate Co. 184,775,000 38.90% 197,382,322 41.55% 12,607,322** 6.82%

2
Dr. Abdulmajid 
Abdulaziz Al 
Hokair

 38,000,000 8.00%  38,000,000 8.00% 0 0.00%

3
Mr. Fawaz 
Abdulaziz Al 
Hokair

 38,000,000 8.00%  38,000,000 8.00% 0 0.00%

4
Eng. Salman 
Abdulaziz Al 
Hokair

 38,000,000 8.00%  38,000,000 8.00% 0 0.00%

5 Al Farida Al 
Oula Co.  19,000,000 4.00%  19,000,000 4.00% 0 0.00%

6 Al Farida Al 
Thaniah Co.  19,000,000 4.00%  19,000,000 4.00% 0 0.00%

7 Al Farida Al 
Thalitha Co.  19,000,000 4.00%  19,000,000 4.00% 0 0.00%

8 SAAF Al 
Alamiya Co.  11,400,000 2.40%  11,400,000 2.40% 0 0.00%

Total 367,175,000 77% 379,782,322 80% 12,607,322 6.82%

Declaration: Regarding the declaration of movements in major shareholders’ ownership in accordance 
with listing rules, the Company confirms that it has not received any written notification during the 
previous fiscal year ended on 31 March 2020 from any of its major shareholders indicating any changes 
or movement in their ownership percentages. The disclosed information is based on the Saudi Stock 
Exchange (Tadawul) records on 31 March 2020.

* ACC has been listed on the Saudi Stock Exchange on 22 May 2019.
** This is due to the green shoe period at the beginning of the IPO process.
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21. Board of Directors Declarations 
1. No third party has carried out an assessment of the performance of the Board of Directors and 

performance of its Committees. The Board of Directors is considering developing a mechanism to 
assess the performance through internal periodical surveys.

2. There is no conflict between the recommendations of the Audit Committee and the Board reso-
lutions regarding appointing or dismissing the Company’s External Auditor, or determining its 
remuneration, assessing its performance and independence or appointing the Internal Auditor.

3. There are no interests in any class of voting shares for anyone (except to the Board members and 
senior executives and their relatives) who have notified the Company with these interests, and 
any changes in these rights during the last fiscal year.

4. No convertible debt instruments, contractual securities, subscription right notes or similar rights 
were issued/ granted by the Company during the financial year.

5. No conversion or subscription rights under any convertible debt instruments, contractual securi-
ties, subscription right notes or similar rights were issued or granted by the Company.

6. There was no redemption, purchase or cancellation by the Company of any redeemable debt 
instruments.

7. No shareholder of the Company has waived any rights to dividends.
8. No investments or reserves were made or set up for the benefit of the employees of the Company.
9. The auditor’s report does not contain any reservation about the approved annual financial state-

ments.
10. The Board of Directors did not recommend replacing the external auditor before the end of their 

term.
11. There are no treasury shares retained by the Company.
12. There is no inconsistency with the standards approved by the Saudi Organization for Certified 

Public Accountants.
13. The Board of Directors declares the following:

a) Proper books of accounts have been maintained. 
b) The system of internal control is sound in design and has been effectively implemented. 
c) There are no significant doubts concerning the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Shareholders of Arabian Centres Company 

Opinion   

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Arabian Centres Company (“the Company”) (and its 
subsidiaries) (collectively referred to as “the Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial 
position as at 31 March 2020, the consolidated statements of profit or loss, comprehensive income, changes in 
equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2020, and its consolidated financial performance and 
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) that are endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and other standards and pronouncements issued by the 
Saudi Organization for Certified Public Accountants (SOCPA). 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing that are endorsed in the Kingdom 
of Saudi Arabia. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities 
for the Audit of the consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in 
accordance with the professional code of conduct and ethics that are endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia 
that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of 
the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide 
a separate opinion on these matters. 
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consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2020, and its consolidated financial performance and 
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) that are endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and other standards and pronouncements issued by the 
Saudi Organization for Certified Public Accountants (SOCPA). 
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accordance with the professional code of conduct and ethics that are endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Shareholders of Arabian Centres Company (continued) 
The going concern basis of accounting 

See Note 37 to the consolidated financial statements. 

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit 

Due to the on-going Covid-19 pandemic, the business 
environment and operating conditions have been 
significantly impacted for almost all businesses 
including the Group’s business. Temporary closure or 
limited operations of malls and restricted movements of 
shoppers were some of the key challenges that the 
Group faced during the period from 16 March 2020 until 
20 June 2020. While the malls have now fully 
reopened, however, a lot of uncertainty still remains 
regarding the operating conditions of malls and 
unpredictability of behaviour of shoppers and retailers 
in the post lockdown environment. These factors 
impact future performance and cash flows of the 
Group.  
 
To evaluate the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern considering the impact of pandemic on 
business continuity, the Management has prepared a 
detailed assessment and has among other factors  
considered the following factors in preparing its 
assessment: 
 
- expected future cash flows including the impact of 

discounts on rentals and relief packages offered by 
the Group to its tenants,  

- financing facilities available to the Group and 
impact of the associated covenants, and  

- cost saving options planned by the Group including 
impact of any Government support schemes or 
relief packages 

 
We have identified the assessment of Going concern 
as a key audit matter in our audit, due to the 
significance of judgements and assumptions applied by 
management in preparing its assessment of going 
concern under an unpredictable future economic 
environment and relatively restricted operating 
conditions.  

Our audit procedures in this area, included among 
others: 

– Assessing the liquidity position of the Group as at 
reporting date, considering health of the Group’s 
liquidity ratios and its ability to meet its financial 
obligations as and when they become due. 

– Inquiring from management and the Board of 
Directors regarding the Group’s ability to continue as 
a going concern 

– Assessing the business plan prepared by 
management and considering the judgments used 
and assumptions applied by the management in its 
business plan including the following:  

o Management’s expectations of future rentals and 
cash flows, including the contracted status of the 
rental revenue, revenue contracted period, 
expected reduction due to discounts and relief to 
be offered to tenants and recoverability of future 
rentals 
 

o ability of the Group to obtain financing facilities 
from lenders for operational support including 
potential risk and impact, if any, of possible 
financing covenant non-compliances; and  
 

o financial impact of cost saving options planned to 
be implemented by the Group in their business 
plan. 

 
– Assessing the accuracy and reasonableness of the 

underlying information used to prepare the business 
plan; and 

– Evaluating the adequacy of the disclosures, in light of 
the requirements of the relevant financial reporting 
standards. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Shareholders of Arabian Centres Company (continued) 
Revenue recognition  

See Note 4 and 25 to the consolidated financial statements. 

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit 

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group has 
recognized total revenue of SAR 2.20 billion (31 March 
2019: SAR 2.18 billion).  

The Group revenue mainly consists of rental income 
from lease contract.  

Revenue recognition is considered a key audit matter 
since revenue is a key measure of the Group’s 
performance and there is a risk that revenue may be 
overstated resulting from the pressure management 
may feel to achieve performance targets, specially in 
current pandemic situation, and may recognize 
revenue through unauthorized amendments to key 
terms of lease contracts, ignore discounts offered to 
customers or accelerate recognition of revenue 
through accrual in incorrect period by adjusting system 
configuration. 

Our audit procedures in this area, included among 
others: 

– Assessing the Group accounting policies by 
considering the requirements of relevant accounting 
standards; 

– Assessing the design and implementation, and testing 
the operating effectiveness of both manual and 
automated controls over: 

o Entering key terms of the Contract in the system 

o Making amendments to critical terms of lease 
contracts without tenant’s acknowledgements, 
whether through manual input or through 
unauthorised system access; and 

o Recognition of revenue accurately over the term 
of the lease contracts including the system 
configuration control 

 
– Evaluating key contractual arrangements including 

rental discounts by considering relevant 
documentations and agreements with the customers; 

– Testing revenue recognized during the year from a 
sample of lease contracts to assess whether revenue 
recognized under these contracts complies with 
Group's revenue recognition and terms of the lease 
contracts; 

– Obtaining, on a sample basis, accounts receivable 
balance confirmations from the Group’s tenants and 
investigating any discrepancies indicating any 
incorrect recognition of revenue; 

– Testing manual journal entries posted to revenue 
account to identify any unusual items; 

– Performing cut off procedures to assess that revenue 
is recognised in the correct period; and  

– Evaluating the disclosures included in the 
consolidated financial statements. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Shareholders of Arabian Centres Company (continued) 
Impairment of investment properties  

See Note 4 and 13 to the consolidated financial statements. 

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit 

As at 31 March 2020, the Group owns investment 
properties with a carrying amount of SR 11.36 billion 
(31 March 2019: SR 10.98 billion) which are used for 
earning rentals and to gain from appreciation in value. 

Considering the fluctuation in real estate prices and 
possible impact on rentals, the Group assesses at each 
reporting date whether there is an indication that an 
investment property may be impaired. 

If any impairment indication exists, the Group 
estimates recoverable amount of investment properties 
using external real estate valuation experts who 
consider expected future rentals, discount rates and 
other assumptions in determining the value of these 
investment properties. 

We considered this as the key audit matter due to the 
significant judgment and the key assumptions involved 
in determining the recoverable amount of the 
investment properties. 

Our audit procedures in this area, included among 
others: 

– Evaluating the experience and qualification of the real 
estate valuation experts appointed by management 
and considering the expert's suitability for the 
valuation of investment properties; 

– Involving our specialist to assess the key 
assumptions used by the real estate valuation experts 
in determining the value of the investment properties; 

– Agreeing the specific details (area, location etc.) of 
the investment properties as per the valuation reports 
with Group's records and title deeds of the investment 
properties; 

– Comparing the recoverable amount of the investment 
properties as per the Valuation Report with their 
carrying values to check whether recognition of any 
impairment loss is required; and 

– Evaluating the adequacy of the disclosures included 
in the consolidated financial statements. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Shareholders of Arabian Centres Company (continued) 
Lease arrangements (Transition) – IFRS 16  

See Note 5 and 15 to the consolidated financial statements. 

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit 

The Group has adopted IFRS 16 in the financial 
statements for the year ended 31 March 2020 for the 
first time which has introduced a single, on-balance 
sheet accounting model for lessees. Consequently, the 
Group, as a lessee, has recognized right-of-use assets 
representing its rights to use the underlying assets and 
lease liabilities representing its obligation to make 
lease payments. 

The Group has applied IFRS 16 using the modified 
retrospective approach. Accordingly, the comparative 
information presented for 2019 has not been restated 
– i.e. it is presented, as previously reported, under IAS 
17 and related interpretations.  

We considered this as a key audit matter because the 
calculations of amounts underlying the Right-of-use 
assets and the corresponding lease liabilities involve 
new processes for collecting data and complex rules. 
The assumptions and estimates include assessment of 
lease term and the determination of appropriate 
discount rates. 

Our audit procedures in this area, included among 
others: 

̶ Evaluating the appropriateness of the selection of 
accounting policies based on the requirements of 
IFRS 16, our business understanding and industry 
practice; 

̶ Considering the appropriateness of the transition 
approach and practical expedients applied; 

̶ Evaluating management’s process for identifying 
lease contracts to be assessed based on the selected 
transition approach and any practical expedients 
applied; 

̶ Evaluating the completeness, accuracy and 
relevance of data used in preparing the transition 
adjustments; and 

̶ Evaluating the completeness, accuracy and 
relevance of the transition disclosures. 

 

Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in 
the annual report but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The 
annual report is expected to be made available to us after the date of this auditor’s report. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we will not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

When we read the annual report, when made available to us, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement 
therein, we are required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Shareholders of Arabian Centres Company (continued) 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated 
Financial Statements   

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with IFRS that are endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and other standards and pronouncements 
issued by SOCPA, the applicable requirements of the Regulations for Companies and Company’s By-laws and for 
such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or 
has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance, board of directors, are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting 
process. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion. ‘Reasonable assurance’ is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with International Standards on Auditing that are endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.  

As part of an audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing that are endorsed in the Kingdom of 
Saudi Arabia, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We 
also: 

– Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control. 

– Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control. 

– Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by management.  

– Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, then we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.  
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Consolidated statement of financial position
As at 31 March 2020

Note 31 March
2020

31 March
2019

SR SR
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 7 1,045,680,193 457,670,983
Accounts receivable 8 234,254,125 299,245,146
Amounts due from related parties 9 591,222,957 567,558,035
Prepayments and other current assets 10 138,790,964 96,244,969
Accrued revenue (rentals) 69,362,957 30,191,211
Total current assets 2,079,311,196 1,450,910,344
Non-current assets
Advances to a contractor, related party – non-current portion 9 614,438,352 604,914,076
Accrued revenue (rentals) – non-current portion 99,835,361 60,382,421
Investment in an equity-accounted investee 11 53,079,928 42,238,721
Other investments 12 104,463,375 108,708,763
Investment properties 13 11,356,912,845 10,983,848,465
Property and equipment 14 91,474,811 114,773,889
Right-of-use assets 15 3,561,974,788 --
Total non-current assets 15,882,179,460 11,914,866,335
Total assets 17,961,490,656 13,365,776,679
Liabilities and equity
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Lease liabilities – current portion 15 338,065,081 --
Current portion of long-term loans 16 45,000,000 501,875,532
Accounts payable 17 149,442,700 217,760,402
Amounts due to related parties 9 3,899,682 22,499,022
Unearned revenue 18 177,225,232 305,506,061
Accrued lease rentals -- 11,480,894
Accruals and other current liabilities 19 232,071,497 326,082,270
Zakat payable 20 78,524,952 82,457,716
Total current liabilities 1,024,229,144 1,467,661,897
Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities – non-current portion 15 3,899,162,750 --
Long-term borrowings 16 6,970,743,077 6,239,159,152
Accrued lease rentals – non-current portion -- 515,366,044
Employees’ end-of-service benefits 21 30,370,714 31,744,170
Other non-current liabilities 19 52,729,339 47,085,296
Total non-current liabilities 10,953,005,880 6,833,354,662
Total liabilities 11,977,235,024 8,301,016,559
Equity
Share capital 22 4,750,000,000 4,450,000,000
Share premium 22 411,725,703 --
Statutory reserve 23 513,092,734 449,699,309
Other reserves (18,103,542) (18,272,000)
Retained earnings 326,282,581 183,241,759
Equity attributable to the shareholders of the Company 5,982,997,476 5,064,669,068
Non-controlling interests 1,258,156 91,052
Total equity 5,984,255,632 5,064,760,120
Total liabilities and equity 17,961,490,656 13,365,776,679

The accompanying notes on pages 143 to 187 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Jabri Maali Faisal Abdullah Al Jedaie Fawaz Alhokair

Chief Financial Officer Chief Executive Officer Chairman

Financial Statements  //  Independent Auditor’s Report 
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Consolidated statement of profit or loss
For the year ended 31 March 2020

Note 31 March
2020

31 March
2019

SR SR
Revenue 25 2,197,315,187 2,176,399,680

Cost of revenue

 - Direct costs 26 (316,594,593) (521,177,627)

 - Depreciation of right-of-use assets 15 (155,864,844) --

 - Depreciation of investment properties 13 (286,418,176) (256,916,024)

 - Write-off of investment properties -- (4,397,441)

Gross profit 1,438,437,574 1,393,908,588

Other income 27 12,678,935 10,697,190

Other expense 28 (3,376,868) (6,821,779)

Advertisement and promotion expenses 29 (12,946,592) (5,642,340)

Impairment loss on accounts receivable 8 (119,264,999) (43,524,466)

General and administration expenses 30 (182,674,510) (171,821,914)

Operating profit 1,132,853,540 1,176,795,279

Share of profit of equity-accounted investee 11 15,841,207 11,569,399

Interest expense on lease liabilities 15 (134,543,493) --

Finance cost 31 (351,259,733) (439,540,747)

Profit before zakat 662,891,521 748,823,931

Zakat (expense)/ reversal 20 (20,290,170) 55,276,825

Profit for the year 642,601,351 804,100,756

Profit for the year attributable to:

Shareholders of the Company 633,934,247 789,599,943

Non-controlling interests 8,667,104 14,500,813

642,601,351 804,100,756

Earnings per share:
Basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to the 
Shareholders of the Company 32 1.35 1.77

The accompanying notes on pages 143 to 187 form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 

Jabri Maali Faisal Abdullah Al Jedaie Fawaz Alhokair

Chief Financial Officer Chief Executive Officer Chairman

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 March 2020

31 March
2020

31 March
2019

w Note SR SR
Profit for the year 642,601,351 804,100,756

Other comprehensive income

Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

Re-measurement of defined benefit liability 21  3,969,458 (1,555,000)

Other investment at FVOCI – net change in fair value 12 (3,801,000) 1,900,000

Total comprehensive income for the year 642,769,809 804,445,756

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:

Shareholders of the Company 634,102,705 789,944,943

Non-controlling interests 8,667,104 14,500,813

642,769,809 804,445,756

The accompanying notes on pages 143 to 187 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Jabri Maali Faisal Abdullah Al Jedaie Fawaz Alhokair

Chief Financial Officer Chief Executive Officer Chairman

Financial Statements  //  Consolidated Financial Statements
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Consolidated statement of cash flows 
For the year ended 31 March 2020

31 March
2020

31 March
2019

Note SR SR
Cash flows from operating activities 
Profit before Zakat 662,891,521 748,823,931
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of investment properties 13 286,418,176 256,916,024
Depreciation of property and equipment 14 30,784,955 35,407,948
Depreciation of right of use assets 15 159,631,890 --
Share of profit of equity accounted investee 11 (15,841,207) (11,569,399)
Finance cost 31 351,259,733 439,540,747
Interest expense on lease liabilities 15 134,543,493 --
Provision for employees’ end-of-services benefits 21 7,164,937 6,471,000
Impairment loss on accounts receivable 8 119,264,999 43,524,466
Impairment on advances to suppliers 28 2,822,235 6,069,287
Write-off of investment properties 13 -- 4,397,441
Change in fair value of other investments (FVTPL) 12 444,388 267,454

1,739,385,120 1,529,848,899
Changes in:
Accounts receivable (54,273,978) (59,274,726)
Amounts due from related parties, net (137,101,460) (879,121,000)
Prepayments and other current assets (91,050,374) (23,502,552)
Accounts payable (35,364,277) (49,107,067)
Accrued revenue (rentals) (78,624,688) 8,380,458
Accrued lease rentals -- 11,646,965
Unearned revenue (128,280,829) 28,253,821
Accruals and other current liabilities (34,982,360) (63,179,614)
Cash generated from operating activities 1,179,707,154 503,945,184
Employees’ end-of-service benefits paid 21 (4,568,935) (6,620,000)
Zakat paid 20 (5,877,732) --
Net cash from operating activities 1,169,260,487 497,325,184
Cash flows from investing activities
Additions to investment properties 13 (451,715,349) (444,931,448)
Purchase of property and equipment 14 (7,485,877) (13,450,541)
Dividend received from an associate 11 5,000,000 9,000,000
Advances to a contractor, related party (9,524,274) (249,714,101)
Net cash used in investing activities (463,725,500) (699,096,090)
Cash flows from financing activities
Payment of financial charges (384,093,476) (168,360,882)
Dividends paid (427,500,000) --
Payment of lease liabilities 15 (282,059,608) --
Proceeds from long-term borrowings 16 5,368,675,202 7,086,318,069
Proceeds from Sukuk 16 1,874,950,000
Payment of transaction costs 16 (114,671,202) (91,692,960)
Repayment of long-term borrowings 16 (6,932,826,693) (6,227,173,306)
Proceeds from initial public offering 780,000,000 --
Dividend paid by subsidiary to non-controlling interest shareholders -- (20,000,000)
Net cash (used in)/ from  financing activities (117,525,777) 579,090,921
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 588,009,210 377,320,015
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 7 457,670,983 80,350,968
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 7 1,045,680,193 457,670,983
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Consolidated statement of cash flows (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2020

31 March
2020

31 March
2019

Note SR SR
Non-cash transactions:

Right-of-use assets 5 3,656,779,235 --

Lease liability on right-of-use assets 5 4,171,064,692 --

Prepaid rent reclassified to right-of-use assets 5 46,400,060 --

Capitalized finance cost for project under construction 53,341,300 50,144,855
Capitalized depreciation of right-of-use assets for project under 
construction 15 57,750,995 --

Capitalized interest expense on lease liabilities for project under 
construction 15 91,470,816 --

Non-controlling interest dividends settled through adjusting 
amounts due to related parties 7,500,000 --

Capitalized arrangement fees for project under construction 5,574,316 --

Accruals and other current liabilities reclassified to right-of-use assets 5 808,475 --

Initial public offering transaction costs 22 68,274,297 --

Dividends settled through Ultimate Parent Company’s account 9 & 24 -- 640,000,000

Investment property transferred to related parties  9 & 13 -- (83,867,364)

Zakat payable transferred to the Ultimate Parent Company 9 & 20 18,345,202 8,825,429

Capitalized rent- investment properties -- 142,545,087

Impact of adoption IFRS opening -- 36,761,710

Rent free period - Investment properties -- (90,461,596)

Accounts payable transferred to the Ultimate Parent Company -- 9,857,629
Amounts due from related parties settled through the Ultimate 
Parent Company account -- (20,500,000)

Property, plant and equipment transferred to the Ultimate Parent 
Company account -- (96,282)

The accompanying notes on pages 143 to 187 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Jabri Maali Faisal Abdullah Al Jedaie Fawaz Alhokair

Chief Financial Officer Chief Executive Officer Chairman

Notes to the consolidated financial statements  
For the year ended 31 March 2020

1. Corporate information and activities
Arabian Centres Company (“the Company”) is a Saudi Joint Stock Company registered in Riyadh, Kingdom of Saudi 
Arabia (“KSA”) under commercial registration numbered 1010209177 and dated 7 Rabi Thani 1426H (corresponding to 
15 May 2005). The registered office is located at Nakheel District, P.O. Box 341904, Riyadh 11333, KSA. 

The Company was formed on 7 Rabi Thani 1426H (corresponding to 15 May 2005) as Limited Liability Company. On 
8 Muhurram 1439H (corresponding to 28 September 2017) legal status of the Company had changed from a Limited 
Liability Company to a Saudi Closed Joint Stock Company. 

On 22 May 2019, the Company completed its Initial Public Offering (“IPO”) and its ordinary shares were listed on the 
Saudi Stock Exchange (“Tadawul”). In connection with IPO, the Company has issued 95 million of its ordinary shares 
for a cash payment and the legal status of the Company has changed from Saudi Closed Joint Stock Company to Saudi 
Joint Stock Company.

The Company and its subsidiaries mentioned below (collectively referred to as “the Group”) principal business objec-
tives are to purchase lands, build, develop and invest in buildings, selling or leasing of buildings and construction of 
commercial buildings including demolition, repair, excavation and maintenance works. It also includes maintenance 
and operation of commercial centres, tourist resorts, hotels and restaurants, managing and operating temporary and 
permanent exhibitions, compounds and hospitals.

Following is the list of subsidiaries included in these consolidated financial statements as of 31 March 2020 and 31 March 2019:

Ownership %
Name of subsidiary (i) Direct Indirect (ii)

Riyadh Centres Company Limited 95% 5%

Al Bawarij International for Development & Real Estate Investment Company 95% 5%

Al Makarem International for Real Estate Development Company 95% 5%

Oyoun Al Raed Mall Trading 95% 5%

Oyoun Al Basateen Company for Trading 95% 5%
Al-Qasseem Company for Entertainment and Commercial Projects Owned by Abdul-
mohsin AlHokair and Company 50% --

Yarmouk Mall Company Limited 95% 5%

Al Erth Al Matin Trading Company 95% 5%

Arkan Salam for Real Estate and Contracting Company Limited 95% 5%

Mall of Arabia Company Limited 95% 5%

Aziz Mall Trading Company Limited 95% 5%

Dhahran Mall Trading Company Limited 95% 5%

Al Noor Mall Trading Company Limited 95% 5%

Al Yasmeen Mall Trading Company 95% 5%

Al Dammam Mall Trading Company 95% 5%

Al Malaz Mall Trading Company 95% 5%

Al Hamra Mall Trading Company 95% 5%

Al Erth Al Rasekh Trading Company 95% 5%

(i)All subsidiaries are limited liability companies incorporated in KSA.
(ii)Indirect ownership is held through other subsidiaries within the Group.
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2. Basis of preparation and presentation
Statement of compliance 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) as endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and other standards and pronouncements that are issued 
by Saudi Organization for Certified Public Accountants (‘SOCPA’) and Company’s by-laws.

This is the first set of the Group’s financial statements in which IFRS 16 “leases” has been applied and the resultant 
changes to the significant accounting policies are described in Note 5.

Basis of measurement, functional and presentation currency
These consolidated financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention except for measurement of 
other investments at fair value and employees end of service benefits using projected unit credit method. These consoli-
dated financial statements are presented in Saudi Arabian Riyal (SR), which is the functional currency of the Company.

Basis of consolidation
a) Subsidiaries
Refer to note 3 for details on judgements applied by the Group in respect of determination of control.

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee, if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes 
to the elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and 
ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired 
or disposed during the period are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date the Group gains 
control until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit / loss and each component of OCI are attributed to the Shareholders of the Company and to the non-controlling 
interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are 
made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the Group’s accounting 
policies. All intra-group asset and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between 
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

A list of subsidiaries is provided in note 1 which also discloses the percentages of ownership.

b). Change in ownership interest
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction. If 
the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it:

• derecognizes the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary;
• derecognizes the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests;
• derecognizes the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;
• recognizes the fair value of the consideration received;
• recognizes the fair value of any investment retained;
• recognizes any surplus or deficit in the consolidated statement of profit or loss; and
• reclassifies the shareholders’ share of components previously recognized in OCI to consolidated statement of profit 

or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate, as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related 
assets or liabilities.

• When the Group ceases to consolidate for an investment in subsidiary because of a loss of control, any retained 
interest in the entity is re-measured to its fair value with the change in carrying amount recognized in the consoli-
dated statement of profit or loss. This fair value becomes the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequent 
accounting for the retained interest as an associate or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recog-
nized in OCI in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or 
liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognized in OCI are reclassified to the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss.

c) Non-controlling interests
Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated statement 
of financial position, consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of comprehensive income and 
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

d) Associate
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is 
not control or joint control over those policies. Investments in an associate is accounted for using the equity method of 
accounting, after initially being recognized at cost.

Equity method of accounting is used for the investment in an associate. Under the equity method of accounting, the 
investments are initially recognized at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognize the Group’s share of the post-acquisition 
profits or losses of the investee in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, and the Group’s share of movements in 
OCI of the investee in consolidated statement of comprehensive income, if any.

Dividends received or receivable from an associate are recognized as a reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.

When the Group’s share of losses in an equity-accounted investment equals or exceeds its interest in the entity, including 
any other unsecured long-term receivables, the Group does not recognize further losses, unless it has incurred obliga-
tions or made payments on behalf of the other entity.

Unrealized gains on transactions, if any, between the Group and its associate are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s 
interest in its associate. Unrealized losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impair-
ment of the asset transferred.

Goodwill, if any, relating to the associate is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is neither amortized 
nor individually tested for impairment.

The aggregate of the Group’s share of profit or loss of an associate is shown on the face of the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss, outside operating income.

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognize an impairment loss 
on its investment in an associate. At each reporting date, the Group determines whether there is objective evidence that 
the investment in an associate is impaired. If there is such evidence, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as 
the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value, then recognizes the loss as ‘share 
in earnings’ of an associate in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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Upon loss of significant influence over an associate, the Group measures and recognizes any retained investment at its fair 
value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate upon loss of significant influence and the fair value of 
the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant influence is retained, only a proportionate share of the 
amounts previously recognized in OCI are reclassified to the consolidated statement of profit or loss where appropriate.

3. Significant accounting estimates, assumptions and judgements 
The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses and assets and liabilities at the reporting date. 
However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material 
adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in the future. These estimates and assumptions are 
based upon experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances and are 
used to judge the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates 
and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the 
period in which the estimates are revised or in the revision period and future periods if the changed estimates affect 
both current and future periods.

Estimates and assumptions 
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that 
have a significant risk of causing a material differences in the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial period, are presented below. The Group used these assumptions and estimates on the basis available when 
the consolidated financial statements were prepared. However, existing circumstances and assumptions about future 
developments may change due to market changes or circumstances arising that are beyond the control of the Group. 
Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur.

Impairment test of non-financial assets
Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or Cash Generating Unit (“CGU”) exceeds its recoverable amount, 
which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The fair value less costs of disposal cal-
culation is based on available data from binding sales transactions, conducted at arm’s length, for similar assets or 
observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing off the asset. The value in use calculation is based on 
a Discounted Cash Flow (“DCF”) model. The cash flows are derived from the budget for the next five years and do 
not include restructuring activities that the Group is not yet committed to or significant future investments that will 
enhance the performance of the CGU being tested. The recoverable amount is sensitive to the discount rate used for the 
DCF model as well as the expected future net cash-inflows and the growth rate used for extrapolation purposes.

Provisions
By their nature, provisions are dependent upon estimates and assessments whether the criteria for recognition have 
been met, including estimates of the probability of cash outflows. Provisions for litigation are based on an estimate of 
the costs, taking into account legal advice and other information presently available. Provisions for termination benefits 
and exit costs, if any, also involve management’s judgement in estimating the expected cash outflows for other exit costs. 

Provisions for uncertain liabilities involve management’s best estimate of whether cash outflows are probable.

Long-term assumptions for employee benefits 
Employees’ end-of-service benefits represent obligations that will be settled in the future and require assumptions to 
project obligations. Management is required to make further assumptions regarding variables such as discount rates, 
rate of salary increase, mortality rates, employment turnover and future healthcare costs. Periodically, management 
of the Group consults with external actuaries regarding these assumptions. Changes in key assumptions can have a 
significant impact on the projected benefit obligations and/or periodic employee defined benefit costs incurred.

Measurement of Expected Credit Loss (ECL) allowance for accounts receivable: key assumptions in 
determining the weighted average loss rate
The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of the customer. However, 
management also considers the factors that may influence the credit risk of its customer base, including the default risk 
associated with other social-economic factors. Such estimates are based on assumptions relating to those factors and 
actual results may differ, resulting in future changes to the impairment.

Economic useful lives of investment properties and property and equipment
The Group’s management determines the estimated useful lives of its investment properties and property and equipment 
for calculating depreciation. This estimate is determined after considering the expected usage of the asset or physical wear 
and tear. The Group periodically reviews estimated useful lives and the depreciation method to ensure that the method and 
period of depreciation are consistent with the expected pattern of economic benefits derived from these assets.

Critical judgements in applying accounting standards
The following critical judgements have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the consolidated finan-
cial statements:

Component parts of investment properties and property and equipment 
The Group’s assets, classified within investment properties and property and equipment, are depreciated on a straight-
line basis over their economic useful lives. When determining the economic useful life of an asset, it is broken down into 
significant component parts such that each significant component part is depreciated separately.

Judgement is required in ascertaining the significant components of a larger asset, and while defining the significance of a 
component, management considers quantitative materiality of the component part as well as qualitative factors such as differ-
ence in useful life as compared to related asset, its pattern of consumption and its replacement cycle/maintenance schedule.

Determination of control and significant influence 
Management’s judgement in assessing control over consolidated subsidiaries:
Subsidiaries are all investees over which the Group has control. The Group’s management considers that the Group 
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to or has rights to variable returns from its involvement with the investee 
and the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the amount of those returns through its power to direct the 
relevant activities of the investees.

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in control. To support this presumption and 
when the Group has equal or less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all 
other relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including any contractual 
and other such arrangements which may affect the activities which impact investees’ return. 
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The determination about whether the Group has power thus depends on such relevant activities, the way decisions 
about the relevant activities are made and the rights the Group has in relation to the investees. 

In certain cases where the Group owns 50% or less of voting rights, it may still be the single largest shareholder with 
presence on the governing body giving it power to direct relevant activities of the investees, whereby the other share-
holders individually do not hold sufficient voting rights and power to overrule the Group’s directions. There is no prior 
instance of other shareholders collaborating to exercise their votes collectively or to out-vote the Group.

The management has considered the integration of all such investees (where the Group has equal or less than a majority 
of the voting rights) within the Group structure and located in cities in KSA, the ability of the Group to impact variable 
returns of the investees through the provision of various key services to such investees, the relationship of the Group 
with other entities which may impact returns of investees, appointment of certain key management personnel and 
various other such factors.

Based on above considerations, management of the Group believes: 

• there is a pattern of past and existing practice of the Group’s involvement in the relevant activities of these investees result-
ing in an impact on their returns and also indicating a more than passive interest of the Group in such investees; and

• the Group has created an environment in which the set-up and function of these investees and their interrelationship 
with the Group leads towards a judgement of ‘control’.

Hence, the Group has consolidated those investees, which meet the above criteria as part of the Group’s consolidated 
financial statements.

Management’s judgement in assessing significant influence over investees:
Judgement was required, particularly where the Group owns shareholding and voting rights of generally 20% and above 
but where the management does not believe that it has ‘control’ or ‘joint control’ over such investee.

In case of such investee, the Group’s management has concluded it has ‘significant influence’ in line with the requirements 
of IFRSs as endorsed in KSA. Significant influence is defined as the power to participate in the financial and operating 
policy decisions of the investee but is not ‘control’ or ‘joint control’. IFRSs as endorsed in KSA provides various indicators 
of ‘significant influence’, including representation in the Board of Directors and participation in policymaking process.

By virtue of the Group’s shareholding rights in the investee’s general meetings, as well as the Group’s representation 
on Board of Directors of such investee and the Group’s involvement in operating and financial policies and decision 
making, management believes it has ‘significant influence’ over such investee (“associate”).

The Group is accounting for such investment in an associate under the equity method of accounting.

4. Summary of significant accounting policies 
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements have been 
consistently applied to all periods presented except for IFRS 16 “Leases” which have been applied for the first time as 
described in note 5. A comparative figure of SAR 499.5 million has been reclassified from “current advances to contrac-
tor” to “non-current advances to contractor” to conform to current period presentation.

Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and bank balances and short-term deposits with maturities of three months 
or less from the date of acquisition that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in their fair value, used by the 
Group in the management of its short-term commitments and are available to the Group without any restriction.

Foreign currencies 
Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into Saudi Riyal (SR) at the rates of exchange prevailing at the time of the 
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated 
at the exchange rates prevailing at that date. Gains and losses from settlement and translation of foreign currency 
transactions are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Translation of non-monetary items depends 
on whether they are recognized at historical cost or at fair value. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of 
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.

Non-monetary assets that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the 
date when the fair value was determined. The gain or loss arising on translation of non-monetary items measured at fair 
value is treated in line with the recognition of gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e. translation differences 
on items whose fair value gain or loss is recognized in consolidated statement of comprehensive income or consolidated 
statement of profit or loss).

Current versus non-current classification
The Group presents assets and liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position based on current/non-
current classification. An asset is current when it is:

• Expected to be realized or intended to be sold or consumed in the normal operating cycle;
• Held primarily for the purpose of trading;
• Expected to be realized within twelve months after the reporting period; or
• Cash or cash equivalents unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve months 

after the reporting period.

All other assets are classified as non-current.

A liability is current when:

• It is expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle;
• It is held primarily for the purpose of trading;
• It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period; or
• There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period.
• The Group classifies all other liabilities as non-current.

Fair value measurement
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that 
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

• In the principal market for the asset or liability, or
• In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.
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The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when 
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available 
to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the  consolidated financial statements are 
categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the 
fair value measurement as a whole:

• Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
• Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is 

directly or indirectly observable
• Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is 

unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the  consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group 
determines whether transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorization (based on 
the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of the 
nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above.

Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer and is recognised when a 
customer obtains control of the goods or services. Determining the timing of the transfer of control – at a point in time 
or over time – requires judgement. 

Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue 
can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is being made. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the 
consideration received or receivable, taking into account contractually defined terms of payment and excluding any 
levies or duty. 

Rental income
The Group is the lessor for various operating leases. Rental income arising from operating leases on investment property 
is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in revenue in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss due to its operating nature, except for contingent rental income which is recognized when it arises. 
Accrued revenue is recognized to the extent that the revenue has been earned but not yet billed.

Tenant lease incentives including rental discounts are recognized as a reduction of rental revenue on a straight-line 
basis over the term of the lease. The lease term is the non-cancellable period of the lease together with any further term 
for which the tenant has the option to continue the lease, where, at the inception of the lease, the management are 
reasonably certain that the tenant will exercise that option.

Amounts received from tenants to terminate leases or to compensate for dilapidations are recognized in the consoli-
dated statement of profit or loss when the right to receive them arises.

Turnover rent
The Group recognizes income from turnover rent on the basis of turnover reports submitted by the tenants. In the 
absence of reports, management makes its own assessment about the tenants achieving or exceeding the stipulated 
turnover in the lease contracts based on their historical performance.

Service charges, management charges and other expenses recoverable from tenants 
Income arising from expenses recharged to tenants is recognized in the period in which the compensation becomes 
due. Service and management charges related to repairs and maintenance of the building facilities and other such 
receipts are included in revenue while the related costs, which are included as part of cost of revenue, as the manage-
ment considers that the Group acts as a principal in this respect.

Service charges related to utilities for heavy users are presented net of the related costs and are recorded as part of “com-
mission income on provisions for utilities for heavy users, net” under revenue in the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss, since the management considers that the Group acts as an agent in this respect.

Principal versus agent consideration
The Group has evaluated its arrangements to determine whether it is a principal, and report revenues on a gross basis, 
or an agent, and report revenues on a net basis. In this assessment, the Group has considered if it has obtained control of 
the specified services before they are transferred to the customer, as well as other indicators such as the party primarily 
responsible for fulfilment, inventory risk and discretion in establishing price. The Group has concluded it is the principal 
in all of its revenue arrangements (except for service charges related to utilities for heavy users – as discussed in the 
previous section) since it is the primary obligor, it has pricing latitude and is also exposed to credit risks. 

Presentation and disclosure requirements
As required for the consolidated financial statements, the Group disaggregated revenue recognized from contracts with 
customers into categories that depict how the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows are 
affected by economic factors. Refer to note (25) for the disclosure on disaggregated revenue.

Interest income
Interest income is recognized using the Effective Interest Rate (“EIR”) method. When a receivable is impaired, the Group 
reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the estimated future cash flow discounted at the original 
EIR of the instrument, and continues unwinding the discount as interest income. Interest income on impaired loans is 
recognized using the original EIR.

Dividend income
Dividend income from investments is recognized when the Group’s rights to receive payment have been established.

Other income
All other income are recognized on an accrual basis when the Group’s right to earn the income is established.

Expenses
Advertisement and promotion expenses principally comprise expenses incurred in promotion and advertisement of the 
shopping malls. All other expenses are classified as cost of revenues and general and administration expenses.

General and administration expenses include expenses not specifically part of the cost of revenue and promotion and 
advertising expenses. Allocations between general and administration expenses and cost of revenues, when required, 
are made on a consistent basis.
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Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that necessarily takes a 
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalized as part of the cost of the asset. All other 
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they occur. Borrowing costs consist of finance and other costs that 
an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

The interest capitalized is calculated using the Group’s weighted average cost of borrowings after adjusting for borrow-
ings associated with specific developments. Where borrowings are associated with specific developments, the amount 
capitalized is the gross interest incurred on those borrowings less any investment income arising on their temporary 
investment. Interest is capitalized as from the commencement of the development work until the date of practical 
completion, when substantially all of the development work is completed. The capitalization of borrowing costs is sus-
pended if there are prolonged periods when development activity is interrupted. Borrowing costs is also capitalized on 
the purchase cost of a site of property acquired specifically for redevelopment, but only where activities necessary to 
prepare the asset for redevelopment are in progress.

Zakat 
Zakat is provided in accordance with the Regulations of the General Authority of Zakat and Tax (GAZT) in the Kingdom 
of Saudi Arabia on an accrual basis. The zakat expense is charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Differ-
ences, if any, resulting from the final assessments are adjusted in the year of their finalization.

In calculating the zakat expense for the current year, the Group has adjusted its profit ad applied certain deductions to 
its zakat base used to calculate the zakat expenses. However, the zakat legislations of the General Authority of Zakat 
and Tax (GAZT) in relation to those assessments and deductions are not clear. The Group’s management made its best 
estimates for those assumptions based on industry practice and historical experience.

Property and equipment
Property and equipment is stated at historical cost, net of accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses, if any. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. Expenditures on 
repairs and maintenance are expensed to the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period they are incurred. 
Subsequent expenditures that increase the value or materially extend the life of the related assets are capitalized. Lease-
holds improvements are amortized on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the useful life of the improvement and the 
term of the lease.

Depreciation is calculated from the date the item of property and equipment is available for its intended use. It is calcu-
lated on a straight-line basis over the useful life of the asset as follows: 

Number of years
Tools and equipment 4 – 8 years

Furniture and fixtures 4 – 10 years

Vehicles 4 years

Leasehold improvements 5 – 6 years
(Shorter of economic life or lease term)

Residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation of property and equipment are reviewed on an annual basis, 
and adjusted prospectively if appropriate, at each reporting date. Properties under construction, which are not ready for 
its intended use, are not depreciated.

An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected 
from its use. Any gain or loss arising on de-recognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period 
when the asset is derecognized.

The carrying amounts of property and equipment is written-down immediately to its recoverable amount if the carrying 
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Investment properties
Investment property comprises completed property and property under construction or redevelopment that is held to 
earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Property held under a lease is classified as investment property when it 
is held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both, rather than for sale in the ordinary course of business or for 
administrative functions.

Investment property is measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Transaction costs include transfer charges, 
professional fees for legal services and initial leasing commissions to bring the property to the condition necessary for 
it to be capable of operating. The carrying amount also includes the costs of replacing part of an existing investment 
property at the time that cost is incurred if the recognition criteria are met.

Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any 
impairment in value. Land and projects under construction are not depreciated.

Expenditure for repair and maintenance is charged to consolidated statement of profit or loss as incurred. Improve-
ments that increase the value or materially extend the life of the related assets are capitalized.

Number of years
Building: Electrical components 25 years

Building: Mechanical components 15 years

Building: Firefighting system 30 years

Building: Conveying system 20 years

Building 50 years

Building on leasehold land: Mechanical components 15 – 25 years
(Shorter of economic life or lease term)

Building on leasehold land 4 – 50 years
(Shorter of economic life or lease term)

Transfers are made to/from investment properties only when there is a change in use. For a transfer from investment 
properties to owner-occupied property, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting is the fair value at the date of 
change in use. If owner occupied property becomes an investment property, the Group accounts for such property in 
accordance with the policy stated under property and equipment up to date the date of change in use.
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Investment properties is derecognized either when it has been disposed of or when it is permanently withdrawn from use 
and no future economic benefits is expected from its disposal. The difference between the net disposal proceeds and the 
carrying amount of the asset is recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period of de-recognition.

Impairment of non-financial assets and liabilities
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any indication 
exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group estimates the assets recoverable amount. 
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or CGU fair value less costs to sell and its value-in-use and is 
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those 
from other assets or groups of assets. Where the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, 
the asset or CGU is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. In assessing the value-in-use, 
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a discount rate that reflects current market 
assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

The Group’s impairment calculation is based on detailed budgets and forecast calculations which are prepared sepa-
rately for each of the Group’s CGU’s to which the individual asset is allocated. These budgets and forecast calculations 
generally cover a five-year period. For longer periods, a long-term growth rate is calculated and applied to project future 
cash flows after the budget period.

Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in those 
expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

For assets other than above, an assessment is made at each financial year-end as to whether there is any indication that 
previously recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the Group 
estimates the asset’s or CGU’s recoverable amount. A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has 
been a change in the assumptions used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was 
recognized. This reversal is limited such that the recoverable amount doesn’t exceed what the carrying amount would 
have been, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is 
recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Financial instruments
Recognition and initial measurement

Accounts receivables and debt securities issued are initially recognised when they are originated. All other financial 
assets and financial liabilities are initially recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions 
of the instrument. A financial asset (unless it is an accounts  receivable without a significant finance component) or 
finance liability is initially measured at fair

value plus, for an item not at FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. An 
accounts  receivable without significant financing component is initially measured at the transaction price

Classification and subsequent measurement
Financial assets – initial measurement
On initial measurement, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost, FVOCI – debt instrument; 
FVOCI – equity instrument or fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL).

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to initial measurement unless the Group changes the business model for 
managing financial assets, in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the first day of the first reporting 
period following the change in the business model.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL:

• it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and
• its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on 

the principal amount outstanding.

A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL:

• it is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling 
financial assets; and

• its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on 
the principal amount outstanding

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Group may irrevocably elect to present 
subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in OCI. This election is made on an investment-by-investment basis.

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as described above are measured at FVTPL. This 
includes all derivative financial assets. On initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that other-
wise meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly 
reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.

Financial assets – Business model assessment
The Group makes an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial asset is held at a portfolio level, 
because this best reflects the way the business is managed and information is provided to management. The information 
considered includes:

• the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice. These include whether 
management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual interest income, maintaining a particular interest rate profile, 
matching the duration of the financial assets to the duration of any related liabilities or expected cash outflows or realising 
cash flows through the sale of the assets;

• how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Group’s management;
• the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that business model) and 

how those risks are managed;
• how managers of the business are compensated - e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair value of the assets man-

aged or the contractual cash flows collected; and
• the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and expectations 

about future sales activity.
• Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that do not qualify for derecognition are not considered sales 

for this purpose,
• consistent with the Group’s continuing recognition of the assets.
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Financial assets that are held for trading or are managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value basis are 
measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets – Subsequent measurement and gains and losses
The following accounting policies apply to the subsequent measurement of financial assets:

Financial assets at FVTPL - These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including any 
interest or dividend income, are recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets at amortised cost - These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective inter-
est method. The amortised cost is reduced by impairment loss, if any. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses 
and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

Equity investments at FVOCI - These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are recognised as income 
in profit or loss unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Other net gains 
and losses are recognised in OCI and are never reclassified to profit or loss as well.

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. A financial liability is classified as at FVTPL 
if it is classified as held-for-trading, it is a derivative or it is designated as such on initial recognition. Financial liabilities 
at FVTPL are measured at fair value and net gains and losses, including any interest expense, are recognised in profit or 
loss. Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest 
expense and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is also 
recognised in profit or loss

Derecognition
Financial assets
The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, 
or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all of the risks and 
rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the Group neither transfers nor retains substan-
tially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset.

The Group enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised on its statement of financial position, but 
retains either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets. In such cases, the transferred 
assets are not derecognised.

Financial liabilities
The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled, or expire. The 
Group also derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the modified liability are 
substantially different, in which case a new financial liability based on the modified terms is recognised at fair value.

On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount extinguished and the consideration 
paid (including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed) is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement  of financial position 
when, and only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and it intends either to 
settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Impairment of financial assets
The Group applies IFRS 9 simplified approach for measuring ECL, which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance. The 
method is applied for assessing an allowance against:

• financial assets measured at amortized cost; and 
• contract assets

Loss allowances for accounts receivable with or without significant financing component are measured at an amount 
equal to lifetime ECL.

Bank balances for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring over the expected life of the financial instrument) 
has not increased significantly since initial recognition are measured at 12-month ECL.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition and 
when estimating ECL, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available with-
out undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group’s 
historical experience and informed credit assessment and including forward-looking information.

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial instrument.

12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible within the 12 months after the report-
ing date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument is less than 12 months). In all cases, the maximum period 
considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

ECL Model
ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present value of all cash 
shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows 
that the Group expects to receive).

Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future 
cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:

• significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;
• a breach of contract such as a default or being more than 720 days past due;
• it is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or
• the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying amount of the assets.
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Write-off
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there is no 
realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Group determines that the debtor does not have assets 
or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. However, 
financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the Group’s 
procedures for recovery of amounts due.

Provisions
Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, 
it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a 
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are not recognized for future operating losses.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the 
present obligation at the end of the reporting period. The discount rate used to determine the present value is a pre- 
zakat rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to liability. The 
increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognized as financial charges.

Employee benefits 
Short-term obligations
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits and accumulating leaves, air fare and child educa-
tion allowance that are expected to be settled wholly within twelve months after the end of the period in which the 
employees render the related service are recognized in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting 
period and are measured at amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. The liabilities are presented as 
current employee benefit obligations in the consolidated statement of financial position.

End-of-services benefits obligation
The Group end of service benefits which qualifies as defined benefit plans. The liability recognized in the consolidated 
statement of financial position is the Defined Benefit Obligation (DBO) at the reporting date. 

DBO is re-measured on a periodic basis by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method. The present 
value of the DBO is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of high-quality 
corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms approxi-
mating to the terms of the related obligation. For instances where there is no deep market in such bonds, the market 
rates on government bonds are used. The discount rate is based on government bond yields in KSA.

The net interest cost is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net balance of the DBO. This cost is included in 
employees’ salaries and other benefits expense in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Re-measurement gains and losses arising from changes in actuarial assumptions are recognized in the period in which 
they occur in OCI. Changes in the present value of the DBO resulting from plan amendments or curtailments are recog-
nized immediately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss as past service costs.

The actuarial valuation process takes into consideration the provisions of the Saudi Arabian Labour and Workmen Law 
as well as the Group’s policy. 

Dividends 
The Company recognizes a liability to make dividend distribution to the shareholders of the Company when the distribu-
tion is authorized and the distribution is no longer at the discretion of the Company. In accordance with the Companies 
Law in KSA, a distribution is authorized when it is approved by the shareholders. A corresponding amount is recognized 
directly in equity. 

Segment reporting
An operating segment is a component of the Group: 

• that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses;
• results of its operations are continuously analyzed by management in order to make decisions related to resource 

allocation and performance assessment; and
• for which discrete financial information is available. 

Management considers the operations of the Group as a whole as one operating segment as all subsidiaries engage in 
similar business activities.

A geographical segment is a Group of assets, operations or entities engaged in revenue producing activities within a 
particular economic environment that are subject to risks and returns different from those operating in other economic 
environments. All of the Group’s operation are conducted in KSA hence only one geographic segment has been identified.

5. Changes in significant accounting policies 
The Group initially applied IFRS 16 Leases from 1 April 2019, the new standard is effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2019. A number of other new standards are also effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2019, but they do not have a material effect on the Group’s financial statements. 

The Group has applied IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach. At the date of initial application, the Group 
has adopted a policy to recognise the right-of-use asset at an amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by any related 
prepaid or accrued lease payments, that resulted in no adjustment to the retained earnings as at 1 April 2019. Accord-
ingly, the comparative information presented for 2019 is not restated – i.e. it is presented, as previously reported, under 
IAS 17 and related interpretations. The details of the changes in accounting policies are disclosed below. Additionally, 
the disclosure requirements in IFRS 16 have not generally been applied to comparative information. 

A) Definition of a lease
Previously, the Group determined at contract inception whether an arrangement is or contains a lease under IFRIC 4. 
Under IFRS 16, the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the definition of a lease. Under 
IFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys a right to control the use of an identified asset for a 
period of time in exchange for consideration.

On transition to IFRS 16, the Group elected to apply the practical expedient to grandfather the assessment of which 
transactions are leases. It applied IFRS 16 only to contracts that were previously identified as leases. Contracts that 
were not identified as leases under IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 were not reassessed for whether there is a lease. Therefore, the 
definition of a lease under IFRS 16 was applied only to contracts entered into or changed on or after 1 April 2019.
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B) As a lessee
As a lessee, the Group previously classified leases as operating or finance leases based on its assessment of whether the 
lease transferred significantly all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset to the Group. 
Under IFRS 16, the Group recognises right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for most leases – i.e. these leases are on 
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group decided to apply recognition exemptions to short-term leases. For leases of other assets, which were classi-
fied as operating under IAS 17, the Group recognised right-of-use assets and lease liabilities.

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use asset 
is initially measured at cost, and subsequently at cost less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and 
adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability. 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement 
date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group’s 
incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate. 

The lease liability is subsequently increased by the interest cost on the lease liability and decreased by lease payment 
made. It is remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, 
a change in the estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or as appropriate, 
changes in the assessment of whether a purchase or extension option is reasonably certain to be exercised or a termina-
tion option is reasonably certain not to be exercised.

C) As a lessor
The Group leases out its investment property. The Group has classified these leases as operating leases. The accounting 
policies applicable to the Group as a lessor are not different from those under IAS 17. The Group is not required to make any 
adjustments on transition to IFRS 16 for leases in which it acts as a lessor. However, the Group has applied IFRS 15 “Rev-
enue from Contracts with Customers” to allocate consideration in the contract to each lease and non-lease component.

D) Transition
Previously, the Group classified land leases as operating leases under IAS 17. These include land for malls. The leases 
typically run for a period of 15 to 30 years. At transition, for leases classified as operating leases under IAS 17, lease 
liabilities were measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted at the Group’s incremental 
borrowing rate as at 1 April 2019. 

The Group used the following practical expedients when applying IFRS 16 to leases previously classified as operating 
leases under IAS 17.

• applied the exemption not to recognise right-of-use assets and liabilities for leases with less than 12 months of lease 
term.

• excluded initial direct costs from measuring the right-of-use asset at the date of initial application.
• used hindsight when determining the lease term if the contract contains options to extend or terminate the lease.

Impact on transition
When measuring lease liabilities, the Group discounted lease payments using its incremental borrowing rate at 1 April 2019. 

Assets: SAR
Right-of-use assets                                                      3,656,779,235

Prepayments (46,400,060) 

Accrued expenses 808,475

Total impact on assets                                                             3,611,187,650

Liabilities:

Lease lability 4,171,064,692 

Accrued lease rentals (526,923,619)

Accounts payable (32,953,423)

Total impact on labilities 3,611,187,650

Total impact on equity --

Impact for the year
During the year ended March 31, 2020, the Group recognised SR 159.6 million of depreciation charges and SR 134.5 
million of interest costs from these leases, resulting in a carrying value of SR 3,562 million and SR 4,237 million for right 
of use assets and lease liabilities respectively as at March 31, 2020.

6. Standards issued but not yet effective
The following amended standards and interpretations, when they become effective, are not expected to have a signifi-
cant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Effective date New standards and amendments

1 January 2020
Amendments to References to Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards

Definition of a Business (Amendments to IFRS 3)
Definition of Material (Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8)

1 January 2021 IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
Available for optional adoption/ 
effective date deferred indefinitely

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture 
(Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28)

7. Cash and cash equivalents

31 March
2020 

31 March
2019 

SR SR
Cash at bank – time deposits 652,286,189 --

Cash at bank – current accounts 391,977,700 456,560,279

Cash in hand 1,416,304 1,110,704

Total 1,045,680,193 457,670,983

The average rate on bank time deposits during the year ranges from 0.85% to 0.90% (2019: nil) per annum with an aver-
age maturity of 30 to 45 days.
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8. Accounts receivable
Accounts receivable comprise of interest free net receivables due from tenants with no credit rating. Before accepting 
any new customer, management of the Group assesses the potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits. 
Unimpaired accounts receivable are expected, on the basis of past experience, to be fully recoverable.  It is not the 
practice of the Group to obtain collateral over receivables and vast majority are, therefore, unsecured.

31 March 
2020

31 March
 2019 

SR SR
Gross accounts receivable 399,801,424 443,788,053

Less: Impairment loss on accounts receivable (165,547,299) (144,542,907)

234,254,125 299,245,146

Movement in the impairment loss allowance was as follows:

Year ended 
31 March

2020

Year ended 
31 March 

2019 
SR SR

At the beginning of the year 144,542,907 138,616,823
Impact of adoption IFRS 9 as at beginning of the year -- (36,761,710)
Impairment charge for the year 119,264,999 43,524,466
Write-off (98,260,607) (836,672)
At the end of the year 165,547,299 144,542,907

Refer to note 35 for ageing of unimpaired accounts receivable.

9. Related party transactions and balances
For the purpose of these consolidated financial statements, parties are considered to be related to the Group, if the 
Group has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the party or exercise significant influence over the party in making 
financial and operating decisions, and vice versa, or where the Group and the party are subject to common control or 
common significant influence. Related parties may be individuals or entities. Balances and transactions between the 
Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties within the Group, have been eliminated on consolidation.

9.1. Related party transactions
During the year, the Group transacted with its related parties. The terms of those transactions are approved by management/
Board of Directors in the ordinary course of business. The significant transactions and the related amounts are as follows:

Transactions with Fellow subsidiaries and other related parties *
31 March 

2020
31 March 

2019
SR SR

Rental revenue, net 598,306,047 563,777,539
Construction work included in projects under construction 331,905,340 430,764,063
Service expenses 94,097,009 96,142,925
Dividend settled through adjusting amount due to related party 7,500,000 20,000,000
Board of Directors remuneration and compensation 3,905,000 2,570,000

* Name of the parties with significant values of transactions are disclosed in note 9.3

Transactions with Saudi FAS Holding Company (Ultimate Parent Company) * 

SR SR
Payment to suppliers on behalf of the Ultimate Parent Company 45,607,280 26,994,896
Initial public offering expenses charged to Ultimate Parent
Company 16,192,603 --

Transfer of project under construction along with prepaid rent and accrued lease rentals 
to Ultimate parent company (note 13) -- 107,242,362

Transfer of Zakat Payable to Ultimate parent company (18,345,202) (8,825,429)

Dividends settled through adjusting amounts due to related parties -- (640,000,000)

Settlement of balances through other related party -- 20,500,000

Transfer of investment properties (note 13) -- (83,867,364)

Accounts payable transferred to the Ultimate Parent Company -- 9,857,629

Property and equipment transferred to the Ultimate Parent Company account -- (96,282)

* Shareholders of the immediate parent company (FAS Real Estate Company Limited) assigned their shares held in the Company to Saudi FAS Holding 
Company. Hence, Saudi FAS Holding Company is considered as the Ultimate Parent Company.

9.2. Key management personnel compensation
The remuneration of directors and other key management personnel are as follow:

Year ended 31 
March

 2020

Year ended
 31 March

 2019
SR SR

End-of-service benefits 5,211,437 847,664

Salaries and short-term benefits 18,225,189 14,434,766

Total key management compensation 23,436,626 15,282,430
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5 The above outstanding balances are unsecured, interest free and settlement occurs in cash. The Group did not record 

any impairment of receivables relating to amounts owed by related parties in either period

ii) Amounts due to related parties: 31 March 
2020

31 March 
2019

SR SR
Ultimate Parent Company 
Saudi FAS Holding Company -- 4,067,636

Other related parties
Fawaz Abdulaziz Al Hokair & Co. (b) -- 3,758,106
Etqan Facilities Management 3,899,682 14,673,280

3,899,682 22,499,022

a. These mainly represent rental receivables from the related parties.
b. These mainly represent advance rentals received, net of rental income receivables.
c. Guaranteed by Ultimate Parent Company.

iii) Advances to a contractor:
Advances to a contractor represents advance paid to Fawaz Abdulaziz Al Hokair & Partners Real Estate Company for the 
construction of shopping malls, which are under various stages of completion.

31 March 
2020

31 March 
2019

SR SR
Other related party

Fawaz Abdulaziz Al Hokair & Partners Real Estate Company 614,438,352 604,914,076

With the consent of the shareholders of the Company, the Company has signed framework agreement for the construc-
tion of all projects are awarded to other related party Fawaz Abdulaziz Al Hokair & Partners Real Estate Company.

Some of the lease agreements for leasehold lands on which the Group’s investment properties (buildings) are constructed on, 
are in the name of related entities of the Group who have assigned these lease agreements to the Group’s benefit (note 13).

10. Prepayments and other current assets 

31 March
2020 

31 March
2019 

SR SR
Advances to suppliers 118,055,522 30,172,398

Prepaid expenses 14,322,142 14,766,420

Employees’ receivables 4,808,626 3,896,050

Prepaid rent -- 46,400,060

Margin money deposits -- 500,000

Others 1,604,674 510,041

Total 138,790,964 96,244,969
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11. Investment in an equity-accounted investee 
Equity accounted investee represents an investment in the share capital of Aswaq Al Mustaqbal for Trading Company; a real 
estate company incorporated in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia which is engage primarily in the general contracting for buildings, 
building maintenance, electrical and mechanical works and acquisition of lands to construct buildings for sale or lease out. 

The movement of the investment during the year is as follows:

Percentage 
of 

ownership

Opening 
balance

Share in 
earnings Dividend Ending

balance

SR SR SR SR
As at 31 March 2020 25% 42,238,721 15,841,207 (5,000,000) 53,079,928

As at 31 December 2018 25% 39,669,322 11,569,399 (9,000,000) 42,238,721

Share of profit has been recorded based on the latest available financial information. The tables below provide summarized 
financial information for the associate. The information disclosed reflects the amounts presented in the management accounts/ 
financial statements of the associate and not the Group’s share of those amounts as of 31 March 2020 and 31 December 2018. 

Summarized statement of financial position:

31 March
2020

31 December 
2018 

SR SR
Total current assets 59,499,511 16,006,428
Total non-current assets 190,540,882 217,233,169
Total current liabilities (37,053,894) (63,872,776)
Total non-current liabilities (666,787) (411,937)
Net assets 212,319,712 168,954,884

Summarized statement of statement of profit or loss:

31 March
 2020 

31 December 
2018 

SR SR
Revenue 150,040,846 118,942,170
Finance cost (1,406,809) (6,498,386)
Zakat (1,977,322) (1,360,981)
Net profit for the period/ year 63,364,828 46,277,596
Reconciliation to carrying amounts:
Opening net assets 168,954,884 158,677,288
Dividends (20,000,000) (36,000,000)
Net profit for the period/ year 63,364,828 46,277,596
Closing net assets 212,319,712 168,954,884

The associate requires the Group’s consent to distribute its earnings. The Group does not foresee giving such consent at 
the reporting date. The associate had no contingent liabilities or capital commitments reported in the audited financial 
statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018.

12. Other investments

31 March
2020 

31 March
2019 

SR SR
Unquoted:

Investments in real estate companies at FVOCI (i) 98,199,000 102,000,000

Investment in a real estate fund at FVTPL (ii) 6,264,375 6,708,763

Total 104,463,375 108,708,763

 
i) Investments in real estate companies:

31 March
2020 

31 March
2019 

SR SR

Amlak International for Real Estate Finance Company 98,199,000 102,000,000

The Group’s equity investment of 8.5% in Amlak International for Real Estate Finance Company is owned directly and 
indirectly through the Company’s subsidiaries. The Group paid SR 121.5 million to acquire the investments which 
includes payment of SR 45 million as premium for the investment.

(ii) Investment in a real estate fund:
This represents 0.25% equity investment in Al Jawhara Real Estate Fund ( formerly known as Digital City Fund) (68 units 
each for SR 100,000) purchased for SR 7 million. Net asset value (NAV) of the investment amounted to SR 6.3 million 
(31 March 2019: SR 6.7 million). The realized loss amounting to SR 0.4 million has been recognized in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss (31 March 2019: SR 0.3 million).
 
The movement in investments in real estate fund was as follows:

31 March
2020

31 March
2019 

SR SR
Opening balance 6,708,763 6,976,217

Cost:

At the beginning and end of the year 7,000,000 7,000,000

Revaluation adjustments:

At the beginning of the year (291,237) (23,783)

Unrealized loss during the year (444,388) (267,454)

At the end of the year (735,625) (291,237)

Net carrying amount 6,264,375 6,708,763
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Fair value of investment properties
Management has appointed independent valuers to determine the fair value of the investment properties as of 31 March 
2020. According to the valuers, the fair value of the investment properties as at 31 March 2020 is SR 22,113,720,686. The 
valuers have appropriate qualifications and experience in the valuation of properties at the relevant locations. The effec-
tive date of the valuation was 31 March 2020 and prepared in accordance with Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors 
(“RICS”) Global Standards 2017 which comply with the international valuation standards.

The fair value hierarchy for the investment properties for disclosure purposes is grouped in level 3, with significant unob-
servable inputs adopted by the Valuer which are transparency of retail rental payment terms; discount rates; and capital-
ization rate (yields).

As mentioned in the accounting policies (note 4) the Company recognizes the amounts recognized in the investment proper-
ties at cost. The amounts recognized in the statement of profit or loss for investment properties during the years are as follows:

31 March
2020 

31 March
2019 

SR SR
Revenue 2,197,315,187 2,176,399,680

Costs of revenue (316,594,593) (521,177,627)

Depreciation of investment properties  (286,418,176) (256,916,024)

1,594,302,418 1,398,306,029

Net book values of the Group’s lands as at the end of the reporting years are as follows:

Owned by the
Company 

Title deeds 
registered 

with the Com-
pany

31 March 
2020

31 March 
2019

SR SR
Shopping malls – land
Aziziah Mall – Makkah** Yes No 178,227,665 178,227,665
Mall of Arabia – Jeddah* Yes No 141,115,102 141,115,102
Sahara Plaza – Riyadh* Yes No 75,240,000 75,240,000
Al Noor Mall** Yes No 68,120,000 68,120,000
Jubail Mall Yes Yes 32,500,000 32,500,000
Al Ehsa Mall* Yes No 20,700,145 20,700,145
Salam Mall** Yes No 250,000,000 250,000,000
Hamra Mall* Yes No 256,100,000 256,100,000
Nakheel Dammam Mall* Yes No 210,000,000 --

1,232,002,912 1,022,002,912
Lands
Oyoun Al Raed ** Yes No 1,770,439,947 1,770,439,947
Oyoun Al Basateen** Yes No 1,067,162,500 1,067,162,500
Khalij Mall* Yes No 290,209,050 290,209,050
Al Qasseem** Yes No 350,000,000 350,000,000
Nakheel Dammam* Yes No -- 210,000,000
Abha Yes Yes 62,000,000 62,000,000

3,539,811,497 3,749,811,497
Total land value 4,771,814,409 4,771,814,409

*The title deeds all plots of land are registered in the name of local banks against facility II (note 16).
** The title deeds of these plots of land are registered in the name of local banks against facility I (note 16), which were repaid during the year. The release 

of these pledged assets is in process.
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14 Property and equipment 

Tools and 
equipment

Furniture 
and fixtures Vehicles Leasehold 

improvments

Capital 
Work in 

Progress
Total

SR SR SR SR SR SR
Cost:

Balance at 1 April 2018 138,573,305 85,402,873 3,885,902 32,288,471 -- 260,150,551

Additions 4,832,177 6,973,743 87,500 167,325 1,389,796 13,450,541

Transfer to related parties  -- -- (339,500) -- -- (339,500)

Balance at 31 March 2019 143,405,482 92,376,616 3,633,902 32,455,796 1,389,796 273,261,592

Additions  3,567,839  3,508,077  --   409,961 -- 7,485,877

Transfers -- -- --  1,292,721 (1,292,721) --

Balance at 31 March 2020  146,973,321  95,884,693  3,633,902 34,158,478  97,075 280,747,469

Accumulated depreciation:

Balance at 1 April 2018 66,557,048 44,936,405 3,700,709 8,128,811 -- 123,322,973

Charge for the year (note 30) 16,751,778 10,984,962 171,103 7,500,105 -- 35,407,948

Transfer to related parties  -- -- (243,218) -- -- (243,218)

Balance at 31 March 2019 83,308,826 55,921,367 3,628,594 15,628,916 -- 158,487,703

Charge for the year (note 30) 12,889,457 10,871,613  5,308 7,018,577 -- 30,784,955

Balance at 31 March 2020 96,198,283 66,792,980 3,633,902 22,647,493 -- 189,272,658

Net book values:

At 31 March 2020 50,775,038 29,091,713 --   11,510,985  97,075 91,474,811

At 31 March 2019  60,096,656  36,455,249  5,308  16,826,880  1,389,796 114,773,889 

15. Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
i) Right-of-use assets

31 March
2020

SR
Balance as at 1 April 2019 3,656,779,235

Addition during the year 122,578,438

Depreciation charge for the year:
• Cost of revenue (155,864,844)

• General and administration expenses (3,767,046)

Depreciation capitalized for projects under construction (57,750,995)

Balance at the end of the year 3,561,974,788

Depreciation expense is charged as follows:

31 March
2020

SR
Cost of revenue 155,864,844

General and administration expenses (note 30) 3,767,046

Depreciation capitalized for projects under construction 57,750,995

Total 217,382,885

ii) Lease liabilities

31 March
2020

SR
Non-Current portion of lease liabilities 3,899,162,750

Current portion of lease liabilities 338,065,081

Total 4,237,227,831

Movement of lease liabilities are as follows:

31 March
2020

SR
Balance as at 1 April 2019 4,171,064,692

Addition during the year 122,578,438

Lease payments (282,059,608)

Discounts (370,000)

Interest expense for the year 134,543,493

Interest capitalized for projects under construction 91,470,816

Balance at the end of the year 4,237,227,831

16. Long term borrowings

Notes 31 March
2020

31 March
2019

SR SR
Non-current liabilities

Long-term loans 16.1 5,143,502,555 6,239,159,152

Sukuk 16.2 1,827,240,522 --

6,970,743,077 6,239,159,152

Current liabilities

Current portion of long-term loans 16.1 45,000,000 501,875,532
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16.1 Long-term loans 

31 March
2020

31 March 
2019 

SR SR
Facility 1 (i) -- 6,814,144,763

Facility 2 (ii) 5,249,993,272 --

5,249,993,272 6,814,144,763

Less: unamortized transaction cost (61,490,717) (73,110,079)

Balance at the end of the year 5,188,502,555 6,741,034,684

a) Movement in the long-term loans follows:

31 March
 2020

31 March
 2019

SR  SR
Balance at the beginning of the year 6,814,144,763 5,955,000,000
Drawdowns / addition of a new facility 5,368,675,202 7,086,318,069
Repayments during the year (6,932,826,693) (6,227,173,306)

5,249,993,272 6,814,144,763
Less: un-amortized transaction costs (61,490,717) (73,110,079)
Balance at the end of the year 5,188,502,555 6,741,034,684
Less: current portion of long-term loans (45,000,000) (501,875,532)
Non-current portion of long-term loans 5,143,502,555 6,239,159,152

b) Un-amortized transaction costs movement is as follows:

31 March
 2020

31 March 
2019 

SR SR
Balance at the beginning of the year 73,110,079 126,970,874
Additions during the year 63,462,460 91,692,960
Write off during the year (note 31) (59,930,701) (125,171,285)
Capitalized transaction cost (5,443,876) (2,197,021)
Amortized transaction costs during the year (note 31) (9,707,245) (18,185,449)
Balance at the end of the year 61,490,717 73,110,079

c) Below is the repayment schedule of the outstanding long-term loans: 

31 March
 2020

31 March
 2019

SR SR
Within one year 45,000,000 501,875,532
Between two to five years 2,063,751,272 2,706,323,985
More than five years 3,141,242,000 3,605,945,246

5,249,993,272 6,814,144,763

i) Facility 1 
On 26 April 2018, the Group signed a long-term Islamic facility arrangement up to SR 7,205 million with local banks for 
the refinancing the exiting loans. This facility was divided into Murabaha facility up to SR 1,433 million and Ijara facility 
up to SR 5,772 million. The Group utilized SR 1,433 million out of the total Murabaha facility amount and SR 5,772 mil-
lion out of the total Ijara facility amount. On 27 November 2019, the Group paid in full the loan facility. However, pledged 
assets have not been released as at the reporting date, as certain of these assets will remain pledged for facility 2, while 
others will be released in due course.

ii) Facility 2 
During the year, the Group entered into a long-term Islamic facility arrangement amounting to SR 5,250 million (equiva-
lent USD 1,400 million), with local and international banks. This facility is divided into Murabaha facility up to SR 500 
million (maturing in 12 years), Ijara facilities up to SR 4,000 million (maturing in 8 and 12 years), and Revolving Mura-
baha up to SR 750 million (maturing in 3 years). These facilities are fully utilized as of reporting date. 

The long-term loan is repayable in unequal semi-annual instalments and are subject to commission rates based on 
SIBOR plus agreed commission rate. The facilities are secured by insurance policies, proceeds of rental income, and land 
and buildings of several malls, as explained in facility 1 note above.

The above facility agreements contain covenants, which among other things, require certain financial ratios to be main-
tained. The Group is in compliant with the loan covenants as at the reporting date.

16.2 Sukuk

31 March
 2020

SR
Sukuk 1,874,950,000

Less: Unamortized transaction cost (47,709,478)

Balance at the end of the year 1,827,240,522

During the year, Arabian Centres Sukuk Limited (a special purpose company established for the purpose of issuing 
Sukuk) completed issuance of International USD denominated Shari’ah compliant Sukuk “Sukuk Certificates” amount-
ing to USD 500 million (equivalent SR 1,875 million), at a par value of USD 0.2 million each, annual yield of 5.375% per 
annum payable semi-annually and a maturity in five years. Sukuk Certificates may be subject to early redemption at the 
option of the Company as per the certain specified conditions mentioned in the Sukuk Certificate.

Un-amortized transaction costs movement is as follows:

31 March
 2020

SR
Incurred during the year 51,208,742

Amortized transaction costs during the year (note 31) (3,372,148)

Capitalized during the year (127,116)

Balance at the end of the year 47,709,478
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17. Accounts payable
Accounts payable are amounts which are owed to suppliers for the purchase of goods or services. The amounts are 
unsecured and are usually paid within 30 to 60 days of recognition.

18. Unearned revenue
Unearned revenue represent cash received against services to be performed or goods to be delivered by the Group in the 
future. At the end of each accounting period, adjusting entries are made to recognize the portion of unearned revenue 
that has been earned during the year.

19. Accruals and other current liabilities

31 March 
2020 

31 March 
2019 

SR SR
Accrued financial charges 101,061,998 153,561,227

Tenants’ security deposits* 66,404,608 65,416,279 

Accrued expenses 49,956,485 33,622,945

Employees’ accruals 13,238,421 16,869,563

Output Value Added Tax, net 679,542 56,612,256

Withholding tax payable 730,443 --

Total 232,071,497 326,082,270

*Non-current portion of tenants’ security deposits aggregating to SR 53 million (31 March 2019: SR 47 million) are disclosed as other non-current liabilities. 

20. Zakat

The current year zakat provision is based on the following:

31 March 
2020 

31 March 
2019 

SR SR
Equity – beginning of the year 5,064,760,120 4,904,952,654

Profit before zakat 662,891,521 748,823,931

Opening provisions and other adjustments (176,287,076) (279,817,670)

Non-current liabilities 10,953,005,880 6,833,354,662

Non-current assets (15,882,179,460) (11,914,866,335)

Some of these amounts as reported above have been adjusted in arriving at the zakat charge for the year.

Movements in zakat provision during the year
The movement in the provision for zakat is as follows: 

31 March 
2020

31 March 
2019

SR SR
Balance at beginning of the year 82,457,716 146,559,970

Excess provision reversed -- (75,142,143)

Provision for the year 20,290,170 19,865,318

20,290,170 (55,276,825)

Transferred to ultimate parent company (18,345,202) (8,825,429)

Paid during the year (5,877,732) --

Balance at end of the year 78,524,952 82,457,716

Status of assessments
Until the year ended 31 March 2019, the Ultimate Parent Company prepared and submitted combined zakat returns for 
the Ultimate Parent Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries, including Arabian Centres Company, to GAZT as per 
GAZT letter. Accordingly, the combined zakat returns for the years upto 2019 were submitted to GAZT. The Ultimate 
parent Company has received provisional zakat certificates until the year 31 March 2019.

During the prior year, the final assessment order for the combined zakat returns for the Ultimate Parent Company 
and its wholly owned subsidiaries for the years 2007 to 2016 were received from “GAZT”. Accordingly, the Group has 
recorded the impact of final assessment received including reversal of excess provision in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss for year ended 31 March 2019. 

21. Employees’ end-of-service benefits

31 March 
2020 

31 March
2019 

SR SR

Defined Benefit Obligation (DBO) 30,370,714 31,744,170

The Group grants end-of-service benefits (benefit plan) to its employees taking into consideration the local labour law 
requirements in KSA. The benefit provided by this benefit plan is a lump sum based on the employees’ final salaries and 
allowance and their cumulative years of service at the date of the termination of employment. 
 
The benefit liability recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position in respect of defined benefit end-of-
service plan is the present value of the DBO at the reporting date.

The DBO is calculated periodically by qualified actuaries using the projected unit credit method. The present value of 
the DBO is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using yields on high-quality corporate bonds 
that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms approximating to the terms 
of the related obligation (equivalent to a duration of around 12 years). In countries where there is no deep market in 
such bonds, the market rates on government bonds are used. As there are insufficient corporate and government bonds 

Financial Statements  //  Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

174 - Arabian Centres - Annual Report FY2020 Annual Report FY2020 - Arabian Centres - 175 



in the Kingdom to generate a credible discount rate, the discount rate has instead been based on US Treasury bonds 
adjusted for country differences between the US and Saudi Arabia.

Re-measurement amounts of actuarial gains and losses on the DBO, if any, are recognized and reported within other reserves 
under the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

The following table represents the movement of the DBO:

Year ended 
31 March 

2020

Year ended 
31 March 

2019
SR SR

Opening balance 31,744,170 30,338,170

Total amount recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss

Past service cost (559,934) --

Current service cost 6,437,034 5,081,000

Interest cost 1,287,837 1,390,000

7,164,937 6,471,000

Amount recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income

Re-measurement due to actuarial (gains) / losses (3,969,458) 1,555,000

Benefits paid during the year (4,568,935) (6,620,000)

Closing balance 30,370,714 31,744,170

Significant actuarial assumptions
The significant actuarial assumptions used in DBO computation:

31 March 2020 31 March 2019

Discount rate 5.00% 4.75%

Salary growth rate 0% for FY 2020-21 and 5% for each 
future year 5% for each future year

Withdrawal rate 5.0% 5.0%

Retirement age 60 60

Sensitivity analysis
The results are sensitive to the assumptions used. The table below shows the change in DBO based on either a 1% 
increase or decrease in the base assumption value as of 31 March 2020:

Impact on defined benefit 
obligation

Change in Base value Increase in 
assumption

Decrease in 
assumption

Assumption SR SR SR
Discount rate 1% 30,370,714 26,560,223 34,975,580

Salary growth rate 1% 30,370,714 34,944,145 26,514,308

Withdrawal rate 20% 30,370,714 30,067,011 30,669,042

22. Share capital
On 14 Rajab 1440H (corresponding to 21 March 2019), the general assembly of shareholders has approved an increase in 
the share capital of the Company from SR 4,450 million to SR 4,750 million through the proceeds received from the initial 
public offering of the Company. All legal formalities required to enforce the increase in the share capital were completed 
during the year ended 31 March 2020. The movement in share capital and share premium is as follows:

Number of 
shares

Share capital 
(SR)

Share premi-
um (SR)

Balance at 1 April 2019 445,000,000 4,450,000,000 --

Issuance of new shares at SR 26 per share (SR 10 par value) 30,000,000 300,000,000 480,000,000

Transaction costs on new share issue --  -- (68,274,297)

Balance at 31 March 2020 475,000,000 4,750,000,000 411,725,703

23. Statutory reserve
In accordance with Company’s by-laws, the Company must transfer 10% of its profit for the year to the statutory reserve. 
In accordance with Company’s by-laws, the Company may resolve to discontinue such transfers when the reserve totals 
30% of the capital. The reserve is not available for distribution. The reserve would be set aside based on the annual 
consolidated financial statements.

24. Dividends distribution
During the year, the Board of Directors resolved to distribute interim dividends amounting to SR 0.90 per share aggregat-
ing to SR427,500,000 as per resolution dated 9 Rabi al-Thani 1441H (corresponding to 6 December 2019). The Company 
has paid the dividends as of the reporting date.

The Company’s shareholders in their meeting held on 23 Rabie Akhar 1440H (corresponding to 31 December 2018) 
resolved to distribute dividends amounting to SR 0.62 per share aggregating to SR 280,000,000. Total dividends was 
settled through adjusting amount due to Ultimate Parent Company.

The Company’s shareholders in their meeting held on 20 Muharam 1440H (corresponding to 30 September 2018) 
resolved to distribute dividends amounting to SR 0.40 per share aggregating to SR 180,000,000. Total dividends was 
settled through adjusting amount due to Ultimate Parent Company.
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The Company’s shareholders in their meeting held on 16 Shawwal 1439H (corresponding to 30 June 2018) resolved to 
distribute dividends amounting to SR 0.40 per share aggregating to SR 180,000,000. Total dividends was settled through 
adjusting amount due to Ultimate Parent Company. 

25. Revenue

Year ended 
31 March 

2020

Year ended 
31 March 

2019
SR SR

Rental income (*) 2,038,143,187 2,057,775,218

Service and management charges income 93,477,708 97,536,386

Commission income on provisions for utilities for heavy users, net 3,297,512 3,513,005

Turnover rent 62,396,780 17,575,071

Total 2,197,315,187 2,176,399,680

(*) Rental income include related maintenance and insurance costs of Malls’ premises included as a part of rent for each of the tenants.

Group as a lessor
The Group has entered into operating leases on its investment properties portfolio consisting of various buildings. These 
leases have terms of between 1 to 5 years. Leases include a clause to enable upward revision of the rental charge depend-
ing on the lease agreements. Future minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating leases as at the end of 
the reporting periods are, as follows:

Year ended 
31 March 

2020

Year ended 
31 March 

2019
SR SR

Within one year 1,553,240,470 1,538,780,755
After one year but not more than five years 2,254,271,279 1,780,045,947
More than five years 645,170,715 300,332,373

4,452,682,464 3,619,159,075

26. Costs of revenue

Year ended 
31 March 

2020

Year ended 
31 March 

2019
SR SR

Utilities expense 110,510,793 109,791,055
Cleaning expense 57,510,792 56,899,719
Security expense 56,949,711 56,082,002
Repairs and maintenance 52,755,946 43,171,770
Employees’ salaries and other benefits 36,137,114 30,734,565
Rental expense -- 224,498,516
Others 2,730,237 --
Total 316,594,593 521,177,627

27. Other income

Year ended 
31 March 

2020

Year ended 
31 March 

2019
SR SR

Reversal of liability no longer payable* 6,179,043 3,777,398
Dividends 5,737,500 5,737,500
Other 762,392 1,182,292
Total 12,678,935 10,697,190

* Represents long aged deposits which are no longer payable.

28. Other expenses

Year ended 
31 March 

2020

Year ended 
31 March 

2019
SR SR

Impairment loss on advances to suppliers 2,822,235 6,069,287
Other 554,633 752,492
Total 3,376,868 6,821,779

29. Advertisement and promotion expenses

Year ended 
31 March 

2020

Year ended 
31 March 

2019
SR SR

Promotions 6,253,957 2,048,417
Sponsorship 4,160,625 --
Advertisement 2,532,010 3,593,923
Total 12,946,592 5,642,340

30. General and administration expenses

Year ended 
31 March 

2020

Year ended 
31 March 

2019
SR SR

Employees’ salaries and other benefits 96,307,451 66,132,681
Depreciation (note 14) 30,784,955 35,407,948
Professional fees 14,533,876 9,654,787
Communication and internet expense 12,853,654 12,889,776
Insurance expense 7,029,636 8,325,811
Government expenses 6,791,359 28,654,751
Board expenses 3,905,000 --
Depreciation of rights-of-use asset (note 15) 3,767,046 --
Maintenance 200,740 194,867
Rent expense -- 3,862,277
Others 6,500,793 6,699,016
Total 182,674,510 171,821,914
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31. Finance cost

Year ended 
31 March 

2020

Year ended 
31 March 

2019
SR SR

Commission expense on long-term borrowings 275,735,683 296,027,001
Write-off of unamortized transaction cost (note 16) 59,930,701 125,171,285
Amortization of transaction costs (note 16)  13,079,393 18,168,525
Bank charges 2,513,956 173,936
Total 351,259,733 439,540,747

32. Earnings Per Share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net income attributable to the ordinary Shareholders of the Com-
pany by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial period as all the Company’s 
shares are ordinary shares. Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the basic earnings per share for the 
weighted average number of additional ordinary shares that would have been outstanding assuming the conversion of 
all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

Year ended 
31 March 

2020

Year ended 
31 March 

2019
SR SR

Profit for the year attributable to shareholders of the Company 633,934,247 789,599,943
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the denominator in calculating 
basic and diluted earnings per share (note 22) 470,737,705 445,000,000

Basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to net profit for the year 1.35 1.77

There has been no item of dilution affecting the weighted average number of ordinary shares.

33. Segment reporting
The Group’s activities and business lines approved by the management to be used as a basis for the financial reporting 
and are consistent with the internal reporting process. Management considers the operations of the Group as a whole 
as one operating segment as all subsidiaries engage in similar business activities.

The Group’s revenue, gross profit, investment properties, total assets and total liabilities pertaining to the Group’s opera-
tions as a whole are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position and in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

All of the Group’s operations are conducted in KSA. Hence, geographical information is not applicable in this case.

34. Financial instruments
Financial instruments by category
Financial instruments have been categorised as follows:

31 March 
2020 

31 March 
2019 

Financial Assets SR SR
Cash and cash equivalents 1,045,680,193 457,670,983

Accounts receivable 234,254,125 299,245,146

Amounts due from related parties 591,222,957 567,558,035

Other investments 104,463,375 108,708,763

Total financial assets 1,975,620,650 1,433,182,927

31 March 
2020 

31 March 
2019

Financial Liabilities SR SR
Accounts payable 149,442,700 217,760,402

Amounts due to related parties 3,899,682 22,499,022

Long-term borrowings 7,015,743,077 6,741,034,684

Lease liability on right-of-use assets 4,237,227,831 --

Tenants’ security deposits 119,133,947 112,501,575

Total financial liabilities 11,525,447,237 7,093,795,683

Fair value estimation of financial instruments
The following table presents the Group’s financial instruments measured at fair value at 31 March 2020 and 31 March 2019:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
SR SR SR SR

31 March 2020
Investments real estate fund -- -- 6,264,375 6,264,375

Amlak International for Real Estate 
Finance Company -- -- 98,199,000 98,199,000

31 March 2019
Investments real estate fund -- -- 6,708,763 6,708,763

Amlak International for Real Estate 
Finance Company -- -- 102,000,000  102,000,000

35. Financial risk management
The Group’s principal financial liabilities are loans and borrowings. The main purpose of the Group’s loans and bor-
rowings is to finance the acquisition and development of the Group’s investment properties portfolio. The Group has 
accounts receivable, amounts due to and from related parties, accounts payable and cash and bank balances that arise 
directly from its operations.

The Group is exposed to market risk (including commission rate risk, real estate risk and currency risk), credit risk, 
liquidity risk and equity price risk.
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Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as currency rates and interest rates that will affect the Group’s 
profit or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and 
control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimizing the return.

Commission rate risk
Commission rate risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in the market 
commission rates. The Group has no significant commission bearing long-term assets, but has commission bearing 
liabilities at 31 March 2020 and 31 March 2019. The Group manages its exposure to commission rate risk by continuously 
monitoring movements in commission rates.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Group to a reasonably possible change, with all other variables 
held constant, of the Groups profit before zakat (through the impact on floating rate borrowings):

31 March 
2020 

31 March 
2019 

Gain/(loss) through the consolidated statement of profit or loss SR SR
Floating rate debt:

SIBOR +100bps (71,249,433) (68,141,448)

SIBOR -100bps 71,249,433 68,141,448

Real estate risk
The Group has identified the following risks associated with the real estate portfolio:

• The cost of the development projects may increase if there are delays in the planning process. The Group uses advi-
sors who are experts in the specific planning requirements in the project’s location in order to reduce the risks that 
may arise in the planning process.

• A major tenant may become insolvent causing a significant loss of rental income and a reduction in the value of the 
associated property. To reduce this risk, the Group reviews the financial status of all prospective tenants and decides 
on the appropriate level of security required via rental deposits or guarantees.

Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. 
Currency risk arises from recognised assets and liabilities which are denominated in currency that is not Group’s func-
tional currency. The Group has certain US Dollar denominated financial liabilities which are not exposed to significant 
currency risk as Group’s functional currency is pegged to US Dollar.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract, 
leading to a financial loss. The Group is exposed to credit risks from its leasing activities, including deposits with banks 
and financial institutions.

Credit risk is managed by requiring tenants to pay rentals in advance. The credit quality of the tenant is assessed based on an 
extensive credit rating scorecard at the time of entering into a lease agreement. Outstanding tenants’ receivables are regularly 
monitored. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of each class of financial asset.

Bank balances and deposits are held with local banks with sound external credit ratings.

Accounts receivable
The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. However, 
management also considers the factors that may influence the credit risk of its customer base, including the default risk 
associated with the industry and sector in which customers operate.

Each entity within the group has established a credit policy under which each new customer is analyzed individually 
for creditworthiness before the entity’s standard payment and delivery terms and conditions are offered. The review 
includes financial statements, industry information and in some cases bank references. Credits to each customer are 
reviewed periodically. The Group limits its exposure to credit risk by offering credit terms which are typically not longer 
than three months on average.

In monitoring customer credit risk, customers are grouped according to their credit characteristics trading history with 
the Group and existence of previous financial difficulties. 

Loss rates are based on actual historic credit loss experience. These rates are multiplied by scalar factors to reflect differ-
ences between economic conditions during the year over which the historic data has been collected, current conditions 
and the Group’s view of economic conditions over the expected lives of the receivables. Scalar factors are based on actual 
and forecast gross domestic product growth and unemployment rates.

The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk and ECLs for accounts receivable from cus-
tomers as at 31 March 2020:

31 March 2020
Gross carrying 

amount
Weighted-

average loss
Loss

Allowance (%)
0–90 days past due 53,440,320 3,374,520 6.3%
91–180 days past due 77,196,999 8,405,148 10.9%
181–270 days past due 81,428,407 13,146,524 16.1%
271–360 days past due 56,618,562 13,755,863 24.3%
361 –450 days past due 31,688,310 30,737,331 97.0%
451 -540 days past due 30,458,967 29,589,159 97.1%
541 –630 days past due 26,577,256 26,011,424 97.9%
631 -720 days past due 26,565,490 24,700,217 93.0%
More than 720 days past due 15,827,113 15,827,113 100.0%

399,801,424 165,547,299

31 March 2019 Gross carrying 
amount

Weighted-
average loss

Loss
Allowance (%)

0–90 days past due 89,399,091 1,142,722 1.3%
91–180 days past due   79,325,089 7,940,545 10%
181–270 days past due   56,490,386 6,677,332 11.8%
271–360 days past due   50,495,514 9,181,092 18.2%
361 –450 days past due   21,255,365   7,298,774  34.3%
451 -540 days past due 30,135,207   12,093,786  40.1%
541 –630 days past due   17,715,623   8,051,242  45.4%
631 -720 days past due 14,907,559 8,093,193 54.3%
More than 720 days past due 84,064,219 84,064,221 100.0%

443,788,053 144,542,907
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Due from related parties
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date on an individual basis for the major related parties. The 
maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of the amounts due from related parties 
(note 9). The Group does not hold collateral as a security. This assessment is undertaken each financial year through 
examining the financial position of the related parties and the market in which the related parties operates. The Group 
evaluates the risk with respect to due from related parties as low, as majority of the related parties are owned by the 
same shareholders.

Credit risk related to financial instruments and cash deposit
Credit risk from balances with banks and financial institutions is managed by Ultimate Parent Company’s treasury in accor-
dance with the Group’s policy. Cash is substantially placed with national banks with sound credit ratings. The Group does not 
consider itself exposed to a concentration of credit risk with respect to banks due to their strong financial background.

Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial 
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to 
ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal 
and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation. The man-
agement believes that the Group is not exposed to significant risks in relation to liquidity and maintains different lines 
of credit. Upon careful comparison of the financial liabilities included within the current liabilities (excluding amounts 
due to related parties as these could be deferred during liquidity crunch situation) with the financial assets forming part 
of the current assets, there seems to be a reasonably hedging position between the two categories. 
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Capital management
Capital is equity attributable to the shareholders of the Company. The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to: 

safeguard their ability to continue as a going concern, so that they can continue to provide returns for shareholders and 
benefits for other stakeholders, and
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. 

The management policy is to maintain a strong capital base to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and 
to sustain future development of the business. The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in 
light of change in economic conditions. The management monitors the return on capital, which the Group defines as 
result from operating activities divided by total shareholders’ equity. 

The management also monitors the level of dividends to the shareholders.  There were no changes in the Group’s approach 
to capital management during the year. Neither the Group nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed 
capital requirements. The Group’s debt to adjusted capital ratio at the end of the reporting period was as follows:

31 March
2020

31 March
2019

SR SR
Total liabilities 11,977,235,024 8,301,016,559

Less: cash and cash equivalents (1,045,680,193) (457,670,983)

Net debt 10,931,554,831 7,843,345,576

Total equity 5,982,997,476 5,064,669,068

Debt to adjusted capital ratio 183% 155%

36. Commitments and contingencies
Commitments

31 March
2020

31 March
2019

SR SR

Commitments for projects under construction 3,567,294,491 2,226,873,326

37. Impact of covid-19 on the group’s operations and the consolidated fi-
nancial statments
During March 2020, the World Health Organisation (“WHO”) declared the Coronavirus (“COVID 19”) outbreak as a 
pandemic in recognition of its rapid spread across the globe. This outbreak has also affected the GCC region includ-
ing the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. Governments all over the world took steps to contain the spread of the virus. Saudi 
Arabia in particular has implemented closure of borders, released social distancing guidelines and enforced country 
wide lockdowns and curfews.

The Group has evaluated the current situation through conducting stress testing scenarios on expected macro-economic 
indicators and its impact on key credit, liquidity, operational, solvency and performance indicators in addition to other 
risk management practices to manage the potential business disruption due to COVID-19 outbreak that may have on 
its operations and financial performance. These also take into consideration the impacts of government and SAMA 
support relief programs.

These current events and the prevailing economic condition require the Group to revise certain inputs and assumptions 
used for the determination of expected credit losses (“ECL”). These would primarily revolve around revisions to the sce-
nario probabilities currently being used by the Group in ECL estimation. The adjustments to scenario weighing resulted 
in an additional ECL of SR 60 million for the Group. As with any forecasts, the projections and likelihoods of occurrence 
are underpinned by significant judgement and uncertainty and therefore, the annual outcomes may be different to those 
projected. The impact of such uncertain economic environment is judgemental, and the Group will continue to reassess 
its position and the related impact on a regular basis.

On May 21, 2020, Group announced rent relief and support packages, offered waiver of contractual base rent and service 
charge for all tenants from 16 March 2020 for a period of six weeks (45 days). For tenants whose stores were mandatorily 
closed by government decision will also benefit from the rent relief program starting the date of government closure 
until the earlier of (i) date of closure is lifted or (ii) 30 June 2020. Further, all escalations on the contracts will be halted 
for two years 2020 and 2021.

38. Approval of the financial statements
The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors for issuance on 29’Shawwal 1441H (cor-
responding to 21 June 2020).
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